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Corporate Profile
NIl M

The Company has been listed on the main board of the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange since 8 October 2009. During the year ended 31
December 2021, the Group was principally engaged in mining and ore
processing, sale of self-produced products, trading of steels, mining
facilities management and management of strategic investments. As
at 31 December 2021, the Group owned one ordinary iron ore mine
(namely the Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine), one gypsum mine (namely
the Shigou Gypsum Mine) and one processing plant (namely the
Maoling Processing Plant). All mines and processing plant are located in
Sichuan, China.

As at 31 December 2021, the total number of Shares of the Company
in issue was 2,249,015,410 Shares and the percentage holding of the
Company'’s subsidiaries was as follows:
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Financial Highlights
MGHRE

REVENUE* 2021 756,225
W AH
(RMB'000) 2020 580,703
ARBT7) 2019 923,611
2018 1141971
2017 1317479
GROSS PROFIT* 2021 31,527
EF
(RMB'000) 2020 61,599
ANRETT) o1 -
2018 125,899
2017 127,520
PROFIT/(LOSS) 2021 8,311
ATTRIBUTABLE TO
OWNERS OF THE 2020 (17,054)
COMPANY
69,199
BEREAT 201
BAANFE (B8 508 (443969)
(RMB’000)
UNEE S 2017 (349,490)
EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE 2021 635,240
TO OWNERS OF THE
COMPANY 2020 626,251
BENRAAT
£ e 201 644,740
BEE AR 019
(RMB'000) 2018 574,737
ANRETT)
2017 1,020,907

# Included both Continuing Operations and Discontinued Operations after " ARREREER KRR EREE KIEHEER
elimination of intra-group revenue or profit, whichever is applicable. NABBIRAZFE CUBRERZE) o
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Chairman’s Statement

ETREHREE

Teh Wing Kwan 27k #
Chairman /&

Dear Shareholders,

As you may have read elsewhere, vaccination drive boosts hope for
normalcy and many countries are in a transition stage trying to move
from COVID-19 pandemic to endemic. Meanwhile, China remains on
high alert on the danger of the virus flare-ups with determined efforts
to keep its infection rates relatively low but understandably, the strict
implementation of various control measures has dragged normalisation
of economic and social activities.

MEMURE

BTRAER BEZRERE®RAERE £EH
EEOEH 2HZETFERESKCOVID-19
RRXRTBESRTREENBER -Z—7
B PENERSEENCREFES  BHF
FHENRENRAR EBRRERSERIERE
Mg R IEL S EHERENT X
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Whilst many researchers think the Omicron variant could do less
damage than the previous resurgence, the current wave has continued
to disrupt supply chain, cause mismatch of supply-and-demand,
aggravated labor shortage which could exacerbate global inflation
and intensify macroeconomic pressures. At the same time, we have
also seen rising geopolitical tensions and simmering social discontent
as the situation has become ever more volatile and vulnerable to risk.
The global economic recovery thus remains very elusive. The recovery
prospects in the near term are rather uncertain and could be uneven.

OVERVIEW

China’s GDP growth stabilised at the end of 2021 and monetary policy
stance has been eased which aims to offer some calm in such a volatile
market condition. The Chinese government has further signalled
its willingness to deploy more for fiscal support in its switch and
flexible monetary policy for an economy that could slow down amidst
China’s strict ‘zero-Covid' approach, real estate debts crisis and tech
crackdown. Against this backdrop, China’s GDP in 2022 is expected to
decelerate reflecting multiple headwinds ahead.

Apart from the macroeconomic headache, the steel industry in China —
from the output, demand to pricing — has since become more complex
to analyse. We observed that the steel industry in China seems to be
in flux on decarbonisation drive and weak construction sector but
accelerating infrastructure spending could help to support overall steel
output. We noted that China's annual crude steel production reached
a record-high in 2020 but fell in 2021 on stringent production curb as
the Chinese government stepped up efforts to reduce emission and
alleviate the straining power supply which could see output falling
further in 2022 if the caps continue.

At the same time, we all are well aware that steel prices have surged
given the post-COVID recovery as supply lagged behind demand but the
increased pandemic control could delay meaningful business recovery
and will thus cap demand growth. Meanwhile, the iron ore and base
metals prices fell as the Chinese government warned the commodities
market against excessive speculation and unreasonable hoarding, as
reflected in its prices volatility during the year under review.

So, trying to predict how the steel industry will develop and change in
this dynamic operating environment is complicated and may not be so
straightforward. This complicated environment had an impact on the
financial performance of the Group’s High-Fe Mines for FY2021.

Chairman’s Statement
TERETE
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Chairman’s Statement

ITERESE

As previously disclosed, we noted profound changes in the operational
risks of our foreign business unit in Australia which continued to exist
under the current complex macro environment against a background
of the geopolitical flux. In July 2021, we completed the disposal of the
Mancala Australia Group and we believe our decision to pull out of the
Australian market is timely.

Given the above, we recorded:

o operating profit before income tax, net of corporate expenses,
for the High-Fe Mining Operation and trading businesses; and

° net gain on disposal of the loss-making Mancala Australia
Group, offset by its net operating losses incurred during the
period before completion of its disposal.

The overall profitability was however affected by:

o the clampdown against commodity speculators and market
volatility across the industry, which had caused selling price for
iron concentrates to fall;

° the disruption of the Maoling Mine operations as a result
f (i) a landslide which caused a temporary suspension of
production and (ii) a temporary traffic control arrangement at
Aba Prefecture which disrupted delivery logistics and the related
supply chain; and

o higher tax expenses.

OUTLOOK AND STRATEGIES

In regular times, businesses face situations in varying degrees of
uncertainty and they could find ways to adapt from time to time. In
trying times, uncertainty can be extreme and we must readjust, stay
nimble and agile. Under the condition of this extreme uncertainty,
the long-term fundamentals of China’s economic growth remain
the essence of our focused strategies, reflecting our confidence on
the resilience of China’s economy amidst challenges posed by the
pandemic.

MU ATEFTIREE » HPPERERNBINEFE
THEERRHREREEE  BRMEBAR
ERENERT EEREENZRRESD
AR o UL > FAPII2021487 B Fe R &M
S FHER BHERBEENTISINREESR

o
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PR ERE N R SR AR E
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. TRERNERRERT SRS S8
BIEREE TR
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Under such circumstances, we had updated that the Group would:

o expand its production capacity for the less-polluting and higher-
margin iron concentrates (with at least 70% TFe) in view of
China’s sustainable mining practices. This growth initiative will
involve some form of capital investments in licensing process,
mines exploration, additional environmental compliance,
modification and upgrading of existing production facilities and
major mining engineering works; and

o segregate the mining facilities management activities from
its upstream mining operations in order to sharpen its focus
towards developing environmentally responsible practices which
could also potentially allow the Group to diversify for additional
revenue streams should opportunities arise.

In executing the above strategies, we are mindful of uneven business
recovery given the previous major supply chain disruption, but we think
the business recovery in China will be meaningful upon re-opening
of the local economy at a much larger scale in time to come. More
recently, some signs suggest that the supply chain pressures have
somewhat moderated, but the continuity of the trends remains to be
seen. Meanwhile, risks and signs of resurgence of viral infections amidst
China’s zero-COVID stance are closely monitored and we will adjust our
strategies if required.

THANK YOU

Once again, | must thank our stakeholders, partners, bankers,
management, and staff for their support during this challenging time.

Teh Wing Kwan

Chairman

Email: wkteh.cvt@gmail.com or
wkteh@chinavtmmining.com

Hong Kong, 29 March 2022
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Management Discussion
and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis

MARKET REVIEW

During the Reporting Period, the Group observed the following
industrial developments and market statistics:

o With increasing global COVID-19 vaccination rates, the world
economy has been recovering progressively but the pace of such
recovery has been constrained by the emergence of the Omicron
variant and thus could remain uneven.

o In China, with the rigorous implementation of various policies
and related control measures to curb the viral spread of
COVID-19, infection rates were kept at a low level throughout
2021. Production activities were able to resume and the
economy recovered gradually. However, such strict restrictions
seem to have delayed supply chain recovery for various
industries.

. China’s Gross Domestic Product (“GDP”) growth for 2021
released by the National Bureau of Statistics of the PRC was
8.1% year-on-year, which was well above the initial target
of 6%. As growth slowed progressively in 2021, down from
18.3% in the first quarter of 2021 to 4.0% in the fourth quarter
of 2021, the GDP in 2022 is expected to decelerate further
reflecting multiple headwinds.

o Steel prices in China surged in May 2021 to over RMB6,760
per tonne as a result of the output reduction combined with
the rise in demand during the construction peak season, which
subsequently saw a sharp correction to about RMB5,274
per tonne towards the year end following the government
interventions and the end of peak seasons of certain industries.

o Steel production suffered throughout 2021 due to falling
demand, which saw output continue to fall since April 2021,
reaching the lowest point in November 2021 with only 69.3Mt
produced, down 22% compared with the same period in 2020.

o To meet emission reduction goals and alleviate the straining
power supply, the Chinese government has restricted the
production output of high emission and energy-intensive
industries from November 2021 to March 2022, affecting the
overall output of steel as well as the global supply chain for
steel.

EREmRD N

h 15 [o] B8
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEE WA

12

Under output reduction policies, both prices and the supply-
and-demand chain for crude iron ore fell from June 2021 to
December 2021. The China Iron Ore Price Index (“CIOPI")
compiled by the China Iron and Steel Association showed a
continual drop in prices. The crude iron ore price index had been
on a downtrend after peaking at 771.62 in mid-June 2021.
Similarly, the price level for the 62% TFe iron ore has fallen to
about RMB800 per tonne in late 2021 after reaching a high of
approximately RMB 1,334 per tonne in July 2021.

The domestic output of crude iron ore experienced a contraction
in 2021, but was still higher than the year-on-year output of
2020. The drop in iron ore output during the year was attributed
to the lackluster steel demand, rigorous government lockdowns,
and power rationing due to coal shortages.

The Chinese Purchasing Managers’ Index (“PMI”) showed an
uneven recovery in the manufacturing sector that it maintained
above the threshold of 50.0 for the first eight months of 2021,
but slipped below the threshold to 49.6 in September 2021,
and rebounded back to 50.3 in December 2021. The PMI of the
steel sector recorded an overall negative growth which remained
below the threshold of 50.0 throughout the year with a peak at
45.0 in September 2021 but dropped to a new low at 36.6 in
November 2021, and bounced back to 38.7 in December 2021.

China pledged to achieve carbon peaking by 2030 and carbon
neutrality by 2060 at the United Nations General Assembly in
September 2021 and has subsequently implemented production
capacity reduction and output control measures accordingly. In
addition, the China Iron and Steel Association introduced five
main directions for the steel industry in October 2021 to tackle
increasing costs and fluctuating prices, namely, (i) supply-side
structural reform, (ii) strengthening of industry supply chains, (iii)
adherence to green and low carbon directives and technological
innovation, (iv) matching the standards of top domestic and
international firms, and (v) accelerated digitalisation.

The National Development and Reform Commission of the PRC
also released the “Implementation Plan for Carbon Dioxide
Peaking of the Steel Industry” at the end of 2021. The plan
highlighted emission goals and roadmaps for the industry and
scientifically analysed emission reduction measures, focusing on
reducing at source, rigorous process control, and betterment of
end-of-pipe treatment, which aims to foster the transformation
to a sustainable economy and society.
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BUSINESS AND OPERATIONS REVIEW

Operation and Financial Overview

During the Reporting Period, the Remaining Group reported higher
revenue, which increased by 46.4% to approximately RMB714.8
million for FY2021. The Remaining Group recorded higher revenue
despite (i) the temporary suspension of the Group's operations at the
Maoling Mine during the second half of June 2021 (the “Production
Suspension”) as a result of a landslide, which caused road closures
and disruptions to telecommunication and electricity supply in the
affected areas in Wenchuan County and (ii) temporary traffic control
arrangements in Aba Prefecture between July and August 2021, which
affected supply chain and production operations of the Maoling Mine
(the "Temporary Traffic Control Arrangements”).

During the Reporting Period:

o production volume fell by approximately 41.4% mainly due to
the Production Suspension and the Temporary Traffic Control
Arrangements;

o average selling price for high-grade iron concentrates increased

by approximately 32.6% mainly driven by the recovery in
demand during the construction peak season, but the Chinese
government's clampdown against commodity speculators
partially offset such increase;

o trading activities increased due to higher steel demand during
the Reporting Period as a result of the fiscal stimulus policies in
China which saw higher infrastructure spending. The Group's
overall purchase and sales volumes of trading activities were
approximately 140.2 Kt, representing a rise of 14.4% as
compared to FY2020;

o cost of sales increased on the back of higher average steel
prices (rising by close to 43%) and higher unit production cost.
As a result, the Remaining Group recorded a lower gross profit
at approximately RMB24.7 million as compared to RMB46.6
million for FY2020, whereas, gross profit margin fell to 3.5% for
FY2021 as compared to 9.5% for FY2020; and

o administrative expenses comprising mainly staff cost and
professional services cost fell to approximately RMB19.0 million
as compared to RMB30.5 million for FY2020 as a result of costs
saving on the back of operational streamlining.

Details of the financial performance of the Group are set out on pages
16 and 17 of this annual report.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Overview of Mines

Please refer to below tables for the status of the mine operations which
are owned and operated by the Group.

High Fe Mines and Shigou Gypsum Mine

Mine

&%

Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine

EE-FRELEE

Shigou Gypsum Mine

aBAERE

The following table summarises the transacted volumes for (i) trading
sales and (ii) sale of self-produced products of the Group:

(i) Trading Sales
Steels

(ii) Sale of Self-produced
Products
High-grade iron concentrates

Processing Plant

TIE

Maoling Processing Plant

TRz 5

ESETE

ERMBAAEREAREENRESNEFRR

BHmIRERAEOER

Status as at 31 December 2021
220215128318 KR

Producing iron concentrates of high Fe contents (within the

range of 65% TFe to 72% TFe)

H#HE .

Purchase from
an independent third party
M—LEIE=FBE

FY2021 FY2020 Change
2021 2020
HBEE WEHFE =)
(Kt) (Kt) %
() (Fg) %
() EEHE
ik 140.2 122.5 14.4

Production volume (Dry basis)

EE (%H)

FY2021 FY2020 Change

2021 2020
MBEE WBEE BE)
(Kt) (Kt) %
(F mg) (Fmg) %

(i) HEBEEm

=R EEE 49.7 84.8 (41.4)

14 CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED | 2021 ANNUAL REPORT

Optimising development and mining plans according to trial

EBFER S EFeBTERNEIERE (TreE5 2/ F65%E72%)
N/A

production results
~ER RIEREARTEHRE RBXE

TREBAAERBNEZHE  R(NVHEBEER

Sale to
an independent third party
A—2BIE=FHE

FY2021 FY2020 Change
2021 2020
HBEE WEHEE =)
(Kt) (Kt) %
(Fm8) (Fg) %
140.2 122.5 14.4

Sales volume (Dry basis)

#HE (H)
FY2021  FY2020  Change
2021 2020
MBEE HBEE o
(Kt) (Kt) %
FH)  (T® %
46.9 86.5 (45.8)




Business Risks and Uncertainties

The following is a list of principal risks and uncertainties that are of
significance, which may bring potential significant impacts to the
Group's businesses, results of operations and financial conditions.
However, this is non-exhaustive as there may be other risks and
uncertainties arising from changes in economic and other conditions
over time:

o the macro business environment in which the Group operates
is highly dynamic that any adverse change in market conditions
for sales of iron concentrates and trading of steel may materially
affect the businesses of the Group;

o unfavourable price fluctuations of iron concentrates, lower-than-
expected capacity utilisation rate, negative market sentiment as
a result of geopolitical tensions, the COVID-19 pandemic and
change in demand may result in re-assessment of intangible
assets valuations (in relation to exploration and mining rights),
which may have an adverse impact on the Group’s financial
results due to the resultant impairment losses arising from lower
value-in-use and lower economic benefits as may be derived
from the related cash-generating units;

o changes in government policies, laws and regulations in the PRC
may affect the Group’s operations and/or result in additional
compliance costs;

o additional time and efforts may be required in negotiating with
financial institutions for commercially acceptable terms if there is
a significant change in credit risk policies; and

o delay in implementing growth and transformational strategies
or deviation from original business and operational strategies,
including resources reallocation plans, may affect the Group's
operations and financial results.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Note: The disposal of the Mancala Australia Group (the “Disposal Group”) was

completed on 31 July 2021. As such the following Group results comprised the

results of the Disposal Group for the 7 months ended 31 July 2021 which are

made up of (i) net operating loss of RMB4. 1 million and (ii) a one-off gain on the

Disposal amounting to RMB10.7 million. The Group has ceased to recognise the

financial results of and deconsolidated the Disposal Group as at 31 July 2021.

REMAINING GROUP
Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income and gain

Selling and distribution expenses
Administrative expense

Other expenses

Reversal of impairment losses, net
Finance costs

Operating profit before tax from
the Remaining Group
Income tax credit/(expense)

Operating profit after tax from
the Remaining Group

DISPOSAL GROUP

Loss for the year from the
Disposal Group

Net gain on the Disposal

Profit/(Loss) for the year

REEME
A
HE A

EF

H AU A e Wi
HERDHEAX
TERX
HAthFA sz

W ER IR EFER
FAFS R AR

REBEBRATEERNE

Frisiimse, (s

REEERREENR
HEEE
HEERFREE

HEFEMR PR

FERFE (518)

B4 %% [E] R

Wizt HERWS FHEEH (HEERH) —FEER
202147831 H556E o At I FAREBEECOIFZHE
EFEFE2021FE7H31HIE716F I E4#  EHE ()
ABRHE4. 15 BTl S pEFERIARIE10.755
TTHIH EFIEH— R Wam o K EBE 202147531
BARIF ST B BRI R 75 AR R AR IF A HH & ZEE A
AR o

FY2021 FY2020 Variance
2021 2020
BIREE MHFE EE
RMB'000 RMB'000 %
AREETFT AR®EFT %
714,760 488,135 46.4
(690,098) (441,548) 56.3
24,662 46,587 47.1)
3,888 3,864 0.6
(373) (4,572) (91.8)
(19,003) (30,515) (37.7)
(2,288) (3,212) (28.8)
4,130 1,479 179.2
(5,393) (5,598) (3.7)
5,623 8,033 (30.0)
(4,641) 250 NM |2 &
982 8,283 (88.1)
(4,107) (32,675) (87.4)
10,723 - N/A FiE A
6,616 (32,675) (120.2)
7,598 (24,392) (131.1)
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ATTRIBUTABLE TO: HEB
Owners of the Company KABIEB A
Non-controlling interests JEER
ATTRIBUTABLE TO: BB
Owners of the Remaining Group REBEBREBA
Non-controlling interests FEVER S
ATTRIBUTABLE TO: R
Owners of the Disposal Group HEEEES A
Non-controlling interests JEER R m

Revenue

Revenue increased to approximately RMB714.8 million for FY2021
(FY2020: RMB488.1 million) due mainly to (i) higher trading activities
and (ii) higher average selling price of high-grade iron concentrates,
which are mainly attributable to pent-up demand during the first
three quarters of 2021, which subsequently subsided as the Chinese
government took steps to cool off rising commodity prices amid
warnings of a government clampdown against commodity speculators
and market volatility.

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales primarily comprises environment compliance cost,
incidental costs for resuming the Maoling Mine operations from the
Production Suspension, contracting fees for mining and stripping
as well as materials, labour, power and other utilities, repair and
maintenance, depreciation and amortisation, and trading purchase.
Cost of sales increased substantially to approximately RMB690.1 million
for FY2021 (FY2020: RMB441.5 million) due mainly to (i) higher cost of
purchases for trading as a result of higher average steel prices which
rose by close to 43% and (ii) delivery charges of iron concentrates
being included as part of the cost of sales in FY2021 following the
change in delivery arrangement.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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FY2021 FY2020 Variance
2021 2020

M EE FHEE =9

RMB'000 RMB'000 %

AR%FT AE®EFT %

8,311 (17,054) (148.7)

(713) (7,388) (90.3)

7,598 (24,392) (131.1)

914 9,413 (90.3)

68 (1,130) (106.0)

982 8,283 (88.1)

7,397 (26,467) (127.9)

(781) (6,208) (87.4)

6,616 (32,675) (120.2)
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Gross Profit and Margin

Gross profit fell to approximately RMB24.7 million for FY2021 (FY2020:
RMB46.6 million) due to lower profitability from the High-Fe Mining
Operation while the Group's gross profit margin fell to approximately
3.5% for FY2021 (FY2020: 9.5%) which is mainly attributable to falling
commodity prices and higher unit production cost for High-Fe Mining
Operation.

Other Income and Gain

Other income and gain were RMB3.9 million for FY2021 (FY2020:
RMB3.9 million), which comprise mainly proceeds from the sale of mine
tailings of RMB2.5 million (FY2020: RMB2.0 million).

Selling and Distribution Expenses

The selling and distribution expenses primarily comprise delivery,
logistics, storage and warehousing costs. Selling and distribution
expenses fell to approximately RMBO0.4 million for FY2021 (FY2020:
RMB4.6 million) mainly because delivery charges of iron concentrates
in FY2021 were included as part of cost of sales following a change in
delivery arrangement, whereas such delivery charges were included as
part of the selling and distribution expenses in FY2020.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses, mainly comprising staff related expenses,
professional fees and other fixed operating overhead associated with
the Production Suspension, fell to approximately RMB19.0 million for
FY2021 (FY2020: RMB30.5 million) which is mainly due to (i) cost
saving arising from operational streamlining and (i) the absence of
one-off resource taxes of RMB8.7 million which the Group incurred in
FY2020.

Other Expenses

Other expenses, which primarily comprise cost of processing mine
tailings (which the Group started in April 2020), fell to approximately
RMB2.3 million for FY2021 (FY2020: RMB3.2 million).

ENRENE

2021 BFEENEFES#HRMUBESEBRT
BEENTREMTITYREN AR 2478 E 7T (2020
HHEE  ARH46.68EIT) > MAEE2021
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Reversal of Impairment Losses, Net

The management of the Group has updated the key assumptions of the
business projection in respect of the cash-generating unit (“CGU") of
the Remaining Group (the “Remaining Group CGU"), which is highly
dependent on the estimation of future commodity prices, mining plans,
future capital expenditure plans, discount rates and market conditions.
As at 31 December 2021, the management of the Group is of the
opinion that there is no impairment of the Remaining Group CGU,
barring unforeseen circumstances. However, the management of the
Group is mindful of the existing market conditions which appear to
be highly volatile and unpredictable and will continue to assess the
underlying assumptions applicable to its business projections (subject to
regular reviews and revisions in relation to impairment tests) if there are
factors indicating that the business conditions relating to the Remaining
Group CGU may deteriorate to a level which requires accounting
impairment as a result of the market forces.

During the Reporting Period, the reversal of impairment loss amounted
to approximately RMB4.1 million for FY2021 (FY2020: RMB1.5 million)
as a result of subsequent collection of trade receivables.

Finance Costs
Finance costs remain relatively unchanged at approximately RMB5.4
million for FY2021 (FY2020: RMB5.6 million).

Income Tax Credit/(Expense)

The Group recorded an income tax expense of approximately RMB4.6
million for FY2021 (FY2020: income tax credit of RMBO0.3 million),
due mainly to higher tax expenses for its profitable High-Fe Mining
Operation and trading businesses.

Profit/(Loss) Attributable to Owners

Given the above and including the gain from disposal of the Mancala
Australia Group amounting to RMB10.7 million, the Group recorded a
net profit attributable to owners of approximately RMB8.3 million for
FY2021, reversing a net loss attributable to owners of RMB17.1 million
for FY2020.

Final Dividend
The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
FY2021 (FY2020: Nil).

Management Discussion and Analysis
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES RBEKRERER
The following table sets out certain information regarding the Group's TR BRAERE20218 HEE K202084 B
consolidated statement of cash flows for FY2021 and FY2020: FENGEREMERNETEN !
FY2021 FY2020
2021 BLEE 20200 LR E
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTRT ARETR ARETRT ARETR

Cash and cash equivalents as FVRGEEREMNER

stated in the consolidated FIERNIBERIRE

statement of cash flows at ZEY

beginning of the year 47,173 26,689
Net cash flows from/(used in) ESEEES S (FR)

operating activities MRS REFE (18,218) 36,842
Net cash flows used in investing & EEENFERM

activities HEREFE (21,619) (8,226)
Net cash flows used in financing ~ FRE EENERM

activities BE&EheF5E (1,603) (4,692)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash BERIREHEY

and cash equivalents @, CRisk) $%8 (41,440) 23,924
Effect of foreign exchange rate EXEEF TR

changes, net 703 (3,440)
Cash and cash equivalents as FRRGERERER

stated in the consolidated FIERNIBERIRE

statement of cash flows at end Z£EY

of the year 6,436 47,173
Net Cash Flows From/(Used In) Operating REFEHEE (FR) NRERE
Activities B
The Group’s net cash flows used in operating activities were R R(HWEEESEHRMKEBROARE

approximately RMB18.2 million for FY2021 (FY2020: from operating 15.3E 8T (20200 FE : ARE¥25588
activities were RMB36.8 million) after accounting for (i) operating loss o) NMiNEEBEREFEROARE216B8T
before working capital changes of approximately RMB15.3 million (20200 E - AR®2.4887) (FER
(FY2020: RMB25.5 million), (ii) net working capital requirement of REERANE BIEE A EE I < U AR FVE M)
approximately RMB21.6 million (FY2020: RMB2.4 million) mainly F(iyEME R EBEKLSEHEANRENA
attributable to an increase in trade receivables which arose from Ri&7.7887w (20200 BEE | KEEHESE
increasingly higher trading activities during the year-end period and HIREAREI13.8BE T % 2021 EHFER
(iii) cash used in operating activities of the Mancala Australia Group ERKETHNERNIREREFENAARK
of approximately RMB7.7 million (FY2020: from operating activities of 18.2E BT (2020 MEFE | K EFHEENIRA
RMB13.8 million). TREBFESARKI6.8EET) °
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Net Cash Flows Used In Investing Activities

The Group’s net cash flows used in investing activities were
approximately RMB21.6 million for FY2021 (FY2020: RMB8.2 million),
due primarily to (i) capital expenditures for the engineering works
in preparation for the expansion of the Maoling Mine areas of
approximately RMB22.7 million (FY2020: RMB6.4 million), (ii) net
proceeds from the disposal of subsidiaries of approximately RMB3.1
million (FY2020:Nil) and (iii) cash used in investing activities of the
Mancala Australia Group of approximately RMB1.2 million (FY2020:
RMB1.4 million).

Net Cash Flows Used In Financing Activities

The Group’s net cash flows used in financing activities were
approximately RMB1.6 million for FY2021 (FY2020: RMB4.7 million),
due primarily to proceeds from working capital loans and cash used in
financing activities of the Mancala Australia Group of approximately
RMB2.0 million (FY2020: RMB0.04 million).

FINANCIAL POSITION

Note: Assets and liabilities of the Mancala Australia Group were
classified as held for sale as at 31 December 2020 and were
subsequently deconsolidated as at 31 July 2021 upon completion of the
Disposal. Details of the Discontinued Operations are set out in notes 10
and 31 to the financial statements of this annual report.

Inventories

The Group's inventories, consisting of raw materials, stocks
and consumables in relation to High-Fe Mining Operation, were
approximately RMB11.9 million as at 31 December 2021 (FY2020:
RMB5.8 million), due mainly to (i) raw materials stock for production
and (ii) other buffer inventories which have substantially been
consumed or sold after the Reporting Period.

Trade and Bills Receivables

The Group's trade and bills receivables increased to approximately
RMB203.7 million as at 31 December 2021 (FY2020: RMB181.8 million)
on the back of higher revenues. The trade receivables have substantially
been collected subsequent to the Reporting Period while the remaining
balance falls within the credit period and is expected to be collected
before the second quarter of 2022.

Other Receivables
The Group's other receivables fell to approximately RMB4.4 million as at
31 December 2021 (FY2020: RMB4.7 million).

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Assets and Liabilities of a Disposal Group
Classified as Held for Sale

The assets and liabilities of a disposal group classified as held for sale
as at 31 December 2020 were in relation to the Mancala Australia
Group and were subsequently deconsolidated as at 31 July 2021 upon
completion of the Disposal.

Trade Payables

The Group's trade payables increased to approximately RMB33.1 million
as at 31 December 2021 (FY2020: RMB30.5 million) due mainly to
higher cost of purchases for trading as a result of substantially higher
average steel prices. Overall creditors turnover days fell to 17 days
(FY2020: 40 days) due mainly to early payment to supplier.

Borrowings

Total borrowings of the Group were approximately RMB92.2 million as
at 31 December 2021 (FY2020: RMB84.7 million). The increase was due
to the additional working capital loan obtained for the Maoling Mine
expansion. As at 31 December 2021, all bank loans of the Group were
denominated in RMB. Details of the borrowings of the Group are set
out in note 25 to the financial statements of this annual report.

Lease Liabilities

The total lease liabilities of the Group were approximately RMB2.7
million (FY2020: RMB7.3 million) which were related to payment
obligations in relation to the right-of-use assets that comprised mainly
office premises and tailings management facilities. The reduction is due
mainly to the lease modification resulting from annual rental reduction
of tailing facilities.
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Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2021, the maximum amount of contingent
liabilities of the Company was RMB730.0 million, which represented
the maximum guaranteed amount under the CVT Guarantees. The
CVT Guarantees were provided by the Company prior to the 2019
Disposal to guarantee the indebtedness of the Caitong Group owed
to certain banks and an asset management and financial services
institution in the PRC (the "Financial Institutions"). Those debts have
not been fully repaid and the CVT Guarantees continued after the
2019 Completion. As previously disclosed in the announcements of
the Company dated 30 July 2019 and 29 July 2020, respectively,
Chengyu Vanadium Titano and Huili Caitong had updated the Company
that the Financial Institutions were willing to consider releasing the
CVT Guarantees provided that the total outstanding loans with the
Financial Institutions were fully repaid. Chengyu Vanadium Titano and
Huili Caitong have also undertaken that they would continue to make
progressive repayment of the outstanding principal loans as scheduled.
As at 31 December 2021, these debts had not been fully repaid and
the CVT Guarantees thus continued after the 2019 Completion. Given
the continuation of the CVT Guarantees, the Company's obligations
under the CVT Guarantees have been counter indemnified by Chengyu
Vanadium Titano and such counter indemnity in favour of the Company
will continue to be in place and remain effective until the CVT
Guarantees are released. Save for the above, as at 31 December 2021,
the Group did not have any other contingent liabilities. For further
details about the CVT Guarantees and such counter indemnity, please
refer to note 33 to the financial statements of this annual report.

Pledge of Assets

The Group’s pledge of assets as at 31 December 2021 was related
mainly to a short-term bank loan of RMB79.6 million granted by
Shanghai Pudong Development Bank Chengdu Branch to Aba Mining,
which was secured by (i) mining right of Maoling Mine; (ii) 100% equity
of Aba Mining held by Sichuan Lingyu and (iii) a pledged deposit of
RMB10,000,000.
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Significant Investments, Material Acquisitions

and Disposals of Subsidiaries, Associates and

Joint Ventures, and Future Plan for Material
Investments of Capital Assets

Except as disclosed elsewhere in this management discussion and
analysis (“MD&A"), the audited consolidated financial statements
for FY2021 or the announcements of the Company in relation to the
Disposal dated 30 June 2021 and 1 August 2021, respectively, there
were no other significant investments held and/or committed by the
Company, nor were there any other material acquisitions or disposals of
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during FY2021.

Except as disclosed in this MD&A and the audited financial statements,
there were no other material investments or additions of capital assets
that were not related to normal operation authorised by the Board as at
the date of this report.

Foreign Currency Risk

The Group's foreign currency exposures arose primarily from the
exchange rate movement of foreign currencies, namely, HKD, USD and
SGD, against the RMB. HKD, USD and SGD are the functional currencies
of respective entities within the Group.

The RMB is not freely convertible. There is a risk that the Chinese
government may take actions affecting exchange rates which may have
a material adverse effect on the Group's net assets, earnings and any
dividends it declares if such dividend is to be exchanged or converted
into foreign currencies.

The Group has not entered into any hedging transactions to manage
the potential fluctuation in foreign currencies. The management
monitors the Group’s foreign currency exposure and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure when the needs arise.

Please refer to note 38 to the financial statements of this annual report
of more details of the Group's foreign currency risk.
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Interest Rate Risk

The Group's exposure to interest rate risk relates primarily to bank
deposits, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and exchangeable
notes (which are subject to fair value interest rate risk).

The Group manages its interest rate exposure arising from all its
interest-bearing loans through the use of fixed rates. In addition, the
Group has not used any interest rate swaps to hedge against interest
rate risk. The Group will constantly monitor the economic situation
and its interest rate risk profile, and will consider appropriate hedging
measures when the needs arise.

Please refer to note 25 to the financial statement of this annual
report for more details of the interest rates and terms of repayment of
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.

Contractual Obligations
The Group had no contractual obligations as at 31 December 2021 and
2020.

Capital Expenditure

The Group's total capital expenditure increased by RMB3.6 million to
approximately RMB18.3 million for FY2021 (FY2020: RMB19.8 million,
inclusive of RMB14.7 million attributable to the Remaining Group) due
to engineering works performed in preparation for the progressive
upgrade of the High-Fe Mining Operation.

Gearing Ratio

Gearing ratio is a measure of financial leverage, which is calculated by
"net debt" divided by “total equity plus net debt”. Net debt is defined
as interest-bearing bank and other loans and lease liabilities, net of
cash and cash equivalents and it excludes liabilities incurred for working
capital purpose. Equity includes equity attributable to owners of the
Company and non-controlling interests. As at 31 December 2021,
gearing ratio was approximately 8.7% (FY2020: 6.1%).
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RESOURCE AND RESERVE OF MINES UNDER
THE JORC CODE (2012 EDITION) AS AT
1 JANUARY 2022

Resource Summary of the Maoling-Yanglongshan
Mine

JORC Mineral Resource Category

Properties JORC Mineral Resource Category
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Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine Measured (M)
EF-FRELEE ¥RER
Indicated (I)
7
M-+l
R+
Inferred
e ER
Total
st

Notes:

1. The material assumptions and technical parameters set out in the
Company's supplemental announcement dated 13 February 2015 with
respect to the Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine continue to apply.

2. The mineral resources of the Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine as at 1 January
2022 were estimated by BAW Mineral Partners Limited by depleting
the mineral resources consumed throughout 2021 for the Maoling-
Yanglongshan Mine.
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RESOURCE OF MINES UNDER THE
CLASSIFICATION FOR RESOURCES/RESERVES
OF SOLID FUELS AND MINERAL COMMODITIES
(GB/T 17766-1999) AS AT 1 JANUARY 2022

Resource Summary of the Shigou Gypsum Mine
The mineral resources of the Shigou Gypsum Mine under the
Classification for Resources/Reserves of Solid Fuels and Mineral
Commodities (GB/T 17766-1999) have not been changed since the
disclosure in the Group’s 2014 annual report. The assumption of the
resources of the Shigou Gypsum Mine is 82.51% “gypsum + anhydrite”
cut-off grade and 1 metre minimum in width.

EMPLOYEES AND EMOLUMENT POLICIES

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had a total of 127 dedicated
full time employees (31 December 2020: 191 employees, inclusive of
138 employees from the Remaining Group), including 4 management
staff members, 20 technical staff members, 27 administrative and
sales & marketing staff members, and 76 operational staff members.
For FY2021, the employee benefit expenses (including Directors’
remuneration in the form of fees, salaries and other allowances) were
approximately RMB14.4 million (FY2020: RMB28.5 million, inclusive of
RMB14.6 million attributable to the Remaining Group).

The emolument policies of the Group are based on performance,
experience, competence and market comparable. Remuneration
packages generally comprise salary, housing allowance, contribution to
pension schemes and discretionary bonus relating to the performance
of the Group. The Group has also adopted share option schemes
for its employees, providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants with reference to their contributions. For details, please
refer to the section headed "“Directors’ Report” in this annual report.
Proper training programmes were implemented in order to promote
employees’ career development and progression within the Group.
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OTHER SIGNIFICANT EVENTS

The Disposal

On 30 June 2021, the Company (as vendor) entered into a conditional
sale and purchase agreement with PT. Hay Wei (as purchaser) to dispose
of 81% equity interest in Mancala Holdings to PT. Hay Wei for a total
cash consideration of AUD1.5 million (equivalent to approximately
RMB7.3 million). Upon the completion of the Disposal on 31 July 2021,
the Mancala Australia Group has ceased to be subsidiaries of the
Company.

Please refer to the Company’s announcements dated 30 June 2021 and
1 August 2021, respectively, for further details.

The Disruption of the Maoling Mine Operations
The Maoling Mine operations were temporarily suspended in mid-June
2021 due to a landslide that struck Longzhangkou, Xingiao Village,
Wenchuan County, Aba Prefecture, Sichuan. Following the resumption
of the Maoling Mine operations in early July 2021, the supply chain and
production operations were further disrupted by the Temporary Traffic
Control Arrangements in Aba Prefecture which continued until mid-
August 2021 even though the Maoling Mine operations had resumed in
early July 2021.

Please refer to the Company’s announcements dated 21 June 2021 and
2 July 2021, respectively, for further details.

Facilities Management Agreements

On 21 March 2022, Sichuan Lingwei entered into (i) the facility
management services framework agreement with Huili Caitong and
Xiushuihe Mining (the "Huili FM Agreement") and (ii) the facility
management services framework agreement with Yanyuan Xigang (the
"Yanyuan FM Agreement", together with the Huili FM Agreement, the
"Framework Agreements"). Pursuant to the Framework Agreements,
Sichuan Lingwei will provide various facility management services,
including operational site routine services and mining engineering
support and consultancy services, to the mining camps of Huili
Caitong, Xiushuihe Mining and Yanyuan Xigang from 1 April 2022 to
31 December 2022. The annual cap for the transactions contemplated
under the Framework Agreements for the year ending 31 December
2022 is RMB12,900,000.
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As facilities management continues to hold an increasingly important
and integral role in other industries and sectors, the Group believes that
the services to be provided and management resources to be allocated
under the Framework Agreements serve as a base to allow progressive
expansion of the level of such relevant expertise (including future
investments in relevant skilled personnel and technological support)
such that the Group could potentially market its facilities management
capabilities, procure additional service contracts, forge partnership
with strategic partners so that it could explore more innovative and
technology-driven facilities management strategies in managing the
entire value chain of the facilities management business for other third
party clients as well.

The Relevant Substantial Shareholders collectively hold more than 30%
equity interests in Chengyu Vanadium Titano, which in turn wholly
owns Huili Caitong. Xiushuihe Mining is in turn a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of Huili Caitong. Further, Yanyuan Xigang is ultimately
held indirectly as to more than 30% by the Relevant Substantial
Shareholders. Accordingly, each of Huili Caitong, Xiushuihe Mining and
Yanyuan Xigang is an associate of the Relevant Substantial Shareholders
and therefore is a connected person of the Company, and the
transactions contemplated under the Framework Agreements constitute
continuing connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

Please refer to the Company's announcement dated 21 March 2022 for
further details.

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION REGARDING
THE QUALIFIED OPINION RELATING TO THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF
THE MANCALA AUSTRALIA GROUP

Ernst & Young, the auditor of the Company (the "Auditor”) has
rendered a qualified opinion (the “Qualified Opinion”) relating to the
consolidated financial statements of the Mancala Australia Group, the
disposal of which had been completed on 31 July 2021. Please refer to
page 97 to 104 for the independent auditor's report.
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Set out below is the supplementary information regarding the Qualified

Opinion:

(1)

(2)

30

Background of the disposal of the Mancala
Australia Group

On 31 July 2021, the Company completed the disposal of
the Mancala Australia Group through the disposal of 81%
equity interest in Mancala Holdings to PT. Hay Wei for a
consideration of AUD1.5 million. Upon completion of the
disposal of the Mancala Australia Group, the Group could no
longer govern and/or exercise control over the Mancala Australia
Group's financial and operating policies, which thus did not
meet the definition of control in accordance with IFRS 10
Consolidated Financial Statements. Consequently, the Group has
deconsolidated the Mancala Australia Group since 31 July 2021.
Please refer to notes 10 and 31 to the financial statements for
further details.

Management’s view on the financial
statements of the Mancala Australia Group
The Group recognises that timely and accurate financial
reporting is important to the Shareholders. The management
of the Company has had ongoing and regular discussions
with the Auditor throughout the preparation process of the
Group's consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2021.

The management understands that the Qualified Opinion
was issued on the ground that the financial statements
of the Mancala Australia Group were consolidated in the
Group's audited financial statements based on the unaudited
management accounts of the Mancala Australia Group for the
period from 1 January 2021 to 31 July 2021 (i.e the date on
which the Mancala Australia Group ceased to be part of the
Group upon completion of the Disposal) (the "Relevant Period"),
and has also considered the following:
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The audit process for the Mancala Australia Group for
the Relevant Period has been subjected to administrative
delay since the aforesaid loss of management control
upon completion of the Disposal on 31 July 2021. In
addition, various control measures and travel restrictions
triggered by the resurgence of COVID-19 infections in
Australia had posed further practical difficulties to the
audit process with respect to the Mancala Australia
Group as the management and operations of the
Mancala Australia Group are based in Australia. There
had been COVID-related restrictions for the management
of the Company who wanted to travel out of China to
Australia for necessary meetings and discussions with
the management of the Mancala Australia Group to
facilitate the completion of the audit process of the
Mancala Australia Group. There were thus hurdles in
getting unencumbered assistance from the management
of the Mancala Australia Group for giving the Auditor
access to all requisite accounting records and relevant
supporting documents of the Mancala Australia Group
for the Relevant Period, which were kept in Australia. As
a result, the Company through its repeated requests and
maximum efforts, could only procure the management
of the Mancala Australia Group to provide the unaudited
management accounts and consolidated financial
reporting package of the Mancala Australia Group
for the Relevant Period; and the bank statements of
the Mancala Australia Group as at 31 July 2021. The
Company could not compel the provision of the other
information and/or documents requested by the Auditor;
and the Company was not in possession of any of the
relevant accounting records and supporting documents
of the Mancala Australia Group, which were kept in
Australia. Given the limited information provided, the
Auditor was unable to perform the audit procedures they
considered necessary to obtain sufficient and appropriate
audit evidence to satisfy themselves for the financial
information of the Mancala Australia Group for the
Relevant Period.
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b)

The qualification given in the auditor's report is confined
only to the Mancala Australia Group, which had
since been isolated and re-classified as Discontinued
Operations in the Group’s financial statements. Further,
such qualification is specifically limited only to the
following items as set out in the Group’s audited
consolidated financial statements:

° the cash flows items in relation to the
Discontinued Operations in the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year ended 31
December 2021; and

o the results of the Mancala Australia Group for
the period from 1 January 2021 to 31 July 2021
including the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities of the Mancala Australia Group as at
31 July 2021 and the corresponding disclosures
as set out in notes 10 and 31 to the financial
statements.

The Qualified Opinion does not affect the true and fair
view of the Group’s consolidated financial statements
for its Continuing Operations; and the impact of the
Qualified Opinion is also considered immaterial given
that such opinion does not have any net financial impact
on the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of financial position and consolidated statement of cash
flows, having considered the isolated effects of the
subject matter relative to the Group’s audited financial
statements as a whole.

Given the abovementioned, the management is of the view that
it would be operationally practical for the Group to consolidate
its audited financial statements based on the management
accounts of the Mancala Australia Group without delaying the
issuance of the Group’s annual report while the COVID-19
related restrictions remained largely in place during the Group's
audit process which have hindered the related audit progress for
the Mancala Australia Group. Hence, the management is of the
view that the subject matter is not pervasive and is immaterial
to influence decisions that the primary users of general-purpose
financial statements may make on the basis of the consolidated

financial statements for its Continuing Operations.
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Audit Committee's view

The audit committee of the Company (the "Audit Committee")
has been supervising the financial reporting process and held
a meeting on 29 March 2022, in which it has considered the
explanation made by the Auditor and the management in
connection with the audit works for the Mancala Australia
Group and the Qualified Opinion in relation to the consolidated
financial statements of the Mancala Australia Group. The Audit
Committee confirmed that it had independently reviewed,
and after due and careful consideration, it agreed with the
management’s view on the Qualified Opinion for the reasons
stated in paragraph headed “Management’s view on the
financial statements of the Mancala Australia Group”.

The Audit Committee also acknowledges the practical difficulties
in conducting audit works for the Mancala Australia Group
for the reasons stated above, and that the relevant audit
procedures required to be performed by the Auditor were
in fact hindered or otherwise affected by the administrative
delay in having timely communications with the management
of the Mancala Australia Group for audit purposes since the
completion of the Disposal, which was beyond the Group
management's control. The audit process has also been affected
by the control measures and travel restrictions triggered by
the resurgence of the COVID-19 infections in Australia that it
would be impractical to complete the audit for the Mancala
Australia Group for the Relevant Period before the reporting
timeline for the Group’s annual report. More importantly, the
Audit Committee concurs with the management's view that
the use of unaudited management accounts of the Mancala
Australia Group for the Group's financial reporting purpose
has not caused any pervasive or material impact to the Group's
consolidated financial statements for its Continuing Operations
from an overall perspective. The financial statements of the
Group presented herein remain a true and fair view, in all
material aspect, for its Continuing Operations and the Group's
operations, except for the scope relating to the Mancala
Australia Group as highlighted in notes 10 and 31 to the
financial statements.
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BEE WA
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In spite of the aforesaid, the Audit Committee has required the
preparation of unaudited management accounts of the Mancala
Australia Group to be in compliance with IAS 1 Presentation of
Financial Statements, IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale
and Discontinued Operations and IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial
Statements for purposes of the Group’s financial reporting and
presentation of the Group's audited financial statements.

Given the above, the Audit Committee does not dispute the
Qualified Opinion issued in relation to the Mancala Australia
Group for the year ended 31 December 2021.

Impact of the audit qualification

The Auditor concurred with the view of the Company’s
management. As disclosed in the independent auditor’s report
from the Auditor, the Qualified Opinion relates specifically to the
Mancala Australia Group for the year ended 31 December 2021
only. Given that the Mancala Australia Group will no longer be
consolidated in the financial statements of the Group in the year
ending 31 December 2022, the issues which gave rise to the
Qualified Opinion will not affect the Continuing Operations for
the year ending 31 December 2022, save that the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021
and the relevant notes in relation to the Mancala Australia
Group will be presented as comparative figures and information
therein.

As reiterated, the financial statements of the Group presented
herein remain a true and fair view, in all material aspect, for its
Continuing Operations and the Group's operations, except for
the following:

. the cash flows items in relation to the Discontinued
Operations in the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year ended 31 December 2021; and

o the results of the Mancala Australia Group for the
period from 1 January 2021 to 31 July 2021 including
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities of the
Mancala Australia Group as at 31 July 2021 and the
corresponding disclosures as set out in notes 10 and 31
to the financial statements.
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CHAIRMAN AND NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Teh Wing Kwan
Mr. Teh, aged 49, was appointed as the non-executive Director on 26
July 2017 and subsequently appointed as the chairman of the Board
on 12 October 2017. Mr. Teh is also the chairman of the nomination
committee of the Company.

Mr. Teh, a sophisticated investor, specialises in corporate restructuring,
corporate finance, and merger & acquisition. Mr. Teh is currently a
substantial shareholder, and an appointed non-independent and non-
executive chairman of Livingstone Health Holdings Limited (listed on
the Catalist of the SGX-ST and formerly known as Citicode Ltd.). He is
also an appointed advisor of Koda Ltd (listed on the main board of the
SGX-ST).

Mr. Teh was the executive chairman and chief executive officer
("CEO") of Citicode Ltd (previously listed on the mainboard of the
SGX-ST) from July 2018 to February 2021 for which he completed its
corporate turnaround plan via a reverse takeover of a multi-disciplinary
healthcare services group, Livingstone Health Ltd. Mr. Teh was also the
group CEO and managing director of Sapphire Corporation Limited
("Sapphire”) (listed on the main board of the SGX-ST) from October
2013 to December 2017. Under his leadership, Sapphire has undergone
a major corporate restructuring exercise and he has transformed
Sapphire by acquiring one of the largest privately-owned urban rail
transit engineering groups in China. He has also led Sapphire to be the
first company listed outside Hong Kong to receive The Listed Enterprise
Excellence Awards 2016 from the Hong Kong-based Capital Weekly.

Mr. Teh served as a non-executive director of Singapore eDevelopment
Limited (listed on the Catalist of the SGX-ST and formerly known
as CCM Group Limited) from June 2013 to August 2016; a non-
executive director of Asian American Medical Group Limited (listed on
the Australian Securities Exchange (the “ASX") and formerly known
as Asian Centre For Liver Diseases & Transplantation Limited) from
January 2011 to January 2016 and a non-executive director of Heng
Fai Enterprises Limited (listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and
currently known as Zensun Enterprises Ltd.) from October 2013 to
September 2014.
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Some of Mr. Teh's other investment and corporate portfolios included
but are not limited to — In 2002, he advised and completed the
restructuring and initial public offering (the “IPO") exercise of Koda Ltd
(which was subsequently named one of the best 200 companies under
a billion by Forbes Asia in 2006) on the SGX-ST. In 2006, he evaluated
and advised a spinoff plan for the proposed IPO application of a
foreign-controlled enterprise on the Ho Chi Minh Stock Exchange.

In 2009, he advised and completed the restructuring and listing exercise
of one of Asia’s foremost liver centres, the Singapore-incorporated
Asian Centre For Liver Diseases & Transplantation Limited via a reverse
takeover of an ASX-listed fashion design house. Mr. Teh has also
previously involved in and advised on other corporate actions including
business reorganisation, corporate restructuring, proposed divestments,
corporate debts restructuring and cash exit offer for other publicly listed
companies, family-owned enterprises and regional asset owners.

Mr. Teh was nominated for the 2015 and 2016 Asia Pacific
Entrepreneurship Awards (Singapore) under the Industrial and
Commercial Products Industry as well as the 2017 and 2018
Outstanding Leaders in Asia Corporate Excellence & Sustainability
Awards under the Leadership Category. Mr. Teh is a fellow of The
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (United Kingdom), a
fellow chartered accountant of the Institute of Singapore Chartered
Accountants, an international affiliate of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, a chartered accountant of the Malaysian
Institute of Accountants, a full member of the Singapore Institute of
Directors and an ordinary member of the Hong Kong Securities and
Investment Institute.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping

Mr. Jiang, aged 56, has been an executive Director since 28 April
2008 and re-designated as the chief executive officer of the Company
since 12 October 2017. Mr. Jiang is also a member of the nomination
committee and the remuneration committee of the Company. Mr.
Jiang has more than 20 years of experience in production and quality
control in the steel industry. Mr. Jiang was a technician, head of quality
control department and the chief manager of the audit department of
Chuan Wei from August 1989 to April 2008. Mr. Jiang graduated from
Chongging Steel and Iron College* in Chongging in July 1989 with a
college degree in iron and steel rolling.

WAL E2HLEEAMEERDEIBE > 815
BARBRIK—12002F  HIZHEME R TSR
Koda LtdB ¥ BA R EPMAN EHetE)
MKoda LtdEL# 20064 4% T2 2 % Br i A
10fE 3= o LA B 220058 © 722006 4F » 1 4 —HE
SNEEHEERPNEBESRZINSF LT
FHEETI A RIEHERRR

R20094F » i 548 [ Wi Bg — DR R AT E B 4
Rt AE > FTeAlAsian Centre For Liver Diseases
& Transplantation Limited (P #7037 5= M AL IL >
BUENRBRAFES L —) WEAKR EMmE
B o BT A TR B 2 Bl H fih 1> 2 E Eh 0 12 RE
BER BREAHMET R -RELEREHE
EREBANETERSMA CEXSH BEHE
CEEBEAMIRSEDEN-

BRI A IR B 20155 /20164 GHNiK) &8
AIETERERBER UK20174F %2018
FEONCEa BT FEREREAEEMmER G
HEMH - MAEARERFARE AR ETE
FEE NPT M eNEFREHS
- EEGHALATHNEEBREE  EkA
TEMAENETEtMm - TNEEESE s
NERBEUREERSREELTNESS
o

HITESF

BHPFERE

Bod > Atk B2008F 4828 HEEER
TEE>B2017F10B 12BEBEEARAINE
EHRITE - BLETARRBREEEGNE
RiMEEEM B BhERMBEENEE
UERBEEE L BHEBB -+ FrHEEKR-
7198948 H E2008F 48 HARS » #E S £ FF1E) |
BUREMER E2HEEBETEUREFFBLE
BB EEI980ETARENRERTNEEN
BERNER KR NEBEARFL (o

36 CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED | 2021 ANNUAL REPORT



Profile of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Hao Xiemin

Mr. Hao, aged 40, has been an executive Director and the financial
controller of the Company since 1 January 2018. Mr. Hao has been
the financial manager of the Company since January 2012. Mr. Hao is
also a director/supervisor/financial manager of certain key subsidiaries
of the Company and is responsible for the financial reporting and
management of these subsidiaries. He has 17 years of experience in
financial management and has also previously participated in the IPO
exercise of the Company, including pre-IPO reorganisation, merger and
acquisition, corporate finance matters and operational reorganisation.
Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Hao was the financial supervisor
of the Panxi Region of the mining branch of Chuan Wei from March
2010 to January 2012, a financial supervisor in each of the financial
management department of Chuan Wei from May 2006 to March
2010 and Sichuan Longwei Metal Products Co., Ltd.* from July 2004
to April 2006, respectively. Mr. Hao has professional qualification as
an International Certified Management Accountant. Mr. Hao obtained
a bachelor’s degree in accounting from Southwestern University of
Finance and Economics in June 2004.

Mr. Wang Hu

Mr. Wang, aged 42, has been an executive Director since 1 January
2018. Mr. Wang has been the assistant to the then chairman, Mr. Jiang
Zhong Ping and is the manager of legal and compliance department
of the Company. Mr. Wang is also a director of certain key subsidiaries
of the Company and is responsible for legal and compliance matters
of these subsidiaries. Mr. Wang has 18 years of experience in legal
and compliance matters. Mr. Wang has previously participated in the
pre-IPO reorganisation and IPO exercise of the Company, including
merger and acquisition. He is responsible for the legal and compliance
matters of the Group after the listing of the Company. Prior to joining
the Company, Mr. Wang was the supervisor of legal department of
Chuan Wei from September 2003 to August 2008 and worked as a
client relationship manager in Agricultural Bank of China, Chongqging
Changshou branch* from August 2002 to September 2003. Mr. Wang
obtained a bachelor’s degree in law from Southwest University of
Political Science & Law in July 2002 and a master's degree in business
administration from Sichuan University in December 2020.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yu Haizong

Mr. Yu, aged 57, has been an independent non-executive Director since
4 September 2009. Mr. Yu is also the chairman of the audit committee
and a member of the nomination committee and the remuneration
committee of the Company. Mr. Yu was a chartered public accountant
in Sichuan Tongde Certified Accountants Firm* (formerly known as
Chengdu Xinda Certified Accountants Firm*) from 1994 to 2000, a
member of the expert panels of Land and Resources Department of
Sichuan Province and Science and Technology Department of Sichuan*.
Mr. Yu is a chartered public accountant (non-practicing) in the PRC,
a member of the Chartered Public Accountant Further Education
Committee of Sichuan Association of Chartered Public Accountants*,
and a professor, master and doctoral supervisor of the Accounting
Faculty of Southwestern University of Finance and Economics in
Chengdu, Sichuan. Mr. Yu is also the dean of the Auditing Department
at Southwestern University of Finance and Economics in Chengdu,
Sichuan.

Mr. Yu worked in the finance department of Weiyuan Steel Factory*
from July 1988 to August 1990. Mr. Yu served as an independent non-
executive director of Xinan Huaji Company Limited*, a company listed
on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange from 1998 to 2000 and he served as
an independent non-executive director of Jinyu Checheng Company
Limited* (“Jinyu Checheng”), a company listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange, and was also a member of the audit committee and
remuneration committee of Jinyu Checheng from May 2004 to June
2010. As a member of the audit committee of Jinyu Checheng, Mr. Yu's
duties included reviewing the internal control system and reviewing and
analysing financial statements of the company. Mr. Yu was an independent
non-executive director and a member of audit committee of Chengdu
Tianxing Instruments (Group) Co., Limited*, a company listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange, from June 2012 to June 2015. Mr. Yu was an
independent non-executive director and a chairman of the audit committee
of Royal China International Holdings Limited, a company listed on the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange, from February 2017 to September 2018.
Mr. Yu was an independent non-executive director of Sichuan Expressway
Company Limited (“Sichuan Expressway”), a company listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, from March
2013 to November 2019. Mr. Yu was also an independent non-executive
director of Sichuan Jiuzhou Electric Group Co., Ltd*, a company listed on
the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, from May 2013 to October 2020. Currently,
Mr. Yu is an independent non-executive director of Chengdu Haoneng
Technology Co., Ltd.* and an independent non-executive director of
HitGen Inc.,* both companies are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange.
Mr. Yu is currently an independent non-executive director, the chairman of
the nomination committee and a member of the strategic committee of
Sichuan Expressway.
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Mr. Yu received a bachelor’'s degree from Southwestern University of
Finance and Economics in Chengdu, Sichuan in economics (accounting)
in July 1988, a master’s degree in economics (accounting) in December
1992 and a doctoral degree in management (accounting) in March
2002. Through his professional qualification as a chartered public
accountant, his education background in accounting and his previous
experience as an independent non-executive director of public
companies, he meets the criteria for accounting and related financial
management expertise as required by Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

The Directors are of the view that Mr. Yu's experience in internal
controls and reviewing and analysing audited financial statements of a
public company that he gained when he was serving as a member or
chairman of the audit committees of various public companies enables
him to meet the requirements under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

Mr. Liu Yi

Mr. Liu, aged 59, has been an independent non-executive Director since
4 September 2009. Mr. Liu is also the chairman of the remuneration
committee and a member of the audit committee and the nomination
committee of the Company. Mr. Liu has been working at Sichuan
Metallurgical Design and Research Institute since July 1987, engaging in
project consulting, beneficiation process and mining design, feasibility
study and relevant engineering design work and specialising in mineral
processing engineering. His past experiences in mining design projects
include constructing iron concentrate production lines of various
capacities and mining operations planning for vanadium-bearing titano
magnetite mines. He is the deputy chief engineer and the chief project
designer of the mining engineering institute of Sichuan Metallurgical
Design and Research Institute. He is also a Work Safety Expert in
Sichuan* appointed by Department of Emergency Management of
Sichuan Province. Mr. Liu graduated from the faculty of mining resource
engineering of Xi'an Metallurgy and Architecture College*, now known
as Xi'an University of Architecture and Technology, in Shaanxi and
received a bachelor’s degree in engineering in 1987.
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Mr. Wu Wen

Mr. Wu, aged 53, has been an independent non-executive Director
since 1 November 2014. Mr. Wu is also a member of the audit
committee and the nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Wu is
a qualified lawyer in the PRC. Mr. Wu graduated from Peking University
School of Law in 1990. Mr. Wu obtained a Juris Doctor degree from
Northwestern School of Law of Lewis and Clark College in 1998. Mr.
Wu worked as an associate of Sichuan Canway Law Firm from August
1998 to May 2002 and later became a partner from February 2003 to
December 2008. Mr. Wu also worked as legal counsel in Kodak (China)
Company Limited from May 2002 to December 2002. Mr. Wu practiced
law as a partner of Tahota Law Firm from February 2009 to February
2014. Since March 2014, Mr. Wu has been a partner of Zhonglun Law
Firm. Mr. Wu is a member of the Chinese Bar Association.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping
Mr. Jiang is the chief executive officer of the Company. Details of his
biography are set out above in this section.

Mr. Hao Xiemin
Mr. Hao is the financial controller of the Company. Details of his
biography are set out above in this section.

Mr. Wang Hu
Mr. Wang is the head of legal and compliance of the Company. Details
of his biography are set out above in this section.
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The Directors hereby present their report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The activities
of its principal subsidiaries are mining and ore processing, sale of self-
produced products, trading of steels, mining facilities management
and management of strategic investments. Details of the Company’s
subsidiaries as at 31 December 2021 are set out in note 1 to the
financial statements of this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group as well as a discussion
and analysis of the Group’s performance during the year as required
by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), including a discussion of the principal risks
and uncertainties facing the Group and an indication of likely future
developments in the Group’s business, can be found in the sections
headed “Chairman’s Statement”, “"Management Discussion and
Analysis” and “Corporate Governance Report — Risk Management and
Internal Control” of this annual report. These discussions form part of
this Directors’ report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

The Articles provide that the Directors shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against
all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they
shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred
in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty; provided that
this indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or
dishonesty which may attach to any of the Directors.

A directors' and officers' liability insurance is in place to protect the
Directors and officers against potential costs and liabilities arising from
claims brought against the Directors and officers.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 105 and 106 of this annual report.
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DIVIDEND POLICY AND FINAL DIVIDEND

On 27 December 2018, the Board adopted a dividend policy that, in
recommending or declaring dividends, the Company will maintain
adequate cash reserves for meeting its working capital requirements
and future growth as well as its shareholder value. When considering
the declaration and payment of dividends, the Board will consider a
number of factors, including but not limited to the Group’s financial
results and cash flow position, the Group’s future operations and
earnings, the Group’s expected capital requirements and expansion
plans, the Group's debt to equity ratios and the debt level, any
restrictions on payment of dividends under any financial covenant
undertaken by the Group, the retained earnings and distributable
reserves of the Company and each of the members of the Group, the
Shareholders’ expectations and industry norms, and the general market
conditions.

The Board does not recommend payment of a final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2021 (FY2020: Nil).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Thursday,
23 June 2022 to Wednesday, 29 June 2022 (both days inclusive) during
which no transfer of Shares will be effected. In order to determine the
entitlement to attend and vote at the 2022 AGM, all share transfers
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company's Hong Kong branch share registrar, Computershare Hong
Kong Investor Services Limited, Shops 1712-1716, 17 Floor, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration
no later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 22 June 2022.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Additions to property, plant and equipment of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2021 amounted to approximately RMB18.3 million
(FY2020: RMB19.8 million, inclusive of RMB14.7 million attributable to
the Remaining Group). Details of the movements during the year in the
Group's property, plant and equipment are set out in note 13 to the
financial statements of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

There was no change in the authorised and issued share capital of the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2021. Details of the
movements during the year in the issued share capital of the Company
are set out in note 27 to the financial statements of this annual report.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of the movements during the year ended 31 December 2021 in
the reserves of the Group are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on page 109 of this annual report.

As at 31 December 2021, the Company’'s reserves available for
distribution to the Shareholders in accordance with the Articles were
RMB1,877.5 million.

Under the Companies Law, subject to the provision of its Articles, the
share premium account may be applied by the Company in paying
distributions or dividends to its members or in paying up unissued
shares to be issued to its members as fully paid bonus shares provided
that no distribution or dividend may be paid to members out of the
share premium account unless, immediately following the date on
which the distribution or dividend is proposed to be paid, the Company
is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

The reserves of the Company available for distribution depend on the
dividend distributable by the Company’s subsidiaries. For dividend
purposes, the amount which the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC
can legally distribute by way of a dividend is determined by reference
to their distributable profits as reflected in the PRC statutory financial
statements which are prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the PRC. These distributable profits differ
from those that are reflected in the Group's consolidated financial
statements prepared in accordance with the IFRSs.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests
of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on pages 243 to
245 of this annual report.

BANK AND OTHER LOANS

Details of the loans and borrowings of the Group are set out in note 25
to the financial statements of this annual report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
For the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, sales to the Group's

five largest customers accounted for 99.2% and 91.4% of the total
revenue of the Group, respectively, and sales to the largest customer
accounted for 91.6% and 68.4%, respectively.
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During the year, the Group's customers were highly concentrated
primarily because (i) the steels and iron products are bulk raw
materials and the customers required stable supply and (ii) the
production volumes of self-produced products were low and our pool
of target customers was small. The Group was aware of the risk of
a concentrated customer base and has entered into non-exclusive
sales agreements with several potential customers. Pursuant to the
agreements, the Group is able to sell any of our products to the
potential customers without any restrictions.

For the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, purchases from
the Group's five largest suppliers accounted for 97.3% and 81.7% of
the total purchases of the Group, respectively, and purchases from the
largest supplier accounted for 91.8% and 74.9%, respectively.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any Shareholder
(which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5.0%
of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in any
of the Group's five largest suppliers or customers.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this annual report
are as follows:

Non-executive Director
Mr. Teh Wing Kwan

Executive Directors
Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping

Mr. Hao Xiemin

Mr. Wang Hu

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Yu Haizong

Mr. Liu Yi

Mr. Wu Wen

Biographical details of the current Directors are set out in the section
headed "Profile of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 35 to
40 of this annual report.

In accordance with Articles 84(1) and 84(2) of the Articles, Messrs.
Wang Hu, Hao Xiemin and Wu Wen will retire at the 2022 AGM and,
being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the 2022 AGM.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping, an executive Director, entered into a service
contract with the Company for a term of three years commencing from
12 December 2019. Subsequently on 1 July 2021, Mr. Jiang Zhong
Ping and the Company entered into a supplemental agreement to vary
the remuneration of Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping for the period commencing
from 1 July 2021 and ending on 11 December 2022. Please refer
to the section headed “Change in Directors' and Chief Executives'
Information” below for more information on the foregoing.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the 2022 AGM has
entered into any service agreement with the Company which is not
terminable within one year without payment of compensation (other
than the statutory compensation).

REMUNERATION OF THE DIRECTORS

The remuneration of the Directors is determined with reference to the
Directors’ duties, responsibilities, performance and the results of the
Group.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors are set out in note 8 to the
financial statements of this annual report.

EMOLUMENT POLICIES

The emolument policies of the Group are based on performance,
experience, competence and market comparable. Remuneration
packages generally comprise salary, housing allowance, contribution to
pension schemes and discretionary bonus relating to the performance
of the Group.

When compared to other employees of the Group, the remuneration
packages of the Directors and senior management place a heavier
weight on their contributions to the performance of the Group. This is
achieved by way of share option schemes. The emolument policies of
the Directors and senior management are overseen by the remuneration
committee of the Company.

Details of the share option schemes are set out under the section
headed “Share Options” of this report and note 28 to the financial
statements of this annual report.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that all of the
independent non-executive Directors are independent in accordance
with the guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which (a) were required
to be notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions which were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO) or (b) were required, pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein or (c) were
required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company
and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, are as follows:

Long positions in share options granted by the
Company

Number of share options held by the Directors and chief executives of
the Company as at 31 December 2021:
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Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping Beneficial owner 8,500,000 8,500,000 0.38%
R = BEmEB A

Mr. Wang Hu Beneficial owner 800,000 800,000 0.04%
FrR&E BmEEA

Mr. Hao Xiemin Beneficial owner 100,000 100,000 0.00%*
Tl BT BEmEB A

Mr. Yu Haizong Beneficial owner 100,000 100,000 0.00%*
REBRELE BmEEA

Mr. Liu Yi Beneficial owner 100,000 100,000 0.00%*
2L BEmEB A

# Less than 0.01% # 2720.01%

The details of share options held by the Directors and chief executives
of the Company are disclosed under the section headed “Share
Options” of this report.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, so far as is known
to all the Directors and chief executives of the Company, none of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company had any interests or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) which (a) were required to be notified to the Company
and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or
(b) were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered
in the register referred to therein or (c) were required, pursuant to the
Model Code to be notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange.

SHARE OPTIONS

At the 2020 AGM, an ordinary resolution to adopt a new share option
scheme (the “2020 Option Scheme"”) was approved to ensure the
continuity of the Company's share option scheme after the expiration
of a prior share option scheme on 14 April 2020 (the “2010 Option
Scheme”). The 2020 Option Scheme has become effective for a period
of 10 years commencing on 16 June 2020. Outstanding share options
granted during the life of the 2010 Option Scheme prior to its expiry
shall continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance with the terms
of the 2010 Option Scheme.

Summary of the 2010 Option Scheme

The purposes of adopting the 2010 Option Scheme are: (i) to broaden
the scope of eligible persons to include all substantial Shareholders
and any person whom the Board considers to have contributed to the
development and growth of the Company; (ii) to provide incentive or
reward to eligible persons for their contributions to, and continuing
efforts to promote the interests of the Company; and (iii) to enable
the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre employees. The eligible
persons include directors, chief executives, substantial Shareholders or
employees (whether full time or part time) of any member of the Group
and any person who the Board considers, at its sole discretion, to have
contributed or will contribute to the development and growth of the
Group.
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The maximum aggregate number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the 2010 Option Scheme and any other share option schemes
must not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the shares of the Company in
issue from time to time. The maximum number of Shares issued and
to be issued upon exercise of the options granted and to be granted
to each eligible person under the 2010 Option Scheme and any other
share option schemes shall not in any 12-month period up to the date
of grant exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company as at
the date of grant. Any further grant of share options in excess of this
limit is subject to the Shareholders’ approval in a general meeting. The
Company had 9,600,000 share options outstanding under the 2010
Option Scheme, which represented 0.43% of the Shares in issue as at
the date of this annual report.

Any grant of options to a Director, chief executives or to a substantial
Shareholder or any of their respective associates is required to be
approved by the independent non-executive Directors (excluding
independent non-executive Directors who are the grantees of the
options). If any grant of options to a substantial Shareholder or an
independent non-executive Director or any of their respective associates
would result in the Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
options granted and to be granted to such person in the 12 months
up to and including the date of the offer of such grant: (i) representing
in aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares in issue on the date of the
offer; and (ii) having an aggregate value in excess of HKD5.0 million,
based on the closing price of the Shares as quoted on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange at the date of grant, such further grant of options is
subject to the Shareholders’ approval in a general meeting at which all
connected persons of the Company shall abstain from voting in favour
of the grant at such meeting and other requirements prescribed under
the Listing Rules from time to time.

A consideration of HKD1.0 is payable by grantees on acceptance of the
offer of the grant of an option. There is no general requirement that an
option must be held for any minimum period before it can be exercised
but the Board is empowered to impose at its absolute discretion any
such minimum period at the time of grant of any particular option.
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Upon acceptance, the date of grant of any particular option is deemed
to have taken effect from the date on which an offer is made. Any
option may be exercised according to the terms of the 2010 Option
Scheme and the offer in whole or in part by the grantee (or his/her
personal representatives) before its expiry by giving notice in writing
to the Company stating that the option is to be exercised and the
number of Shares in respect of which it is exercised. The period during
which an option may be exercised will be determined by the Board at
its absolute discretion, save that no option may be exercised more than
ten years from the date of grant. The 2010 Option Scheme was valid
and effective for a period of ten years commencing from the date of
approval of the 2010 Option Scheme. The 2010 Option Scheme has
expired on 14 April 2020 and no option may be granted thereafter.

The subscription price in relation to each option shall be determined by
the Board at its absolute discretion, but in any event shall not be less
than the highest of (i) the nominal value of the Shares; (ii) the average
closing price of the Shares as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange's
daily quotations sheets for the five trading days immediately preceding
the date of grant of the option; and (iii) the closing price of the Shares
as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
on the date of grant of the option. In the event of a grantee ceasing
to be an eligible person for any reason other than (i) by reason of
summary dismissal for misconduct or other breach of the terms of his
employment or other contract constituting him an eligible person, or
appears either to be unable to pay or to have no reasonable prospect
of being able to pay his debts or has become insolvent or has made any
arrangement or composition with his creditors generally or on which
he has been convicted of any criminal offence involving his integrity
or honesty; or (ii) by death, the option may be exercised within one
month after the date of such cessation, which date shall be (i) if he is
an employee of any member of the Group, his last actual working day
with such member of the Group whether salary is paid in lieu of notice
or not; or (ii) if he is not an employee of any member of the Group, the
date on which the relationship constituting him as an eligible person
ceases.
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Details of the share options outstanding as at 31 December 2021 which

have been granted under the 2010 Option Scheme are as follows:

Exercise price

per share
Name or category of participant Date of grant Exercise period option
SR
SEALHRHER RHAH 70 HEnER
(HKD)
(&7
Directors/chief executives
5% /BR{TBAR
Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping 23.05.2011 23.05.2013 t0 22.05.2021 3.60
H%EP;%i 23.05.2011 23.05.2013%22.05.2021
15.04.2014 15.10.2014 to 14.04.2024 1.00
15.04.2014 15.10.2014%14.04.2024
15.04.2015 t0 14.04.2024 1.00
15.04.2015%14.04.2024
15.10.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00
15.10.2015%14.04.2024
Mr. Wang Hu 23.05.2011 23.05.2013 t0 22.05.2021 3.60
IREE 23.05.2011 23.05.2013%22.05.2021
15.04.2014 15.10.2014 to 14.04.2024 1.00
15.04.2014 15.10.2014%14.04.2024
15.04.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00
15.04.2015%14.04.2024
15.10.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00
15.10.2015%14.04.2024
Mr. Hao Xiemin 15.04.2014 15.10.2014 t0 14.04.2024 1.00
iEiE G 15.04.2014 15.10.2014%14.04.2024
15.04.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00
15.04.2015%14.04.2024
15.10.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00
15.10.2015%14.04.2024
Mr. Yu Haizong 15.04.2014 15.10.2014 to 14.04.2024 1.00
BT 15.04.2014 15.10.2014%14.04.2024
15.04.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00
15.04.2015%14.04.2024
15.10.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00
15.10.2015%14.04.2024
Mr. Liu Yi 15.04.2014 15.10.2014 t0 14.04.2024 1.00
oy 15.04.2014 15.10.2014%14.04.2024
15.04.2015 t0 14.04.2024 1.00
15.04.2015%14.04.2024
15.10.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00
15.10.2015%14.04.2024
Total:
it
Notes:
1. The vesting period of the share options is from the date of grant until
the commencement of the exercise period.
2. During the year, 6,000,000 share options granted under the 2010 Option

Scheme have lapsed. There were no share options granted, exercised or

cancelled during the year.
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Number of share options

Held as at Lapsed during Held as at
01.01.2021 the year® 31.12.2021
#2021 #2021
181855 ERKH 12831858
5,000,000 (5,000,000) -
4,250,000 - 4,250,000
2,125,000 - 2,125,000
2,125,000 - 2,125,000
1,000,000 (1,000,000) -
400,000 - 400,000
200,000 - 200,000
200,000 - 200,000
50,000 - 50,000
25,000 - 25,000
25,000 - 25,000
50,000 - 50,000
25,000 - 25,000
25,000 - 25,000
50,000 - 50,000
25,000 - 25,000
25,000 - 25,000
15,600,000 (6,000,000) 9,600,000
MI5E :
1. BROHENEBHARBHEEBERTHER
BB L
2. FR o RIE20105F B #2 51 2% H 896,000,000

DRDAEDS RS - FRTERNHEER
TSR R

2021 FiR | RENKEEREFRAS 51



Directors’ Report
EEQHEE

Summary of the 2020 Option Scheme

The purposes of adopting the 2020 Option Scheme are: (i) to provide
incentive or reward to eligible persons for their contribution to, and
continuing efforts to promote the interests of, the Company; and (ii)
to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre employees. The
eligible persons include any director(s), chief executive(s) (as defined
under the Listing Rules), employee(s) (whether full time or part time)
of any member of the Group, and any substantial Shareholder(s) (as
defined under the Listing Rules), suppliers, customers, contractors,
service providers, agents, advisers, consultants, joint venture partners
and business partners, of any member of the Group, who the Board
considers, in its sole discretion, to have contributed or will contribute to
the development and growth of the Group.

The maximum aggregate number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the 2020 Option Scheme and any other share option schemes
must not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the shares of the Company in
issue from time to time. The maximum number of Shares which may
be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under all schemes
adopted by the Company, must not in aggregate exceed 224,901,541
Shares, being 10% of the total number of Shares then in issue as
at the date of adoption of the 2020 Option Scheme (the “Scheme
Mandate Limit”). Options lapsed under the 2020 Option Scheme or any
other share option schemes shall not be counted for the purpose of
calculating the Scheme Mandate Limit. The maximum number of Shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted and to be
granted to each eligible person under the 2020 Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes shall not in any 12-month period up to the
date of grant exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company as
at the date of grant. Any further grant of share options in excess of this
limit is subject to the Shareholders’ approval in a general meeting. The
Company had 224,901,541 Shares available for issue under the 2020
Option Scheme, which represented 10% of the Shares in issue as at the
date of this annual report.
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Any grant of options to a Director, chief executive or substantial
Shareholder or any of their respective associates is required to be
approved by the independent non-executive Directors (excluding
independent non-executive Directors who are the grantees of the
options). If any grant of options to a substantial Shareholder or an
independent non-executive Director or any of their respective associates
would result in the Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
options granted and to be granted to such person in the 12 months
up to and including the date of the offer of such grant: (i) representing
in aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares in issue on the date of the
offer; and (i) having an aggregate value in excess of HKD5.0 million,
based on the closing price of the Shares as quoted on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange at the date of grant, such further grant of options is
subject to the Shareholders’ approval in a general meeting at which all
connected persons of the Company shall abstain from voting in favour
of the grant at such meeting and other requirements prescribed under
the Listing Rules from time to time.

A consideration of HKD1.0 is payable by grantees on acceptance of the
offer of the grant of an option. There is no general requirement that an
option must be held for any minimum period before it can be exercised
but the Board is empowered to impose at its absolute discretion any
such minimum period at the time of grant of any particular option.

Upon acceptance, the date of grant of any particular option is deemed
to have taken effect from the date on which an offer is made. Any
option may be exercised according to the terms of the 2020 Option
Scheme and the offer in whole or in part by the grantee (or his/her
personal representatives) before its expiry by giving notice in writing to
the Company stating that the option is to be exercised and the number
of Shares in respect of which it is exercised. The period during which an
option may be exercised will be determined by the Board at its absolute
discretion, save that no option may be exercised more than ten years
from the date of grant. The 2020 Option Scheme is valid and effective
for a period of ten years commencing from the date of approval of the
2020 Option Scheme. The 2020 Option Scheme will expire on 15 June
2030 and no option may be granted thereafter.
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The subscription price in relation to each option shall be determined by
the Board at its absolute discretion, but in any event shall not be less
than the highest of (i) the nominal value of the Shares; (ii) the average
closing price of the Shares as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant of the option; and (iii) the closing price of the Shares
as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
on the date of grant of the option (which must be a business day).
In the event of a grantee ceasing to be an eligible person for any
reason other than (i) by reason of summary dismissal for misconduct
or other breach of the terms of his employment or other contract
constituting him an eligible person, or appears either to be unable to
pay or to have no reasonable prospect of being able to pay his debts
or has become insolvent or has made any arrangement or composition
with his creditors generally or on which he has been convicted of any
criminal offence involving his integrity or honesty; or (ii) by death,
the option may be exercised within one month after the date of such
cessation, which date shall be (i) if he is an employee of any member
of the Group, his last actual working day with such member of the
Group whether salary is paid in lieu of notice or not; or (ii) if he is
not an employee of any member of the Group, the date on which the
relationship constituting him as an eligible person ceases.

No share options have been granted since the adoption of the 2020
Option Scheme at the 2020 AGM.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the Company,
its parent companies or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a
party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER

PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND

UNDERLYING SHARES
To the best knowledge of the Directors or chief executives of the
Company, as at 31 December 2021, persons (other than the Directors
or chief executives of the Company) who had interests or short

positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be

disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO, or as recorded in the register required to be kept by

the Company under Section 336 of the SFO are as follows:

Long positions in Shares:

Name

2V 2

Trisonic International
TS
Kingston Grand
Kingston Grand
Mr. Wang Jin
ITHEE

Mr. Yang Xianlu
BB E

Mr. Wu Wendong
BX®EEE

Mr. Li Hesheng
FHBELE

Mr. Shi Yinjun
AIRELE

Mr. Zhang Yuangui
REERLE

Long Sino International Limited
Long Sino International Limited

Mr. Zou Hua
MEEFLE

Ms. Jiang Hua
ZEZL

mIMEEERRAE
mIMEsERRAE
Erie Investments Limited
Erie Investments Limited

Notes

1&5
155
1&5
155
1&5
155
2,3&5
235
3,48&5
3 4K5
48&5
4525

Directly
beneficially
owned

1,006,754,000

202,892,000

Through
parties acting
in concert

BB
TBALER

1,006,754,000
1,006,754,000
1,006,754,000
1,006,754,000
1,006,754,000
1,006,754,000
1,006,754,000
1,006,754,000
1,006,754,000

1,006,754,000
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MERBDESFHAERSTHRAERRM > 122021
F128318 IR IABRERMD T HEAREE
SFREEFRABEXVEE 2R B3N BIKXAM
ARBRBHANERBDRBESTRPEHFEH S
336MFRAFENE LM EmIKANAL
(ERBEFHERSITHRABRIN AOTF

RRRGEEFE

Held in
the capacity of Percentage
a person of the
having Company'’s
a security issued
interest in share
Shares Total capital
NEERR o VNG
HiRgE AL BRITRE
BHER pk Btk
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
614,080,000 614,080,000 27.30%
- 202,892,000 9.02%
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Notes:

The issued share capital of Trisonic International is held in the following
manner: 3.0% by Mr. Li Hesheng, 42.6% by Mr. Wang Jin, 7.2% by Mr.
Shi Yinjun, 7.2% by Mr. Zhang Yuangui and 40.0% by Kingston Grand.

The issued share capital of Kingston Grand is 100% held by Long Sino
International Limited.

The issued share capital of Long Sino International Limited is 100% held
by Mr. Zou Hua.

Ms. Jiang Hua is the spouse of Mr. Zou Hua.

As at 31 December 2021, 1,006,754,000 Shares were held by Trisonic
International. Since Trisonic International, Kingston Grand, Messrs.
Wang Jin, Yang Xianlu, Wu Wendong, Li Hesheng, Shi Yinjun and Zhang
Yuangui, Long Sino International Limited, Mr. Zou Hua and Ms. Jiang
Hua were parties acting in concert, each of Kingston Grand, Messrs.
Wang Jin, Yang Xianlu, Wu Wendong, Li Hesheng, Shi Yinjun and Zhang
Yuangui, Long Sino International Limited, Mr. Zou Hua and Ms. Jiang
Hua was deemed to be interested in 1,006,754,000 Shares held by
Trisonic International.

Mr. Wang Jin is a director of Trisonic International.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, the Company had
not been notified by any persons (other than the Directors or chief
executives of the Company) who had interests or short positions in the

Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the

Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO, or as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO.
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DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

In order to restrict competition activities between the Controlling
Shareholders and the Company, the Controlling Shareholders entered
into a deed of non-competition in favour of the Company dated 23
September 2009 (the “Non-Competition Deed").

The undertakings and covenants stipulated under the Non-Competition
Deed cover any business which involves ore processing and sale of
iron concentrates, iron pellets, titanium concentrates and titanium
related downstream products or any other business from time to time
conducted by any member of the Group (the “Competing Business”) in
Hong Kong, the PRC or such other part of the world where any member
of the Group carries on its business from time to time other than the
mines owned or operated by Weixi Guangfa and Yanyuan Xiwei.

Pursuant to the Non-Competition Deed, the Controlling Shareholders
having an opportunity to invest in, participate in, engage in, operate
or manage any Competing Business (the “Business Opportunity”) shall
notify the Company about such Business Opportunity in writing. The
Company shall have the first right of refusal under the same investment
terms to such Controlling Shareholders. The Controlling Shareholders
shall implement the project only if the Company has confirmed that
it has no intention to invest, participate in, engage in or operate such
Business Opportunity as approved by the Board.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than the service contracts of the Directors, the Company has not
entered into any contract with any individual, firm or body corporate to
manage or administer the whole or any substantial part of any business
of the Company during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Except for the service contracts and share option schemes as disclosed
in this annual report, there were no transactions, arrangements, or
contracts of significance in relation to the business of the Group, to
which the Company, its parent companies, its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or an entity connected
with a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contracts of significance for the provision of services to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries by a controlling shareholder (as
defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

Other than the continuing connected transactions as disclosed in
the section headed "Connected Transaction/Non-exempt Continuing
Connected Transactions" on pages 58 to 62 of this annual report,
no contracts of significance between the Company or any of its
subsidiaries and a controlling shareholder (as defined in the Listing
Rules) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year, none of the Directors had an interest in any business
constituting a competing business to the Company.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION/NON-EXEMPT
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

On 29 January 2019, Sichuan Lingyu entered into a sale and purchase
agreement in respect of the 2019 Disposal at a consideration of
RMB550.0 million with Chengyu Vanadium Titano, which was approved
by the independent Shareholders at the Shareholders' extraordinary
general meeting held on 28 June 2019. Upon the 2019 Completion,
the 2019 Disposal Group (i) ceased to be the subsidiaries of the
Company and (ii) has since become the subsidiaries of Chengyu
Vanadium Titano. As the Relevant Substantial Shareholders collectively
hold more than 30% equity interests in Chengyu Vanadium Titano,
Chengyu Vanadium Titano is a connected person of the Company
pursuant to the Listing Rules, and the 2019 Disposal constituted a
connected transaction and very substantial disposal for the Company.
Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 29 January
2019 and 30 July 2019, and the circular of the Company dated 10 June
2019 for details of the 2019 Disposal.
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Immediately upon the 2019 Completion, Chengyu Vanadium Titano
became the holding company of the 2019 Disposal Group. Each of
the 2019 Disposal Group Companies becomes a connected person
(as defined under the Listing Rules) of the Group. Accordingly, after
the 2019 Completion, certain existing ongoing transactions between
the Group and the 2019 Disposal Group have become continuing
connected transactions of the Company and the Company will comply
with the annual review and disclosure requirements in respect of the
continuing connected transactions under the Listing Rules, details of
which are set out below.

Provision of the CVT Guarantees by the Company
Prior to the 2019 Completion, the Company had provided the CVT
Guarantees in favour of certain banks and an asset management and
financial services institution in the PRC (the “Financial Institutions”)
in 2014, 2017 and 2018 respectively guaranteeing, inter alia, the
indebtedness owing by certain 2019 Disposal Group Companies to
these Financial Institutions (including but not limited to the principal,
interests, liquidated damages, compensation and other costs and
expenses payable by these 2019 Disposal Group Companies) under the
facilities granted by these Financial Institutions to these 2019 Disposal
Group Companies with the aggregate maximum guaranteed amount of
RMB730.0 million. Details of the CVT Guarantees are as follows:
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Maximum
Lender and beneficiary of guaranteed
Date of agreement Borrower the guarantee Guarantor amount
e =L fERA ERARERREA ERA EEERE
11 September 2014 Huili Caitong? China Cinda Asset Management Co.,  the Company RMB200 million
Ltd., Sichuan Branch®
201498118 gERE? MEEEEESERNERAT EN/NS AR2008ET
N IUN=I
20 June 2017 Huili Caitong®? Industrial and Commercial Bank of the Company RMB100 million
China Limited, Liangshan Branch
201768208 SEHE HEIFRTROERATDRUAT £HAF ARM100EE T
27 July 2018 Xiushuihe Mining® Industrial and Commercial Bank of the Company RMB30 million
China Limited, Liangshan Branch
2018%7H27H BIACHIEES REIFHRTRHMERATRUDT £HRF ARB30E&ETT
25 August 2017 Huili Caitong? China Construction Bank Corporation, the Company RMB400 million
Liangshan Branch
20174E8H25H GIEHEY HERRBTRABRLABRUNT RRH ARMBA0EE T
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Notes:

1. The guarantee provided by the Company in favour of China Merchant
Bank Co., Ltd, Chengdu Branch ("CMB") was created on 11 September
2014. Pursuant to the guarantee dated 11 September 2014 and entered
into between the Company and CMB, the Company granted the
guarantee in favour of CMB for the indebtedness of Huili Caitong under
the credit agreement, which was executed between Huili Caitong and
CMB on even date. By a notice of assignment of loan on 6 July 2017,
the Company was informed of the assignment by CMB of all its rights in
the credit agreement and the guarantee in favour of China Cinda Asset
Management Co., Ltd, Sichuan Branch.

2. The Relevant Substantial Shareholders collectively hold more than 30%
equity interests in Chengyu Vanadium Titano, which in turn holds 100%
of the entire issued share capital of Huili Caitong. Huili Caitong is
therefore a connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules.

3. The Relevant Substantial Shareholders collectively hold more than 30%
equity interests in Chengyu Vanadium Titano, which in turn holds 100%
of the entire issued share capital of Huili Caitong. Xiushuihe Mining is in
turn owned as to 95% by Huili Caitong. Xiushuihe Mining is therefore a
connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules.

The Company entered into the CVT Guarantees before the 2019
Completion as guarantor, so as to facilitate the 2019 Disposal Group
in obtaining credit facilities to meet its working capital requirements.
Since these Financial Institutions will only review and process
applications for the proposed release of the CVT Guarantees after the
2019 Completion, under the sale and purchase agreement in respect of
the 2019 Disposal, each of Huili Caitong and Chengyu Vanadium Titano
has undertaken to Sichuan Lingyu that it will procure the release of
the CVT Guarantees within one year after the Registration Completion
Date (or such other date that may be agreed by the parties in writing).
In order to minimise the risk of the Group under the CVT Guarantees
pending the completion of the release procedures, Chengyu Vanadium
Titano and the Company had on 30 July 2019, entered into a counter
indemnity (the “Counter Indemnity”) for the provision of counter-
indemnity by Chengyu Vanadium Titano in favour of the Company in
respect of the Group's liabilities and claims under the CVT Guarantees.
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According to the Counter Indemnity, Chengyu Vanadium Titano's
inventories (including but not limited to structural steels, coals etc.) of
approximately RMB767.0 million will be pledged as security for such
counter-indemnity. The Counter Indemnity will be effective from the
Registration Completion Date to the date of the release of the CVT
Guarantees. Upon completion of the release of the CVT Guarantees,
the Counter Indemnity will be released contemporaneously.

Other than the continuing connected transactions set out above,
in respect of which the disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules have been complied with, no contract
of significance has been entered into between the Company or any of
its subsidiaries and the substantial Shareholders during the year ended
31 December 2021.

Annual review conducted by the independent
non-executive Directors on the non-exempt
continuing connected transactions

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the above
continuing connected transactions and confirmed that such transactions
were entered into:

o in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
o on normal commercial terms; and
o in accordance with the relevant agreements governing the

relevant transactions on terms that were fair and reasonable and
in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

Annual review conducted by the auditor of

the Company on the non-exempt continuing
connected transactions

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group's
continuing connected transactions in accordance with the Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The
Company's auditor has issued their unqualified letter containing
their findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected
transactions disclosed by the Group in this annual report in accordance
with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has
been provided by the Company to the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.
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The auditor of the Company has reviewed the continuing connected
transactions mentioned above and confirmed to the Board that:

o nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe
that the disclosed continuing connected transactions have not
been approved by the Board;

° for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by
the Group, nothing has come to their attention that causes
them to believe that the transactions were not entered into, in
all material respects, in accordance with the pricing policies of
the Group;

° nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe
that the transactions were not entered into, in all material
respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements governing
such transactions; and

o nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe
that the amount of each of the transactions has exceeded its
specific amount mentioned above.

The Company confirms that the execution and performance of
the specific agreements in respect of above continuing connected
transactions during the year ended 31 December 2021 were in
compliance with the pricing principles of such continuing connected
transactions.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee with written terms of
reference in compliance with the CG Code.

The primary duties of the audit committee are to review and supervise
the financial reporting process and internal control procedures.

The audit committee currently comprises three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Yu Haizong (Chairman), Mr. Liu Yi and
Mr. Wu Wen.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the audit committee has
reviewed: (i) the audited consolidated financial statements and annual
results announcement of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2020 and (ii) the consolidated financial statements and interim results
announcement of the Group for the six months ended 30 June 2021;
and (iii) the risk management and internal control system of the Group.
Details of the risk management and internal control of the Group are
set out on pages 87 to 93 of this annual report.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a remuneration committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with the CG Code.

The remuneration committee currently comprises two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Liu Yi (Chairman) and Mr. Yu Haizong
and one executive Director, namely Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a nomination committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with the CG Code.

The nomination committee currently comprises one non-executive
Director, namely Mr. Teh Wing Kwan (Chairman), one executive
Director, namely Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping and three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Yu Haizong, Mr. Liu Yi and Mr. Wu
Wen.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions relating to pre-emptive rights over the Shares
under the Articles.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of conduct
for dealing in securities of the Company by the Directors. Having made
specific enquiries to all the Directors, all the Directors confirmed that
they have complied with the required standard of dealings as set out in
the Model Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2021.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has adopted the CG Code. Throughout the year ended
31 December 2021, the Company has complied with all applicable
code provisions as set out in the CG Code with the exception of code
provision A.4.1, as further explained in the Corporate Governance
Report. The Company will continue to review and monitor its corporate
governance practices in order to ensure compliance with the CG
Code (including the amendments thereto which came into effect on 1
January 2022).

For details of the Corporate Governance Report, please refer to pages
68 to 96 of this annual report.
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CHANGE IN DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVES' INFORMATION

In respect of the service contract entered into by and between the
Company and Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping on 12 December 2019, the
Company and Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping had on 1 July 2021 entered into
a supplemental agreement (the “Supplemental Agreement”) to vary
the remuneration of Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping for the period commencing
from 1 July 2021 and ending on 11 December 2022 under such service
contract. Pursuant to the Supplemental Agreement, the remuneration
of Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping for the period commencing from 1 July
2021 and ending on 11 December 2022 has been adjusted from
RMB150,000 per annum (pro-rated accordingly and payable in RMB
and/or HKD equivalents) to RMB1 per annum (pro-rated accordingly and
payable in RMB and/or HKD equivalents).

Mr. Yu Haizong was an independent non-executive director of Sichuan
Expressway Company Limited (”Sichuan Expressway”), a company listed
on the Shanghai Stock Exchange and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange,
from March 2013 to November 2019. In May 2021, Mr. Yu Haizong
was re-appointed and currently remains an independent non-executive
director of Sichuan Expressway, the chairman of the nomination
committee and a member of the strategic committee of Sichuan
Expressway.

Save as disclosed above, there is no change in Directors’ and chief
executives’ information which is required to be disclosed pursuant to
Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2021, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken by the Group in
the ordinary course of business are set out in note 35 to the financial
statements of this annual report. The Company has complied with
the applicable requirements under the Listing Rules for those related
party transactions which constituted connected transaction/continuing
connected transactions under the Listing Rules, as disclosed in the
section headed “Connected Transaction/Non-exempt Continuing
Connected Transactions” on pages 58 to 62 of this annual report. Save
for the abovementioned, other related party transactions as set out in
note 35 to the financial statement either did not constitute connected
transactions/continuing connected transactions or constituted
connected transactions/continuing connected transactions but were
exempted from all disclosure and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under the Listing Rules.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the publicly available information and to the best of the
Directors’ knowledge, information and belief and as at the date of this
annual report, the Company has maintained sufficient public float as
required under the Listing Rules.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, SUPPLIERS
AND CUSTOMERS

()

(i)

Employees

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had a total of 127
dedicated full time employees, representing a decrease of
approximately 8.0% as compared to previous year under
comparable basis. Almost all of the Group's employees are
based in the PRC. The employee turnover rate for the year was
approximately 18.9%. The total full time employees included
50 female employees and 77 male employees, of which 20
employees were aged 30 or below, 47 employees were aged
between 31 and 40, 48 employees were aged between 41 and
50, and 12 employees were aged 51 or above. Management
maintained good communications with the employees
and encouraged feedback from them. The proper training
programmes were implemented in order to promote employees’
career development and progression within the Group. The
Group evaluated the employees' performance regularly, and
promotions and further training were provided when necessary.

Suppliers

During the year, the Group's suppliers mainly consisted of
mining contractors, transportation contractors, suppliers of
production-related materials and trading companies. The Group
selected the suppliers based on various criteria, including but
not limited to qualifications and reputation. The Group has
established a long-term relationship with the major mining
contractor for more than 9 years, the transportation contractors
for more than 7 years, and both the suppliers of production
related materials and trading companies for more than 7
years. The Group has continued to maintain sound business
relationships with major suppliers, and no incidents that will
adversely affect the Group's product supply have occurred
during the year.
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(iii) Customers

During the vyear, sales to the Group's five largest customers
accounted for 99.2% of the total revenue. The Group
maintained good relationships with the customers who required
stable supply for these bulk raw materials, such customers being
distributors and trading companies. The Group has established
long-term relationships with the customers for 6 to 8 years. The
trading of steels contributed 92.1% of the total revenue of the
Remaining Group.

Please refer to the financial statements of this annual report for
more details of the Group's trading terms with its customers as
set out in note 19 to the financial statements.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE
The Company has always been closely communicating with its
stakeholders, actively responding to their needs, and taking those into
consideration during the corporate strategy formulation and decision-
making process. The Company sees sustainable development as the key
for a corporation to succeed and therefore, it aims to seek a win-win
situation for the Group, society and the environment by balancing the
creation of economic value and the impact on the environment.

The Group strictly complies with various national environmental
protection laws and regulations. It has implemented a series of
measures to alleviate environmental impacts of ore mining, processing
and transporting. The Group has established rules for pollutant control
and waste disposal, including the proper way of handling airborne
dust, waste oil, noise, mine rocks and tailings generated during ore
mining and the promotion of waste recycling. The Group has also
brought in new equipment to improve resource use efficiency and built
tailings pond to control ecological impact and improve water resources
recycling; electricity consumption has been reduced by improving
the Group’s facilities and technologies and increasing the proportion
of new energy purchases such as hydropower, thereby controlling
greenhouse gas emission. The Group supports green operations and
encourages its employees to adopt environmentally friendly working
habits. For further information about the Company’s environmental
performance during the year, please refer to the Company’s separate
Environmental, Social and Governance Report to be issued by the
Company. The report will be available on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange's website (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company's website
after its publication.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group and its activities are subject to requirements under various
laws. In addition, the Listing Rules also apply to the Company. The
relevant PRC laws which had a material implication or impact on the
operations of the Group during the year include, among others, the
Work Safety Law of the PRC*, Labour Law of the PRC*, Environmental
Protection Law of the PRC*, Land Administration Law of the PRC*,
Environmental Impact Assessment Law of the PRC*, Mineral Resources
Law of the PRC*, Law of the PRC on Safety in Mines*, Law of the
PRC on Water and Soil Conservation*, Law of the PRC on Wholly
Foreign-Owned Enterprises* and Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income
Tax* and the applicable regulations, guidelines and policies issued or
promulgated under or in connection with these laws.

The Company seeks to ensure compliance with these requirements
through various measures such as internal controls, trainings and
oversight of various business units at different levels of the Group.
The Group highly values the importance of ensuring compliance with
applicable legal and regulatory requirements.

During the year, as far as the Company is aware, there was no material
breach of or non-compliance with applicable laws, rules and regulations
by the Group that have a significant impact on the business and
operations of the Group.

AUDITOR
The Company appointed Ernst & Young as auditor of the Company for

the year ended 31 December 2021. A resolution will be proposed for
approval by the Shareholders at the 2022 AGM to re-appoint Ernst &
Young as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Teh Wing Kwan
Chairman

29 March 2022
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The Company has adopted the CG Code as its own code of corporate
governance. The Directors consider that during the year ended 31
December 2021, the Company has complied with the code provisions
under the CG Code, except for the then effective code provision
A4.10,

The then effective code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code stipulates that
non-executive directors should be appointed for a specific term, subject
to re-election. Mr. Teh Wing Kwan, being a non-executive Director, is
not appointed for a specific term. This constitutes a deviation from
code provision A.4.1. However, as Mr. Teh Wing Kwan’s appointment
is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election by the Shareholders
at the annual general meetings of the Company in accordance with the
Articles, the Directors are of the opinion that this meets the objective
of the CG Code. Mr. Teh Wing Kwan was re-elected as a non-executive
Director at the 2021 AGM.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any other
information that reasonably reveals that there is any non-compliance
with or deviation from applicable code provisions on corporate
governance practices set out in the CG Code by the Company anytime
during the Reporting Period. The Company will continue to review
and monitor its corporate governance practices in order to ensure
compliance with the New CG Code which came into effect on 1
January 2022.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of conduct
for dealing in securities of the Company by the Directors. Having made
specific enquiries to all the Directors, all the Directors confirmed that
they have complied with the required standard of dealings as set out in
the Model Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2021.

m The CG Code has been amended (the "New CG Code"), which will apply
to corporate governance reports for financial year commencing on or
after 1 January 2022. The then effective code provision A.4.1 has been
deleted from the New CG Code.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board currently comprises a combination of executive Directors,
a non-executive Director and independent non-executive Directors.
At least one of the independent non-executive Directors possesses
appropriate professional qualifications (or accounting or related
financial management expertise) as required by the Listing Rules. This
provides a healthy professional relationship between the Board and
senior management in the process of formulating business strategies
for the Group. The Board is also supported by other key committees to
provide independent oversight of management. These key committees
are the audit committee, remuneration committee and nomination
committee and are made up of a majority of independent non-executive
Directors. As at the date of this annual report, the composition and
committees of the Board are as follows:

Board member

BEEEHNE

Non-executive Director
ERITES

Mr. Teh Wing Kwan

BB RS

Executive Directors
HITES

Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping
BT

Mr. Hao Xiemin
e

Mr. Wang Hu
FEEE

Independent non-executive Directors
BIFEHRITES

Mr. Yu Haizong

REBREE

Mr. Liu Yi

BTt

Mr. Wu Wen

L3¢ ks

Notes:

C: Chairman
M: Member

Biographical details of the above Directors are set out in the section
headed "Profile of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 35 to
40 of this annual report.

EEG

EXERFAPTES FFRTESERBIUF
RTEFHEM -ED—RBIUFRATESFTHES
LEHRAUNERNBEEXRER (A ETHEEH
BEBEEMNH) - BN ESTESREE
[EHIEAREBMERRERERS RFMEERRR
F-BEFENBINHEMIEZE SRR BUS
BEEEFEHE -ZETELEEREREEE H
MEEERRELREZEE TERBIUIFNTE
BN -NAFREAN EFENEMKEET
LI

Audit Remuneration Nomination

committee committee committee

BREEY FNEEE RHEZEY
- - C
- M M
C M M
M C M
M - M

M -

C FE

M &

T EENEEEBHNAFRFEISEFIOR
NEERSREEBENI—H-
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Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping, an executive Director, entered into a service
contract (as supplemented by the Supplemental Agreement) with the
Company for a term of three years commencing from 12 December
2019. Each of Mr. Hao Xiemin and Mr. Wang Hu, each being an
executive Director, entered into a service contract with the Company
for a term of three years commencing from 1 January 2020. The
appointment of each of the executive Directors may be terminated in
accordance with the terms and conditions of their respective service
contracts and/or by either party to the service contract giving to the
other party not less than three months’ prior notice in writing.

Mr. Yu Haizong and Mr. Liu Yi, each an independent non-executive
Director, entered into a new letter of appointment with the Company
for a term of three years commencing from 8 October 2020. Mr. Wu
Wen, an independent non-executive Director, entered into a new
letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from 1 November 2020. The appointment of each of the
independent non-executive Directors is subject to termination in certain
circumstances as stipulated in the relevant letters of appointment.

Mr. Teh Wing Kwan, the chairman and non-executive Director, has
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company on 26 July 2017
pursuant to which his appointment is subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at the annual general meetings of the Company in
accordance with the Articles. The appointment of Mr. Teh is terminable
by either party to the letter of appointment by giving the other party
not less than two months' prior notice in writing.

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
that all of the independent non-executive Directors are independent in
accordance with the guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.
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The key roles of the Board are:

° to guide the overall development, corporate strategies and
directions of the Group, approve the Board policies, strategies
and financial objectives of the Group and monitor the
performance of management;

o to ensure effective management leadership of the highest
quality and integrity;

° to approve major funding proposals and investments; and
. to provide overall insight in the proper conduct of the Group's
business.

The Board has delegated certain functions to the relevant Board
committees, details of which are disclosed below. Day-to-day
management of the Group’s business is delegated to the management
of the Company under the supervision of the executive Directors. The
functions and powers that are so delegated are reviewed periodically to
ensure that they remain appropriate.

During the year, the Company held four regular Board meetings for
reviewing and approving the financial and operating performance,
considering the overall strategies and policies of the Group. Sufficient
notice convening the Board meeting was dispatched to the Directors
setting out the matters to be discussed. All the Directors were given an
opportunity to include matters in the agenda for the Board meeting and
had access to the company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”) to ensure that all board procedures and all applicable rules
and regulations were followed. The Board also enabled the Directors
to seek independent professional advice at the Company’s expense
in appropriate circumstances. At the meetings, the Directors were
provided with the relevant documents to be discussed and approved.
The Company Secretary was responsible for keeping minutes for the
Board meetings.
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During the year, the Company held one general meeting. The following FR RABRBIT—RREREARG - REE20214F
is the attendance record of the meetings held by the Board, audit RANBIEFERTNEES - EREES H
committee, remuneration committee, nomination committee and the MEEET RLZEGRREARGHNHEL R
general meeting during the year ended 31 December 2021: W

Number of meeting(s) attended/Number of meeting(s) held

HESERY BTERRY

Audit Remuneration Nomination

Board committee committee committee General
Name of Director meeting meeting meeting meeting meeting
EEns BEXgE2 BRZEYER FNZEEER RRZEEEE REXE
Non-executive Director
FHITES
Mr. Teh Wing Kwan 4/4 - - 11 11
WoxERE
Executive Directors
HITES
Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping 4/4 - 2/2 1”71 1”7
BTt
Mr. Hao Xiemin 4/4 - - - 11
A EE
Mr. Wang Hu 4/4 - - - 11
FREE
Independent non-executive Directors
BUFHRITES
Mr. Yu Haizong 4/4 2/2 2/2 1/1 11
REREE
Mr. Liu Yi 4/4 2/2 2/2 1/1 171
B ot
Mr. Wu Wen 4/4 2/2 - 1/1 171
BxEsE
DIRECTORS’ TRAINING EEE
According to code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code (which is code BiIEEFRNSFAESCA.6.5 (BIF & <FA!

provision C.1.4 under the New CG Code), all directors should BFAMEXC1.4) FTEEEE2HFTESE
participate in continuous professional development to develop and ERERCBRUEMANM RS URFRAEES
refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contributions to TEE2EENARTEMENBRLATHESS
the board remain informed and relevant. EHER

All the Directors have been provided with training on their duties and TRESCDEREHABMEFEA LT ARESN
responsibilities as a director of a listed company and the compliance BEERBEUR EHRAGHREENFN &
issues under the Listing Rules. The Company continuously updates the NAFEREEREEHE MR KEMER
Directors on the latest developments regarding the Listing Rules and EERETNEMZER UBRRESETZER
other applicable regulatory requirements, to ensure their compliance A REEREHRTEEERERNTH -
and enhance their awareness of good corporate governance practices.
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All the Directors had provided the Company with their respective
training records pursuant to the CG Code. During the year, all the
Directors have participated in appropriate continuous professional
development by way of reading materials relevant to the Group's
business or to Directors’ duties and responsibilities.

The individual training record of each Director during the year ended 31
December 2021 is set out below:

Non-executive Director
ERITES

Mr. Teh Wing Kwan

BBk ST

Executive Directors
BITES

Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping
PR

Mr. Hao Xiemin

T 5 G S £

Mr. Wang Hu
FREE

Independent non-executive Directors
BIUERTES

Mr. Yu Haizong

RBRAEE

Mr. Liu Vi

B EE

Mr. Wu Wen

EXEE

Notes:

(1) Reading relevant materials and updates relating to the Listing Rules and
other applicable regulatory requirements and matters of relevance to the
Directors in the discharge of their duties; and

(2) Reading news, journals, magazines and/or other reading materials
regarding legal and regulatory changes and matters of relevance to the
Directors in the discharge of their duties.

2REEFERBELETIRALILXTRHUBES
BREIICER - FR 2EEFHIEBRELELR
EEEBHEFTHEARETAFNER 24
BENFBEEXLE R

REZE2021F12A31BLEEE  FEFWEA

I EE ST

Training received

22 E

(1) and (2
(M2

— —

(1) and (2)
(1)5(2)
(1) and (2)
(Mk(2)
(1) and (2)
(Mk(2)

(1) and (2)
(Mk(2)
(1) and (2)
(Mk(2)
(1) and (2)
(1)5(2)

THHSMEMN EHRILUKR
MERBENMEREHER
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Aﬁ@&gﬂm%% AT B3RS
BEEMT o
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

The roles of the Company’s chairman and the chief executive are
segregated. Mr. Teh Wing Kwan is the chairman of the Board who is
primarily responsible for managing the Board and acting in the best
interests of the Group and the Shareholders, while Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping
is the chief executive officer of the Company who takes charge of the
supervision of the execution of the policies determined by the Board.

The chairman chairs the Board meetings and briefs the Board members
on the issues discussed at the Board meetings. The chairman also
ensures that the Board members work together with the management
with the capability and authority to engage management in
constructive views on various matters, including strategic issues and
business planning processes.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF THE
DIRECTORS

According to the Articles, at each annual general meeting, one-third
of the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation or, if the number
is not a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less
than one-third shall retire from the office and shall be eligible for re-
election. The Directors to be retired by rotation shall be those who have
been longest in office since their last appointment or re-election. Every
Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting
at least once every three years. Any other appointment, resignation,
removal or re-designation of Director will be timely disclosed to the
Shareholders by announcement and such announcement shall include
the reasons given by the Director for his resignation.

The Board selects and recommends candidates for directorship with
regard to the balance of skills and experience appropriate for the
Group's business.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee with written terms

of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The audit committee

currently comprises three independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Yu
Haizong (Chairman), Mr. Liu Yi and Mr. Wu Wen. The audit committee’s
main functions are:

to be responsible for the relationship with the Company’s
external auditor, including making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the
external auditor, and to approve the remuneration and terms
of engagement of the external auditor, and any questions of its
resignation or dismissal;

to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards and to develop and
implement policy on the engaging of an external auditor to
supply non-audit services;

to monitor the integrity of the financial statements and annual/
interim reports and quarterly reports (if prepared for publication)
and to review significant financial reporting judgments
contained in them; and

to oversee the Group's financial reporting system, risk
management and internal control systems.

During the year, the audit committee held two meetings and performed
the following major tasks:

76

reviewed the audited consolidated financial statements and
annual results announcement of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2020, and reviewed the consolidated financial
statements and interim results announcement of the Group for
the six months ended 30 June 2021,

reviewed the changes in accounting standards and assessed
their potential impact on the financial statements;
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o reviewed the Company’s external auditor’'s qualifications,
independence and performance;

o reviewed the Company’s external auditor’s statutory audit plan,
audit scope and engagement letters; and

J assisted the Board to evaluate on the adequacy and
effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems
of the Group and financial reporting procedures.

The Group has established an independent internal audit function
which directly reports to the audit committee. The internal audit
personnel will attend the audit committee meetings and report on
internal audit matters annually. If there is any material internal control
defect, the internal audit personnel directly reports to the audit
committee without limitation. The audit committee assists the Board
in monitoring the risk exposure, design and operating effectiveness
of the relevant risk management and internal control systems. The
audit committee will report to the Board after properly reviewing the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the audit committee has
reviewed the risk management and internal control systems and the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal audit function. Details of the
risk management and internal control of the Group are set out on
pages 87 to 93 of this annual report.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a remuneration committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The remuneration
committee currently comprises two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Liu Yi (Chairman) and Mr. Yu Haizong and one
executive Director, namely Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping.

The remuneration committee’s main functions are:

o to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior management’s
remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;
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to review and approve performance-based remuneration with
reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the
Board from time to time;

to determine, with delegated responsibilities, the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors or senior
management, which should include benefits in kind, pension
rights and compensation payments, including any compensation
payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment;

to consider the granting of share options to Directors, chief
executives, substantial Shareholders or employees of any
member of the Group and any person who has contributed or
will contribute to the development and growth of the Group
pursuant to the share option schemes adopted by the Company;

to ensure that no Director or any of his associates is involved in
deciding his own remuneration; and

to review and approve the interim reports, annual reports,
announcements and circulars or any publication of the Company
regarding information on the remuneration and service contracts
of the Directors prior to approval by the Board.

During the year, the remuneration committee held two meetings, at

which the members of the remuneration committee:

78

determined the policy for the remuneration of the Directors and
reviewed the remuneration packages of the Directors;

assessed the performance of the Directors; and

considered and approved the terms of the Directors' service
agreements.
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The remuneration paid/payable to senior management (comprising

Directors) for the year ended 31 December 2021 by band is set out

below:

Name of Director

Remuneration band

Director's fee

B3ty R ik
%

Non-executive Director

FHTES

Mr. Teh Wing Kwan* HKD1,000,000 - 1,500,000 100

BRERE 1,000,000 - 1,500,000 7

Executive Directors

BirEs

Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping RMB nil - 200,000 43

EoTrt ARIEZ - 2000007

Mr. Hao Xiemin RMB200,000 - 500,000 50

ik AR 200,000 - 500,007

Mr. Wang Hu RMB200,000 - 500,000 52

FRAE AE#200,000 - 500,0007¢

Independent non-executive Directors

BiUFRITES

Mr. Yu Haizong RMB nil - 200,000 100

REREE ARHZE - 200,007

Mr. Liu Yi RMB nil - 200,000 100

b g ARIEZ -200,0007

Mr. Wu Wen RMB nil - 200,000 100

RNR4E ARIEZ -200,0007

# Mr. Teh Wing Kwan received approximately 30% of director's fees

during the Reporting Period and has voluntarily deferred the receipt of

the remaining outstanding balances payable by the Company and/or its

subsidiary.
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REE2021F12831BLEEE BN BN S
HEREAE (BHEES) NHFNSEEINT

Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme
inkind  Share options  contributions Total
e EER
BWEN RIpME BAESHALR Bt
% % % %
- - - 100
49 - 8 100
45 - 5 100
43 - 5 100
- - - 100
- - - 100
- - - 100
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a nomination committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The nomination
committee currently comprises the non-executive Director, Mr. Teh Wing
Kwan (Chairman), one executive Director, namely Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping,
and three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Yu Haizong,
Mr. Liu Yi and Mr. Wu Wen.

The nomination committee’s main functions are:

o to review the structure, size, composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) and diversity (including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least
annually and make recommendations on any proposed changes
to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

o to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the Board on
the selection of individuals nominated for directorships with due
regard to the nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”) and
the board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) of the
Company and other factors which are relevant to the Company;

o to develop and formulate the Nomination Policy and the Board
Diversity Policy for the Board’s consideration and approval;

° to discuss any revisions to the Nomination Policy and the
Board Diversity Policy that may be required, and recommend
such revisions to the Board for the Board’s consideration and
approval;

° to review, implement and monitor, as appropriate, the
Nomination Policy and the Board Diversity Policy;

o to review measurable objectives that the Board has set for
implementing any of the Nomination Policy and the Board
Diversity Policy, and monitor the progress on achieving such
objectives;

° to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors with reference to, inter alia, the factors set out in the
Listing Rules and any other factors deemed appropriate by the
nomination committee or the Board and assess their ability to
devote sufficient time to the Board and Board committees;
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o to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of the Directors and succession planning for the
Directors, in particular the chairman and chief executive;

o to develop the criteria for identifying and assessing the
qualifications of and evaluating candidates for directorship; and

o to keep under review the leadership needs of the organisation,
both executive and non-executive, with a view to ensuring the
continued ability of the organisation to compete effectively in
the market place.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board Diversity Policy is concerned with achieving sustainable and
balanced development and increasing diversity at the Board level as an
essential element in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives
and its sustainable development. In this regard, the nomination
committee has considered the measurable objectives set out in the
Board Diversity Policy, which are to ensure that candidates of the Board
are considered based on a range of diversity perspectives, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service. All Board appointments will be based on merit and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard to
the benefits of diversity on the Board. The nomination committee is
responsible for reviewing the Board Diversity Policy, as appropriate, to
ensure the effectiveness of such policy and will discuss any revisions
that may be required and recommend any such revisions to the Board
for consideration and approval.

Currently, the Board consists of seven members, including three
executive Directors, one non-executive Director and three independent
non-executive Directors who are of different ethnicities and with
professional experience and qualifications in various aspects, such as
steel industry, financial management, law, compliance, accounting
and mining. Having regard to the composition of the Board and
the measurable objectives, the Company considers that the Board
composition is sufficiently diversified in terms of balance of skills and
experience, which are desirable for the effective management and
sustainable development of the Company.
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During the year, the nomination committee held one meeting, at which

the members of the nomination committee:

reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of the
Directors;

evaluated the performance and contribution of the retiring
Directors; and

assessed the independence of the retiring independent non-
executive Directors.

Nomination Policy
The Nomination Policy applies to the Directors and where applicable,

senior management prepared for Board positions under the succession

planning of the Company. The Nomination Policy sets out the following

key nomination criteria and procedures, among others, as follows:

(1)

82

Nomination criteria
In evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the
following criteria should be considered:

(i) character and integrity;

(i) qualifications including professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and experience, and diversity aspects
under the Board Diversity Policy that are relevant to the
Company's business and corporate strategy;

(iii) any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity
on the Board;

(iv) requirement for the Board to have independent non-
executive Directors in accordance with the Listing
Rules and whether the candidate would be considered
independent with reference to the independence
guidelines set out in the Listing Rules;

(v) any potential contributions the candidate can bring to
the Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,
independence and gender diversity;
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(vi) willingness and ability to devote adequate time to
discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or Board
committee(s) of the Company;

(vii)  such other perspectives that are appropriate to the
Company's business and succession plan and where
applicable, may be adopted and/or amended by the
Board and/or the nomination committee from time
to time for nomination of directors and succession
planning; and

(viii)  such other factors set out in terms of reference of the
nomination committee.

Nomination procedures

(a) Appointment of new Directors

(i) The nomination committee identifies individual(s)
suitably qualified to become Board members
based on its assessment on the character,
biographical information and other relevant
details of such individual(s), having due regard
to the Nomination Policy and the Board Diversity
Policy, and assesses the independence of the
proposed independent non-executive Director(s)
as appropriate;

(i) If the nomination committee has identified more
than one individual who are suitably qualified
for directorship based on the above assessment,
the nomination committee should rank them by
order of preference based on the needs of the
Company and reference check of each individual
(where applicable);

(iii) The nomination committee makes recommendation(s)
to the Board;

(iv) The Board considers the individual(s) recommended
by the nomination committee, having due regard
to the assessment of the nomination committee,
the Nomination Policy and the Board Diversity
Policy;

(2)
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(v)

(vi)

The Board confirms the appointment of the
individual(s) as Director(s) or recommends the
individual(s) to stand for election at a general
meeting. Individual(s) appointed by the Board
to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to
the Board will be subject to re-election by the
Shareholders in accordance with the Articles; and

The Shareholders approve the election of
individual(s), who stand(s) for election at general
meeting, as Director(s).

(b) Re-appointment of retiring Directors

0]

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

The nomination committee considers each retiring
Director based on its review of each retiring
Director's overall contribution, services to the
Company, and the level of participation and
performance on the Board, having due regard
to the Nomination Policy and the Board Diversity
Policy, and assesses the independence of each
retiring independent non-executive Director;

The nomination committee makes recommendation(s)
to the Board;

The Board considers each retiring Director
recommended by the nomination committee,
having due regard to the nomination committee's
review of each retiring Director, the Nomination
Policy and the Board Diversity Policy;

The Board recommends the retiring Director(s)
to stand for re-election at the annual general
meeting in accordance with the Articles; and

The Shareholders approve the re-election of
Director(s) at the annual general meeting.

(b)
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(3)

(4

The Board shall have the ultimate responsibility for all
matters relating to the selection and appointment of
Directors. Where the Board proposes a resolution to
elect or re-elect a candidate as Director at a general
meeting, the relevant information of the candidate
will be disclosed in the circular to Shareholders and/or
explanatory statement accompanying the notice of the
relevant general meeting in accordance with the Listing
Rules and/or other applicable laws and regulations.

Principles considered by the nomination committee
In carrying out its responsibilities, the nomination committee
should give adequate consideration to the following principles:

(a)

in relation to Board composition — the Board should
have a balance of skills, experience, diversity of
gender and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
Company's business. It should ensure that changes to its
composition can be managed without undue disruption.
It should include a balanced composition of executive
and non-executive Directors (including independent non-
executive Directors) so that there is a strong independent
element on the Board, which can effectively enhance
decision making capability of the Board. Non-executive
Directors should be of sufficient calibre and number for
their views to carry weight; and

in relation to appointments, re-election and removal —
there should be a formal, considered and transparent
procedure for the appointment of new Directors. There
should be plans in place for orderly succession for
appointments. All Directors should be subject to re-
election at regular intervals. The Company must explain
the reasons for the resignation or removal of any
Director.

Regular review

The nomination committee will conduct regular reviews on the

structure, size and composition of the Board, the Board Diversity
Policy, and the Nomination Policy and where appropriate, make
recommendations on changes to the Board to complement the
Company's corporate strategy and business needs.

(3)

(4)
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for performing the duties on corporate
governance functions as set out below:

o to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations;

o to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management;

o to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance and legal and regulatory requirements;

o to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and the
Directors; and

o to review the Company's compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report.

During the year, the Board held four meetings, at which the Board
considered and discussed, among other things, the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and legal and regulatory
compliance, training and continuous professional development of the
Directors, as well as the Company's compliance with the CG Code.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the remuneration paid/payable
in relation to assurance services (excluding out-of-pocket expenses and
value added tax) by the Group to the Company’s external auditor, Ernst
& Young, is approximately RMB2,130,000.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND GOING
CONCERN STATEMENT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements for each financial period, which give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and
cash flows for that period. The Company deploys appropriate and
sufficient resources to prepare audited accounts. Senior management
is required to present and explain the financial reporting and matters
that materially affect or may have material impact on the financial
performance and operations of the Group to the audit committee
and the Board and respond to the queries and concerns raised by the
audit committee and the Board to their satisfaction. The consolidated
financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the IFRSs
and the disclosure requirements of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter
622 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

As at 31 December 2021, the Directors are not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions which may cast significant
doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
Accordingly, the Directors have prepared the financial statements of the
Company on a going-concern basis.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining a sound risk management and
internal control systems of the Group and reviewing their effectiveness.
The audit committee assists the Board in monitoring the risk exposure,
design and operating effectiveness of the relevant risk management
and internal control systems. The audit committee will report to the
Board after properly reviewing the effectiveness of the Group's risk
management and internal control systems.

The Group established an independent internal audit function which
directly reports to the audit committee. The internal audit personnel
will attend the audit committee meetings and report on internal
audit matters annually. If there is any material internal control defect,
the internal audit personnel directly reports to the audit committee
without limitation. Further, the Group appointed an international
advisory firm as an external advisor in August 2020 to provide internal
control services under a two-year rotation plan based on a risk-based
methodology.
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Under the supervision of the Board, the management of the Group
is responsible for designing and implementing the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems. The Group has set up three
lines of defense for risk management. As the first line of defense, the
business units (e.g., sales department and production department) are
responsible for identifying and assessing business risks and developing
risk mitigation measures. As the second line of defense, the functional
departments (e.g.,
are responsible for assisting the business units in improving the risk
management and monitoring the effectiveness of risk management. As
the third line of defense, the internal audit function assists the Board
and the audit committee to review the effectiveness of the Group's risk
management and internal control systems.

compliance department and finance department)

As and when required during the year, the management convened
meetings which were chaired by the senior management with
attendants including managers from subsidiaries and department
heads from the headquarters. The Group’s decisions on operations,
implementation of investment projects, financial issues, and the
updates on risk management and internal control were considered and
determined at these meetings. The management convened annual and
interim work meetings in order to assign and review works on a yearly
basis and half yearly basis, respectively. The meetings have facilitated
the organisation, co-ordination, communication and supervision on the
commencement and implementation of the Group's various operations,
as well as the risk management and internal control systems.

The Group acknowledges its responsibilities under the SFO and the
Listing Rules and the overriding principle that inside information should
be announced immediately when it is the subject of a decision. The
procedures and internal controls for the handling and dissemination of
inside information include:

° the Company has established a sensitive information disclosure
policy, which specified the information disclosure process,
the confidentiality requirements of the undisclosed sensitive
information, and the confidentiality obligations of the
employees of the Group;

o the access of information is restricted to a limited number of
employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are in
possession of inside information are fully conversant with their
obligations to preserve confidentiality;

° confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group enters
into significant negotiations;
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o the executive Directors are designated persons who speak on
behalf of the Company when communicating with external
parties such as the media, analysts or investors;

. the service contracts of the Directors, senior management and
the employees of the Group specify the confidentiality clauses;
and

o the legal advisors of the Company regularly provide relevant

training to the Board and senior management.

Risk Management

The Board has established an enterprise risk management mechanism
according to the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of the
Treadway Commission’s Enterprise Risk Management Framework. The
Board has established risk management policies and measures on the
procedures of risk identification, evaluation, reporting and mitigation.
The risk management mechanism covers the whole Group’s various
risks in the business operations and management. The functional
department of risk management is the compliance department of the
Group, which reports to the audit committee and is responsible for
the establishment and operations of the risk management system and
coordination of risk management, supervision and evaluation of risk
management, as well as providing advice for material risk decisions.

The compliance department of the Group periodically collected risk
information and conducted risk evaluation through questionnaires,
workshops, management meetings, which were reported to senior
management in a timely manner. In 2021, based on the Group’s
production and business conditions, the compliance department
of the Group summarised a total of 75 risk factors, categorised as
strategic risk, operational risk, compliance risk and financial risk. The
management scored the risk factors based on their understanding,
production and operational experience and determined the risk
mitigation and internal control measures to address the risks. The
identified top five risks for the year ended 31 December 2021 are as
below:
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Risk title
RAkiEE

Investment risk

RERR

Environmental risk

R AR

Description

it

New investments, both locally and overseas, can be made in the form of a new setup,
acquisition of an existing business or a joint venture. Such investments carry a risk of
failure. Overseas investments and investments in joint ventures inherently carry a higher
risk of failure due to: (i) a lack of visibility and knowledge of the business nature and
market; and (ii) high dependency on the counterparty which may or may not deliver on
its responsibilities.

REBMARBEAIARIIHFAT - WEBRERAAXEEEENTAETHRE MEFR
FERBRMNEAR - BIRERBENGELEATEERSNRERTN AR  RE
ER(VRZHEBMERTISNERKDH ; RVEEFBHEFH > METETHAT 5
TEBITHER-

In addition to the initial capital, the Group may need to continuously support the new
investments by extending financial resources such as loans or corporate guarantees.

BT ERI AERFAEREREEBENERA R ERTYHERIIETRE

Investment may also fail due to poor execution of the original investment plan by local
partners or inadequate monitoring. Failed investments may have an adverse impact on
the financial performance of the Group.

I R ENFREMSIEBHHERREA AT ANAEERNTMEF BHREHE
EENYHBRIVEM AT E -

The Group is principally engaged in mining, ore processing, sale of self-produced
products, trading of steels, mining facilities management and management of strategic
investments. The Group owns and operates one iron ore mine, one gypsum mine and one
processing plant in Sichuan, China.

FEENIZEBARBE - BALE - HEBEER HEES WERMEIELERRMY
REEE - AEENPEDN) | EEERE—EHBAES  —EAaBES K —EEE
&% o

Mining and related processing operations are susceptible to incidents of environmental
pollution arising from accidents, non-compliance with internal procedures and external
environmental regulations. Should there be an incident of pollution that causes severe
damage to the environment, human casualties and/or fatalities, the Group's operations
and reputation may be adversely impacted by legal actions initiated by third parties and
regulatory actions such as penalties and production stoppages.
RERERTESESZHRHEHNEIBNIRRSR  REFTEANIEF RINEIRER
BIEEF - MELSRERNBRBREEE - AEBGUEH AAEENSERBEDSE
BRE=ZFRENERTHEREETH WIARKEE) MIZITFEE-
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S/N  Risk title
wmar EMRER

3 Industry adjustment risk

TERAERR

4 Funding risk

ETRAR

5 Budget management risk

REEERRE
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Description
iR

The mining industry is relatively sensitive to changes in macroeconomic conditions,
industry structure, government policies and environmental regulations. Failure to adapt to
changes could adversely impact the Group’s business and financial performance.
REXEHRZBEQSBERR TEER BNEERRERANEEEH G - REFREE
BREHAERNERRUBRIREMTF T E

Due to the capital-intensive nature of the Group’s business, the Group incurs substantial
capital expenditure to expand its investment and mining processing plants. Accordingly,
the Group is exposed to the risk of inadequate fundings and difficulties in financing these
capital expenditures.

B A ERERBEATBEL AEENARERBRARBEAERNSELRERERRH
TR AEEEHESE T EREUAEARAZIRHESHNAR

Raising funds to ensure the robust cycle of working capital is vital. Given the moderating
economic growth in China and mounting debts at the macro level, the financial
institutions in China may tighten the lending policies and adopt more prudent measures
in approving and renewing loans. Failure to obtain new financing or refinancing on a
timely basis, or at all, may cause the Group to deviate from its original strategies, which
in turn limit its expansion and consequently affect the Group’s competitiveness, hence
affecting the Group's financial performance.
RERSEETRAEBRIE SEEEMEZ - BENPEKSEEERERCREBER
B PENERMEEBNERBEEERR B AEEENT T IEXNESRENTE
MoREBNESEERAEESHMENBEME NFETNAEERERA KK £
REIER S ERNEBMNGRENUEHRHTRER -

The Group generates net cash flow from sales of self-produced products, trading steels,
and making payments for items such as purchase of inventory, payments for payroll,
operating overheads, and finance charges. Significant cash outflows such as large capital
expenditure or acquisitions may be made from time to time.

AEEBEHEREER WHEBESEEFRESETN IMBEFE ZUHE BELER
SRV HBEZHEBRBENR Mo AREAEESAMZ I REMELERARE MWL

Failure to allocate resources efficiently and implement an adequate budget for existing
and expansion plans may lead to a depletion of cash balances, affecting the Group's
ability to stay competitive in its industry which may in turn affect its ability to operate as
a going concern.
RERARERERGBEUNDEERRETEHNBENSCERSERER T EAER
MRTERZENINE JREMEEAEBUSBEEERENE -
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Internal Control

The audit committee supervises and inspects the comprehensiveness
and implementation of the internal control system of the Group,
and regularly discusses with the management on the system in order
to ensure that the management performs its duties to establish an
adequate and effective internal control system.

The internal control system has been designed to safeguard the assets
of the Group and maintain proper accounting records, execution with
appropriate authority and compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations. The Board has established and evaluated the relevant
internal control system across three spectrums covering the corporate
governance and system, business and accounting procedures and
information system control. The management, with oversight from the
Board has established internal control and risk management systems
based on the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of the Treadway
Commission’s Internal Control Integrated Framework. The main features
of the framework are as follows:

° control environment: including code of conduct and other
practices regarding acceptable business practice or expected
standards of ethical and moral behaviours, management of
conflict of interest, authority and responsibility, and legal and
regulatory compliance;

° risk assessment: including objective management, risk
assessment and management, and compliance management;

. control activities: including sales, trade receivables and
collection, procurement, trade payables and payment,
production and costing, human resources and payroll, assets
management, treasury, financial reporting, and information
technology general controls;

o information and communication: including forecasting and
budgeting, internal and external communication, confidentiality
and data protection; and

o monitoring activities: including internal audit function, and
reporting of internal control defects.
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In 2021, the internal audit function of the Group, with the assistance
of a professional service firm, performed an annual review on the
adequacy and effectiveness of the above internal control system.
The main work procedures included policy review, interview with key
process owners, and sample testing. As a result of the annual review,
9 issues were identified, and the Group has requested the responsible
departments to take remedial action in a timely manner. The internal
audit function, together with professional service firm, reported the
results of the annual review to the audit committee. The Board, through
the audit committee, reviewed the work of the internal audit function.
The Board has adopted the recommendations set out in the internal
audit report. The Group believed that a proper internal control system
was established and executed, and no significant area of concern which
might affect the Shareholders was found.

The Board conducts a review of the Group's risk management
and internal control systems at least once a year. The Group’s risk
management and internal control systems are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss. For the year ended 31 December 2021,
the Board, through the audit committee, has reviewed the adequacy
and effectiveness of the systems of risk management and internal
control (including financial, operational and compliance controls),
and was of the view that the Group complied with the CG Code on
risk management and internal control and concluded that the risk
management and internal control systems were effective and adequate,
and such controls effectively mitigated the risks that might have an
impact on the Group in achieving its strategic objectives.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chong Eng Wee was appointed as a joint Company Secretary on
30 December 2019 and has become the sole Company Secretary as of
1 April 2020, and his primary contact person of the Company is Mr.
Wang Hu, an executive Director. In accordance with Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules, Mr. Chong has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training during the Reporting Period.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for convening an extraordinary
general meeting and putting forward proposals at
shareholders’ meetings

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles, Shareholder(s) holding at the date
of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company (the "Requisitionist(s)”) may, by written requisition
(the “Requisition”) to the Board or the Company Secretary, require
an extraordinary general meeting (the "EGM") to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in the Requisition.
The Requisition shall be deposited at the principal place of business
of the Company in Hong Kong. The EGM shall be held within two
months after the deposit of the Requisition. In the event that the Board
fails to proceed to convene the EGM within twenty-one days of the
deposit of the Requisition, the Requisitionist(s) may convene a physical
meeting at only one location which will be the Principal Meeting Place
(as defined in the Articles), and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the Requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the Requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for shareholders to put enquiries to
the Board

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their shareholdings to
the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at 17M Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong. In respect of other
enquiries, Shareholders may put forward enquiries to the Board through
the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong which will
direct the enquiries to the Board for handling.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTORS

In 2021, the Company continued to communicate with Shareholders,
investors and analysts in an open and transparent manner through
various channels. Timely disclosure of corporate information and
necessary data for valuation purpose has been fully provided so as
to help the capital market understand the investment value of the
Company. The main communication channels with the Shareholders
include:
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Constitutional documents

A copy of the memorandum and articles of association of the Company
is available on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange's website (www.
hkexnews.hk) and the Company's website. There has been no change in
the Company's constitutional documents during the Reporting Period.

Annual general meetings

The annual general meeting is an important discussion platform for
the Shareholders to participate in, facilitating the communications
between the management of the Company and the Shareholders. The
annual general meeting is held once a year and is accessible to all the
Shareholders. The Directors answer any questions the Shareholders have
at the annual general meeting which is also attended by the external
auditor and the Company Secretary. All matters proposed to the
Shareholders for approval shall be submitted in separate resolutions and
resolved by way of poll at the annual general meeting. The procedures
of conducting a poll will be explained in detail to the Shareholders and
the voting results will be available on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s
website (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company’s website.

Annual reports, interim reports, announcements
and circulars

The Company issues its annual reports and interim reports after
publishing the annual results and the interim results in March and
August every year, respectively, so as to periodically review the
development of the Group as well as to update its Shareholders
with its latest business information and market trends. In addition,
the Company will inform the Shareholders through announcements
regarding any major event or inside information in a timely manner. For
any matter requiring the approval of the Shareholders, the Company
will hold an EGM according to the requirements of the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange and issue a circular prior to the specific date of the
meeting, allowing the Shareholders to have sufficient time to learn
more about the matters for making voting decisions. All annual reports,
interim reports, announcements and circulars will be uploaded to the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s website (www.hkexnews.hk) and the
Company's website.

The chairman of the Board also encourages Shareholders and investors
to write to him directly if they wish to. He has included his email
address in the section headed “Chairman’s Statement” on page 9 of
this annual report.
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The Company’s website

The Company's website offers timely access to the Group’s press
releases and other business information. Through its website, the
Company provides the Shareholders with electronic versions of the
financial reports, the latest slide presentations, as well as up-to-
date news about the Group's business, announcements, and general
information, whichever is applicable from time to time. To make
contributions to environmental protection and maintain effective
communication with the Shareholders, the Group encourages all
Shareholders to browse the Company’s corporate communication files
on the Company’s website.

Investor contacts and enquiries

The Group has a dedicated team to maintain contact with investors and
handle Shareholders’ enquiries. Should investors have any enquiries,
please contact the Company’s external Investor Relations Consultant via
email at ir@chinavtmmining.com.

The Company will ensure that the information of the work on investor
relations is disclosed in a timely and accurate manner, and will react to
the capital market effectively and smoothly. This can help the capital
market to better understand its development strategies and operating
conditions.
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Independent auditor’s report

]
EY:x

To the shareholders of
China Vanadium Titano-Magnetite Mining Company Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Ernst & Young

27/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King’s Road
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

A —E2718

Qualified opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Vanadium Titano-Magnetite Mining Company Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 105 to 242, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2021, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter described in
the Basis for qualified opinion section of our report, the accompanying
consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2021,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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Basis for qualified opinion

As disclosed in notes 10 and 31 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group completed the disposal of its 81% equity
interest in Mancala Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (together as
the “Disposal Group”) on 31 July 2021, the date on which the Disposal
Group ceased to be subsidiaries of the Group. The principal activities
of the Disposal Group were mainly specialised mining services in
Australia, which were presented as a discontinued operation. The cash
used in operating activities, investing activities and financing activities
of discontinued operations for the period from 1 January 2021 to the
date of disposal of RMB7,715,000, RMB 1,228,000, and RMB1,987,000,
respectively, and the net inflow of cash in respect of the disposal
of subsidiaries of RMB3,111,000 were disclosed in the consolidated
statement of cash flows (the “Cash Flows from the discontinued
operations”). The corresponding disclosures of the Disposal Group are
set out in notes 10 and 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

As a result of the disposal, we have not been able to gain access to
the accounting records of the Disposal Group. Accordingly, we were
unable to perform audit procedures that we consider necessary to
obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence to satisfy ourselves
for the financial information of the Disposal Group for the period from
1 January 2021 to the date of disposal (the “Financial Information of
the Disposal Group”). Consequently, we were unable to determine
whether any adjustments might be necessary in respect of the Financial
Information of the Disposal Group disclosed in the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021. Any
adjustments found necessary may have a consequential effect on
the Cash Flows from the discontinued operations disclosed in the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December
2021 and the figures and information disclosed in notes 10 and 31 to
the consolidated financial statements.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs"”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA"). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Independent auditor’s report
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Key audit matter

MBEAEE

Impairment of non-current assets

IEREEERE

In accordance with IFRSs, the Group assesses at the end of
each reporting period whether there are any indications of
impairment for its non-current assets. If such indicator of
impairment exists, an estimate of the recoverable amount
is performed. The Group has a significant amount of non-
current assets, including property, plant and equipment,
other intangible asset and right-of-use assets. Based on
the existing market conditions in the iron ore industry and
gypsum ore industry, impairment indicators were identified
for the Group’s material non-current assets.
RRBERYHBREER BEERSRESARTMHEF
RBEEREDEMBESNR - WRENREFE AEETH
Wl tste BEERERAREIFRRDEE QEWE-
BERSZE HthBTEERERAEEE AN BRI#EIERA
TERAEEATENTBER BEEMNERIERH
BEGFTREDNR

Accordingly, management performed the impairment
assessment based on the discounted cash flows expected
to be derived from the cash-generating units ("CGU").
There was no impairment of assets during the year.
The assessment of the recoverable amounts involved
significant estimation uncertainty, subjective assumptions
and application of significant judgement, in relation to
recoverable reserves, commodity prices, the discount rate,
budgeted gross margin and production volumes.

Hit - EEEERERREEHRSELBUNMRRE
TREEIT R ET L o FAL M E EIRE o AW ElIE BERIET
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The Group's disclosures about the impairment assessment
for these non-current assets are included in note 10 to
financial statements.
EEEBANZEFERDHEERBENE BRI N T BRRMN
sE100

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ZHREHFEFETRMANBSF P2 UAEED

Our audit procedures included the following:

RANEARFEEUTEE !

We tested the impairment model selected for each
CGU based on our understanding of the methodology
and checked its mathematical accuracy;
BMERHFENER ARG ERSELBMUNK
BERRERE U EETHE CAERY

We compared key market-derived estimates,
including commodity prices, against external data.
We performed sensitivity analyses on the forecasts
prepared by management;

# ¥ E IS AEAN R (BEERER) » BME
HENHEBRETHILE -RMEMEREERENTER
EITHREDT ;

We compared key operational estimates in the models
to source data and publicly available information,
including the forward market price of iron ore and
gypsum;

FAP EE B AR B rh B AR A8 B AY A 9B 1 St B BUR SRR K
AIARESHNER QFEFRaNAaERATHER;

We involved our valuation specialists to assist us in
evaluating the key valuation parameters such as the
discount rate calculation applied and the valuation
model used; and

BPBAERNE T EER B H AT L2 EEEEES
B Pl IR Rt E R PR EEZRE
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We also assessed the adequacy of the related
disclosures in the notes to financial statements.

HATEFEHMBRRMEPOERREES ESM -
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Other information included in the Annual Report
The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual
Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the
consolidated financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

Independent auditor’s report
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

BRI E SR & M B IRV A
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RANEIR BHRAYBRREERTRE
72 F O BT S SR T B 10 B A SRR IR RS
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HFIES 2B EHRE S RIS KR E
iR AR RPN E R B REN AR
BAEFEMALE R REEAEE-

GERIBESKTHFRE BETERERRB(E
BESTEN)ETHES TR -BAERRL
FHERMBAES IR - SERR MR P LU EXSF U 85 3R
Sl - MRGERMCMEBIEMER S
FEROHMBREAERERBGROMBRERAA
TR BIAE T R TE » B A B RO #8 52 R o] 4 48 1F
BEXe

ERB(EBETEL ) ETHEHIBEREFR FK
PIER T EXE2HE (RIF T EEEREE - M
7N

. H AT E B ERFFS R MER RS
MHBRERFEEARERBRENAR > =&
SARMITESER UEH B LR U
RERGZRMBENSETRE FHR
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BE - BRER ERRIL FEERA
MEEZ b RUIERAEHRERFEME
BRI ERERRAR RSN RAEER
(] #5 55 177 25 25 19 55 K #8 5 PRt Y LB o
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g
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

Independent auditor’s report

T RVR R S IR =
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Independent auditor’s report

T RVR R S TR

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Lai Chee Kong.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

29 March 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

mMREMEERER

Year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F 128318 IEEE

CONTINUING OPERATIONS
REVENUE
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income and gain

Selling and distribution expenses

Administrative expenses

Other expenses

Reversal of impairment losses on
trade receivables, net

Finance costs

PROFIT BEFORE TAX FROM
CONTINUING OPERATIONS

Income tax credit/(expense)

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FROM
CONTINUING OPERATIONS

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Profit/(loss) for the year from
discontinued operations

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR

£¢As
77 N == |
Notes
My 5E
FBIREER
A 4,5
$HE B A&
ER
EH AU A B W &= 5
HE RDHEX
TR
HMx
FEU BR TR E B 1R 3 O]
FEE 7
2RI D7
RS EBERAAE
7
FriEmiEe,/ ) 9
HEREEZENNE
BARIEREER
ERIEKEEEREN
FIE (B548) 10
FRFE, (E5B)

2021 3R | PEINKEEEERRAS

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®EFT AE®FT
714,760 488,135
(690,098) (441,548)
24,662 46,587
3,888 3,864
(373) (4,572)
(19,003) (30,515)
(2,288) (3,212)
4,130 1,479
(5,393) (5,598)
5,623 8,033
(4,641) 250
982 8,283

6,616 (32,675)
7,598 (24,392)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
relEmcEMEE NG

Year ended 31 December 2021

HZE2021F12831HIEEE
2021 2020
20214 20204
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Mok AREFT AR¥FTT
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE Hit2mEmk= (§518)
INCOME/(LOSS)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) that  BIRFR I EHDIEE
may be reclassified to profit or loss in BaWEMmEERE
subsequent periods: (E518) -
Exchange differences on translation of BMBEBINEREEN
foreign operations [E 2 = %A 840 (1,770)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ FERZEKE (§518)
(LOSS)FOR THE YEAR “agE 8,438 (26,162)
Profit/(loss) attributable to: FE (B518) BB
Owners of the Company FN/NETEZ T = DN 8,311 (17,054)
Non-controlling interests FEER S (713) (7,338)
7,598 (24,392)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) 2EUNE, (B18) #E%8
attributable to: BB -
Owners of the Company KRABIEB A 8,989 (18,489)
Non-controlling interests JEER Em (551) (7,673)
8,438 (26,162)
EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE BB ATI S ERRKRE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY FaEANSKRERG
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY: ZE# ~ (§518) :
Basic and diluted BEARKEE
— For profit/(loss) for the year —FRHE (FB8) 12 RMBAR0.0047t  RMBARY(0.008)7T
— For profit from continuing —REREEBRHE
operations 12 RMBA K #0.00045T RMBA K #0.0047¢
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment

Right-of-use assets

Intangible assets

Prepayments, other receivables
and other assets

Deferred tax assets

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories
Trade and bills receivables

Prepayments, other receivables and other

assets
Due from related parties
Pledged deposits
Cash and cash equivalents

Assets of the Disposal Group classified
as held for sale

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade payables

Contract liabilities

Other payables and accruals

Interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings

Due to related parties

Lease liabilities

Tax payable

Liabilities directly associated with the
assets classified as held for sale

Total current liabilities

NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES

FERBEE
EN N
ERREE
BVEE

FAAHRRIE ~ B Ath UGB R

Hih&E
RIERIBEE

FERBEERE
MENEE

78
FEW R R 4E

TR RIE ~ H AR R

Hith& &
& U BBk 75 R IR
BEREFER
ReERREEEY

DEBFIFHERN
HEEENEE

MEBEEMSE

nEBAaR

FEAT RN

aNEaRE

LA FE (7R IR e FE 5 R IR
STRIRITREMEBE

P& B Bk 75 R 0R

HEad
FESIRAR

HENEAREHENEE
ERERNAR

REBREER

nEBEEFE

BEERERRBER

REMBARRER

As at 31 December 2021
1220214128318

2021 2020

20214 20204F

Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
=S AR®TT AR¥F T
13 166,289 155,431
15 1,032 6,909
14 735,021 735,603
16 886 966
17 12,208 14,824
915,436 913,733

18 11,900 5,814
19 203,655 181,760
16 4,433 4,693
20 9,728 8,929
21 10,026 328
21 6,436 32,645
246,178 234,169

10 = 77,730
246,178 311,899

22 33,077 30,493
23 6,166 2,277
24 59,993 63,254
25 17,580 84,735
20 5,389 3,868
15 2,305 3,945
9,052 11,266

133,562 199,838

10 = 84,990
133,562 284,828

112,616 27,071

1,028,052 940,804
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

RE BB R
As at 31 December 2021
2021128318

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Due to related parties

Lease liabilities

Interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings

Provision for rehabilitation

Other payables

Total non-current liabilities

Net assets

EQUITY

Equity attributable to owners
of the Company

Issued capital

Reserves

Non-controlling interests

Total equity

Jiang Zhong Ping & HF
Director %
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FREER

&Y BB 75 =R0R
HEaE
StERITRHEMEE

ERER
H A RIR

BB EAEEE

BEEERME

i
BERAABERA ANER

BETRAE

i

FRIERR

B

Hao Xiemin 7B 18k

Director B

Notes

Py 5E

20
15

25
26
24

27
29

2021 2020
20216 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETF T AR¥ETF T
7,680 7,680

400 3,318
74,612 -
14,523 13,654

700 700
97,915 25,352
930,137 915,452
197,889 197,889
437,351 428,362
635,240 626,251
294,897 289,201
930,137 915,452




Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
maREEHR

Year ended 31 December 2021

HE2021F12831HIEFE
Attributable to owners of the Company
BEREATREA
Difference
arising from
Safety acquisition
Share fund Share of non- Exchange Non-
Issued premium Statutory surplus  Contributed option controlling Capital fluctuation  Accumulated controlling Total
capital account reserves reserve surplus reserve interests reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
REER
#2588 RiME  EEELN ERED
BEfRE  ROEEE LS B SARE 1] £8 BENR [ ] BitiH Bt FERER [
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ABETR  ARETR  ARETR ARETR  ARETR  ARBTR  ARETR  \RETR  ARETn ARETR ARETR ARETR  ARETR
note 28/
note 27 note 29(a) note 29(b) note 29(d) note 29(c) note 29(e) note 29(f)
s/
i gt Ti29t) 2900 it Fig29le) istasf)
At1 January 2020 #020E1818 197,889 1877488 220,176 191974 871,238 24569 (852,820) 186,200 12% (1,289,270) 644,740 296,874 941,614
Loss for the year ERER - - - - - - - - - (17,054) (17,054) (7,338) (2439
Other comprehensive loss for the year: EREHRERE:
Eichange differences related to EREMIBERNERZE
foreign operations - - - - - - - - (1439 - (1.435) (335 (1770)
Total comprehensive lass for the year - B B - B - - - (1,439) (17,054) (18,489) (7,673 (26,162)
Utiisation of safety fund surplus reserve HERRECTEHE - - - (4.498) - - - - - 4498 - - -
Provision for safety fund surplus reserve RETPECTERE - - - 4m - - - - - {4 - - -
Transfer of share option reserve PRABEEREER
upon the expiry of share options RigeEE - - - - - (9,643) - - - 9643 - - -
At31 December 2020 #2020£128318 197,889 1,877,488* 220,176* 191,747 87,238* 14926* (852,820)* 186,200 (139)* (1,296,454)* 626,151 289,201 915,452
At 1 January 2021 #UNE1B1A 197,889 1,877,488 0,176 191,747 87,38 14,926 (852,820) 186,200 (139) (1,296,454) 626,251 289,201 915,452
Profitoss) for the year ERHE/ F8) - - - - - - - - - 8311 8311 (3 159
Other comprehensive income for the year: ~ EREH2ENE
Exchange differences related to ERSMIBERNERZE
foreign operations - - - - - - - - 678 - 678 162 840
Total comprehensive incomel{oss) ER2ENE/ (5B 28
for the year - - - - = = = = 678 8311 8,989 (551) 8,438
Utiisation of safety fund surplus reserve HER2ECTARE - - - (2562) - - - - - 2562 - - -
Provision for safety fund surplus reserve RERRESTERE - - - 2802 - - - - - (2,802) - - -
Transfer from retained profits EEREH - - 609 - - - - - - (609) - - -
Disposal of subsidaries note 31) HEFAF (aH31) - - 6,247 6,247
Transfer of share option resenve upon RRAGEEREEE
the expiry of share options hirsELE - - - - - (5,805) - - - 5,805 - - -
At 31 December 2021 #2001£128318 197,889 1,877,488* 220,785* 191,987+ 87,38* 9.121% (852,820)* 186,200* 539* (1,283,187)* 635,240 294,897 930,137
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of * ZEHBROEGEMBRNEANNGEH
RMB437,351,000 (2020: RMB428,362,000) in the consolidated AN H#437,351,0007T (20205 1 AR
statement of financial position. 428,362,0007T) ©
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

|\7I'\ iﬁ.$ /}ILE%

Year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F 128318 IEEE

2021 2020
20214 20204
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
M5k AREFT ARMF T
(Re-presented)
CS==x)
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING REFTHNIRERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit/(loss) before tax: MEIFE (F518)
From continuing operations FHBIREET 5,623 8,033
Adjustments for: T EBEEHAEE
Finance costs MR 5,393 5,598
Bank interest income IRITH B A 5 (16) (8)
Gain on disposal of items of property, HEME -BERRE
plant and equipment HE W &= (5) -
Gain on debt restructuring B EANE (809) -
Losses relating to lease termination BRAZIETHENEE 16 -
Reversal of impairment losses on trade  FEURER FURE 5181 [0l
receivables, net T EE 7 (4,130) (1,479)
Depreciation of property, plant and ME-BMERZBITE
equipment 13 7,151 9,748
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRESENE 15(a) 1,503 2,499
Amortisation of intangible assets mE EEH 14 582 1,063
15,308 25,454
Decrease/(increase) in trade and bills FEWBR TR ke 2 4%
receivables e (3 hn) (22,749) 8,330
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERL S (Em) (6,086) 4,050
Decrease in prepayments, other FEfTRIE ~ HfhFE IR IE
receivables and other assets Hn&E ERD 408 285
Increase in amounts due from related FEE Uit 51 Bt 75 R TR A
parties - (3,989)
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables FETRRFRIG I, CRiL) 2,584 (10,302)
Increase/(decrease) in other payables and  HE fih & 3118 Kz fE 51 =018
accruals #hn, CRisb) 366 (3,082)
Increase in contract liabilities BHRIBEBEEM 3,889 2,277
Cash generated from/(used in) operations #&&&ES / (A) WIRES (6,280) 23,023
Interest received BUHE 16 8
Income tax paid B FTEIR (4,239) -
(10,503) 23,031
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Discontinued operations

Net cash flows from/(used in) operating
activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES

Purchase of items of property, plant and

equipment
Purchase of intangible assets
Increase in pledged deposits
Proceeds from disposal of items of
property, plant and equipment
Increase in amounts due from
a related party
Disposal of subsidiaries

Discontinued operations

Net cash flows used in investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from bank and other
borrowings

Repayment of bank and other borrowings

Increase in pledged deposits
Principal portion of lease payments
Interest portion of lease payments
Interest paid

Increase/(decrease) in an amount due to a P& — & BRI B

related party

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

EEEERER
Year ended 31 December 2021
HE2021FE12B31HLEEE
2021 2020
20214 20204
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5% AR¥FT AR¥ETF T
(Re-presented)
(#&&E75)
ERIEKEER 10 (7,715) 13,811
KEEBESE S (ER) B
HEREFEHE (18,218) 36,842
BREFHNRERE
EEYE BERKREEEB
(22,706) (6,447)
BERFTEE - (75)
BEEHRERIEM - (328)
HEME BMEKRREEB
Frigs 1B 3 -
& U — %% BE Bt 5 =R IB IS 0
(799) -
HEFAE 31 3,111 -
(20,391) (6,850)
ERIEEEERS 10 (1,228) (1,376)
RETEFERANRERE
e ¥ (21,619) (8,226)
MEITFNRERE
RITREMEEPTSRIE
12,885 6,394
BERTREMES (2) (4,155)
EEHERIGM (9,698) -
HERELSID (225) (1,983)
HERFEZD (198) (330)
B2FE (3,899) (4,465)
FHRIE
=, Ceizb) 1,521 (113)
384 (4,652)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
EERERER

Year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12831HIEEE

2021 2020
20214 20204
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
M5k AREFT ARMF T
(Re-presented)
CS==x)
Discontinued operations BRIEKEER 10 (1,987) (40)
Net cash flows used in financing activities BIE EZENIFERAMBE SR E
FER (1,603) (4,692)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN RERFEEEY
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS e, Gl BE8 (41,440) 23,924
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning F#MNIRERIBESEEY
of year 47,173 26,689
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, [EREENF £ 548
net 703 (3,440)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FERNRERREEEY
END OF YEAR 6,436 —47,173
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH RERREEEYERD N
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances & RIRITHEER 21 16,462 32,973
Less: pledged deposits B BEERER 21 (10,026) (328)
Cash and cash equivalent as stated in RiRE M BARRERASERDN
the consolidated statement of financial IRE&RIBEZHEY
position 6,436 32,645
Cash and cash equivalents attributable to & B4 1A= M
discontinued operations RERREEHEEY 10 - 14,528
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in RIRERERATIRNIRS
the statement of cash flows KRIREEEY 6,436 47,173
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Notes to the Financial Statements

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
China Vanadium Titano-Magnetite Mining Company Limited
(the "Company”) was incorporated as an exempted company
with limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 28 April 2008
under the Companies Law. The registered office address of
the Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The principal place
of business of the Company in Hong Kong is located at 31/
F, Tower Two Times Square, 1 Matheson Street, Causeway Bay,
Hong Kong.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company and its
subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) were principally engaged in
the following principal activities:

o sale of self-produced products

o trading of steels

In the opinion of the directors of the Company (the “Directors”),
Trisonic International Limited (“Trisonic International”), a

company incorporated in Hong Kong, is the parent and the
ultimate holding company of the Company.

1.

R #5 3Rk R Bt 5E

Year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F 128318 IEEE

REIREBEN
FRENSREEBEBERRAR (TRAAF)
R2008F4828H A HERERIELRF
EHEMRIIA—EERREERAE A
A B) B 5 TS R # 3k 23 Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands° 7z
REMNEBEFEEEME AN S HBRR
I B 1SR U EI52EE3 118
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B TR ¥R FR T 5

Year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12831HIEEE

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries

follows:

Place of
incorporation/

are as

Issued share/

Company name registration registered

and business share capital
AL, BEITRG

YNSIEZY SE B FE Hh Bh AR A

Directly held:

BEREFE

Powerside Holdings Limited BVI UsD1

BAERERAE REEUES 17T

First China Limited Hong Kong HKD2

=REBRERE A 287

Sure Prime Limited BVI usD1

Sure Prime Limited HEBEYEES 1278

Singapore VTM Mining Pte. Ltd. Singapore SGD10,000

Singapore VTM Mining Pte. Ltd. Fhn g 10,000% 032 7T

Indirectly held:

EEIFR -

Simply Rise Holdings Limited Hong Kong HKD1

SEZEREBRAT BHE 1787T

Sichuan Lingyu Investment Group PRC HKD850,000,000

Co., Ltd. ("Sichuan Lingyu")®
mNEEHEEERBRAR s 850,000,000 75

(FEm 1z ) @
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Percentage

of equity
interests
attributable to
the Company
FEBREATMN
RAEZET DL
cyO

100

100

100

100

100

100

REAKREBEN &

BRFRANER
FARNETBEFATNHBMT :

Principal
activities

FEEH

Investment
holding
BREZR

Investment
holding
REZERK

Investment
holding
KEZER

Investment
holding
BREZER

Investment
holding
KREZERK

Product trading
and investment
holding
EmBZ K
BEER



CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Company name

ACIEZE

Aba Mining Co., Ltd.
(“Aba Mining”) ®

MiBEERRAT (MFIHESE))®

Huili County Akuang Trading
Co., Ltd. ("Akuang Trading")®

SERNEZEZERAT
(Mg 7)) ©

Sichuan Xinglian Mining and
Technology Construction
Co., Ltd. ®

o)l B R AR TREERAT®

Place of
incorporation/
registration
and business
sEfAk I,

S R 2 M B

PRC

HRE

0

PRC

e

o

PRC

e

o
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RAREBEN &

ERFARNEN @

Issued share/
registered
share capital
BRITRG,
A

RMB20,000,000

AEK#20,000,00070

RMB20,000,000

AR #§20,000,0007C

RMB1,000,000

AER#81,000,0007T

Percentage
of equity
interests

attributable to

the Company
FBRAEATMN
RRAEZE DL

Principal
activities

ITEEH
%

100  Iron ore mining,
iron ore

beneficiation

and sale of self-
produced

products

BB AR

RO EER
HEBEER

100 Iron ore
beneficiation

and sale of iron
concentrates

RO EER

iH & HIETE

100 Mining and
construction

consulting

R

TRH#H
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Company name

NEIRTE

Sichuan Haoyuan New Material

Co., Ltd. (“Sichuan Haoyuan") ®

m)lEEEM MR AERAR
(M) 115EE)) ©

Hanyuan County Xinjin Mining
Co., Ltd. ®

ERBRETEXEARATY

Sichuan Lingwei Property Service

Co., Ltd. ®

B EEMERBERLFY

Place of
incorporation/
registration
and business
i

SR R 2 it B

PRC

]

HRE

PRC

i

=

PRC

th

=1

REAKREBEN &

ERFATNER @

Issued share/
registered
share capital
BEITRG
AR

RMB20,000,000

A K 20,000,0007T

RMB1,150,000

AE#1,150,0007T

RMB10,000,000

A E#10,000,0007C
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Percentage
of equity
interests

attributable to Principal

the Company activities
FEREATMN

RAEZEE DL FEER
cyo

51 Gypsum ore

beneficiation

and sale of

self-produced

products

AEEA

7t K 8 B

HEEmM

51 Gypsum

ore mining,

gypsum ore

beneficiation

and sale of

self-produced

products

AEEARER

AEEA

i k=R

HEEmM

100 Estate

management,

sales of

equipment and
materials, lease
of real estate
B ESE
HERE K
A

i EEE



CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

@ Sichuan Lingyu is registered as a wholly-foreign-owned
enterprise under PRC law.

® These subsidiaries are registered as domestic enterprises under
PRC law.
© On 30 June 2021, the Company entered into a sales and

purchase agreement with PT. Hay Wei Feng Yuan Mining (a
company incorporated in Indonesia, the “Purchaser”) to dispose
of an 81% equity interest in Mancala Holdings Limited and
its subsidiaries (the "Disposal Group”) (the “Disposal”) at a
consideration of AUD1,500,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB7,300,000). The Disposal was completed on 31 July 2021.
Upon the completion of the Disposal, the Disposal Group (i)
ceased to be the subsidiaries of the Company and (ii) has
become the subsidiaries of the Purchaser.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results for
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
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2.1

118

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRSs")
(which include all International Financial Reporting Standards,
International Accounting Standards (“IASs”) and Interpretations)
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(“IASB"), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except for financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss which have been measured at fair value. Assets
of the Disposal Group classified as held for sale and assets
classified as held for sale are stated at the lower of their carrying
amounts and fair values less costs to sell as further explained
in notes 2.4 and 10 to the financial statements. These financial
statements are presented in Renminbi (“"RMB”) and all values
are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise
indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year
ended 31 December 2021. A subsidiary is an entity, directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights
that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).

2.1

S B

A BRERDERER G ERES
CRMVERYHREER (BEMRA
BRI B3RS 2R BRE5HER R
)  BBAREH R REE(AT K
PIVAIRERERHE - FIEAFEE
MEZHHABRTNEREELATE
StEIHIN AMBREDBBELMAE
PlIRE - DEAFFHENLEEEDN
BERDEAFFHENEERKRAS
BHEATERDEREIMENREE
IR E— PR RMBREAME2 4K
10°FRIFFZAFER TR AP HHREL
ARBEY) BFfEEREREERE
M TE e

FEAREE
REMBRRBEARBARETFRAAE
F201FE12A3 1B IEEEMNBTERRE
FREAR LD EEREZEFINE
BoEAEER2HELEERNEEM
AEENBRESIEDIHK WA E
EEHKREETRENEN B FAER
BRIE RN EEREEREENE DR
BN R EZEOIRFE > AEENESR
PRI o
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2.1

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing

whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(0) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests and
(iii) the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;
and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received,
(i) the fair value of any investments retained and (iii) any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group's share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 2.2
DISCLOSURES
The Group has adopted the following revised IFRSs for the first

B BRRIKENEE
7 5 B B o A4 B 0 B 3R R B R

time for the current year's financial statements. TS EPR B 53R 5 2R o
Amendments to IFRS 9,  Interest Rate Benchmark Reform BPR B % 3R 5 2 A FIEEE E—-F2
IAS 39, IFRS 7, - Phase 2 EELAE S BE

IFRS 4 and IFRS 16

]I FE395% B

MRS ER BT
BRI B HR S 2 A
FATE KBRS

WEERF165%
BT A
Amendment to IFRS 16 COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions 5] P B 75 3R 5 £ ) 20214E6530H#H)
beyond 30 June 2021 BI6REFTA COVID-1918%5F
(early adopted) HzZH
(REHM)
The nature and the impact of the revised IFRSs are described KETERVBRSENNMERTE
below: MERUWE -
(a) Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and (a) BRI SR FoSE BEfR &

IFRS 16 address issues not dealt with in the previous
amendments which affect financial reporting when
an existing interest rate benchmark is replaced with
an alternative risk-free rate (“RFR”). The amendments
provide a practical expedient to allow the effective
interest rate to be updated without adjusting the
carrying amount of financial assets and liabilities when
accounting for changes in the basis for determining the
contractual cash flows of financial assets and liabilities,
if the change is a direct consequence of the interest rate
benchmark reform and the new basis for determining
the contractual cash flows is economically equivalent to
the previous basis immediately preceding the change.
In addition, the amendments permit changes required
by the interest rate benchmark reform to be made to
hedge designations and hedge documentation without
the hedging relationship being discontinued. Any gains
or losses that could arise on transition are dealt with
through the normal requirements of IFRS 9 to measure
and recognise hedge ineffectiveness. The amendments
also provide a temporary relief to entities from having
to meet the separately identifiable requirement when
an RFR is designated as a risk component. The relief
allows an entity, upon designation of the hedge, to
assume that the separately identifiable requirement is
met, provided the entity reasonably expects the RFR risk
component to become separately identifiable within the
next 24 months. Furthermore, the amendments require
an entity to disclose additional information to enable
users of financial statements to understand the effect of
interest rate benchmark reform on an entity’s financial

instruments and risk management strategy.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(a)

(Continued)

The Group had certain interest-bearing bank loans
denominated in RMB based on the China Loan Prime
Rate as at 31 December 2021. The Group expects that
the China Loan Prime Rate will continue to exist and the
interest rate benchmark reform has not had an impact on
the Group's China Loan Prime Rate-based borrowings.
If the interest rates of these borrowings are replaced by
RFRs in a future period, the Group will apply the above-
mentioned practical expedient upon the modification of
these borrowings when the “economically equivalent”
criterion is met and expects that no significant
modification gain or loss will arise as a result of applying
the amendments to these changes.

Amendment to IFRS 16 issued in March 2021 extends
the availability of the practical expedient for lessees to
elect not to apply lease modification accounting for
rent concessions arising as a direct consequence of the
COVID-19 pandemic by 12 months. Accordingly, the
practical expedient applies to rent concessions for which
any reduction in lease payments affects only payments
originally due on or before 30 June 2022, provided the
other conditions for applying the practical expedient
are met. The amendment is effective retrospectively for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021 with
any cumulative effect of initially applying the amendment
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance
of retained profits at the beginning of the current
accounting period. Earlier application is permitted.

The Group has early adopted the amendment on 1
January 2021. However, the Group has not received
COVID-19-related rent concessions and plans to apply
the practical expedient when it becomes applicable
within the allowed period of application.
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2.3

122

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs

The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs,
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial

statements.

Amendments to IFRS 3

Amendments to IFRS 10

and IAS 28

IFRS 17

Amendments to IFRS 17

Amendments to IFRS 17

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1 and
IFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to IAS 8

Amendments to IAS 12

Amendments to IAS 16

Amendments to IAS 37

Annual Improvements to
IFRSs 2018-2020

Reterence to the Conceptual
Framework’

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture’

Insurance Contracts?

Insurance Contracts®*

Initial Application of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 -
Comparative Information?

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current?
Disclosure of Accounting Policies?

Definition of Accounting Estimates?

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction?

Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds
before Intended Use’

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling
a Contract’

Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9,
lllustrative Examples accompanying
IFRS 16, and IAS 41"
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs

(Continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023

3 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

4 As a consequence of the amendments to IFRS 17 issued in June

2020, IFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary exemption
that permits insurers to apply IAS 39 rather than IFRS 9 for
annual periods beginning before 1 January 2023

Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to IFRS 3 are intended to replace a reference to
the previous Framework for the Preparation and Presentation
of Financial Statements with a reference to the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting issued in March 2018
without significantly changing its requirements. The
amendments also add to IFRS 3 an exception to its recognition
principle for an entity to refer to the Conceptual Framework
to determine what constitutes an asset or a liability. The
exception specifies that, for liabilities and contingent liabilities
that would be within the scope of IAS 37 or IFRIC 21 if they
were incurred separately rather than assumed in a business
combination, an entity applying IFRS 3 should refer to IAS 37
or IFRIC 21 respectively instead of the Conceptual Framework.
Furthermore, the amendments clarify that contingent assets do
not qualify for recognition at the acquisition date. The Group
expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from 1 January
2022. Since the amendments apply prospectively to business
combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the
date of first application, the Group will not be affected by these
amendments on the date of transition.
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2.3

124

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs
(Continued)

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an inconsistency
between the requirements in IFRS 10 and in IAS 28 in dealing
with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor
and its associate or joint venture. The amendments require a
full recognition of a gain or loss resulting from a downstream
transaction when the sale or contribution of assets between an
investor and its associate or joint venture constitutes a business.
For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute a
business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is
recognised in the investor's profit or loss only to the extent
of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint
venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The
previous mandatory effective date of amendments to IFRS 10
and IAS 28 was removed by the IASB in December 2015 and
a new mandatory effective date will be determined after the
completion of a broader review of accounting for associates
and joint ventures. However, the amendments are available for
adoption now.

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities
as current or non-current. The amendments specify that if
an entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability is subject to
the entity complying with specified conditions, the entity has
a right to defer settlement of the liability at the end of the
reporting period if it complies with those conditions at that
date. Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood
that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of the
liability. The amendments also clarify the situations that are
considered a settlement of a liability. The amendments are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023 and shall be applied retrospectively. Earlier application
is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group's financial statements.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs
(Continued)

Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies require
entities to disclose their material accounting policy information
rather than their significant accounting policies. Accounting
policy information is material if, when considered together with
other information included in an entity’s financial statements,
it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the
primary users of general purpose financial statements make
on the basis of those financial statements. Amendments to
IFRS Practice Statement 2 provide non-mandatory guidance on
how to apply the concept of materiality to accounting policy
disclosures. Amendments to IAS 1 are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and earlier
application is permitted. Since the guidance provided in the
amendments to IFRS Practice Statement 2 is non-mandatory, an
effective date for these amendments is not necessary. The Group
is currently assessing the impact of the amendments on the
Group’s accounting policy disclosures.

Amendments to IAS 8 clarify the distinction between changes
in accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies.
Accounting estimates are defined as monetary amounts
in financial statements that are subject to measurement
uncertainty. The amendments also clarify how entities use
measurement techniques and inputs to develop accounting
estimates. The amendments are effective for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and apply to
changes in accounting policies and changes in accounting
estimates that occur on or after the start of that period. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group's financial statements.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs
(Continued)

Amendments to IAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exception so that it no longer applies to transactions
that give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences, such as leases and decommissioning obligations.
Therefore, entities are required to recognise a deferred tax
asset and a deferred tax liability for temporary differences
arising from these transactions. The amendments are effective
for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023 and shall be applied to transactions related to leases and
decommissioning obligations at the beginning of the earliest
comparative period presented, with any cumulative effect
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained
profits or other component of equity as appropriate at that date.
In addition, the amendments shall be applied prospectively to
transactions other than leases and decommissioning obligations.
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

Amendments to IAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting
from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
any proceeds from selling items produced while bringing
that asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by management.
Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds from selling any
such items, and the cost of those items, in profit or loss. The
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2022 and shall be applied retrospectively only
to items of property, plant and equipment made available for
use on or after the beginning of the earliest period presented
in the financial statements in which the entity first applies the
amendments. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs
(Continued)

Amendments to IAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of assessing
whether a contract is onerous under IAS 37, the cost of fulfilling
the contract comprises the costs that relate directly to the
contract. Costs that relate directly to a contract include both
the incremental costs of fulfilling that contract (e.g., direct
labour and materials) and an allocation of other costs that
relate directly to fulfilling that contract (e.g., an allocation
of the depreciation charge for an item of property, plant and
equipment used in fulfilling the contract as well as contract
management and supervision costs). General and administrative
costs do not relate directly to a contract and are excluded
unless they are explicitly chargeable to the counterparty under
the contract. The amendments are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and shall be applied
to contracts for which an entity has not yet fulfilled all its
obligations at the beginning of the annual reporting period
in which it first applies the amendments. Earlier application
is permitted. Any cumulative effect of initially applying the
amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment to the
opening equity at the date of initial application without
restating the comparative information. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs 2.3 BlEMERKRERNERKF
(Continued) RS ZER @)
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2018-2020 sets out amendments T B B A1 7% 3R &5 ZE A1 20 184 E20204F HY
to IFRS 1, IFRS 9, lllustrative Examples accompanying IFRS 16, FENE I BYBEIEMFHERSEERE
and IAS 41. Details of the amendments that are expected to be SE PR R EEAHOT  ER B
applicable to the Group are as follows: ¥R & 2RI 55 1 655 BE M BY 57 BE #6451 e B PR
B EAEMNFET A - FHRABERNE
EEBEFTAREMRIT ¢
. IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that an . BRI E EREIR T

128

entity includes when assessing whether the terms of
a new or modified financial liability are substantially
different from the terms of the original financial liability.
These fees include only those paid or received between
the borrower and the lender, including fees paid or
received by either the borrower or lender on the other’s
behalf. An entity applies the amendment to financial
liabilities that are modified or exchanged on or after
the beginning of the annual reporting period in which
the entity first applies the amendment. The amendment
is effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2022. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendment is not expected to have a significant impact
on the Group’s financial statements.

° IFRS 16 Leases: removes the illustration of payments °
from the lessor relating to leasehold improvements
in lIllustrative Example 13 accompanying IFRS 16. This
removes potential confusion regarding the treatment of
lease incentives when applying IFRS 16.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction
to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in
the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence
of a principal market,
the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous

in the most advantageous market for

market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of
an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that
market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best
interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

130

POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a

whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the lowest

level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the
end of each reporting period.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets, financial assets and non-current
assets classified as held for sale), the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use (“VIU") and its fair
value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are
largely independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. In testing
a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of the carrying
amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters building)
is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if it can be
allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to
the smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing VIU,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the
period in which it arises in those expense categories consistent
with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If
such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that
asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount
that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

or

(b)

the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or
(iii) is @ member of the key management personnel of

the Group or of a parent of the Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;
(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the

other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

S HEME @

R Bk 75
THESREAREEEEME

(a)

59

(b)
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Related parties (Continued)
(b) (Continued)

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); and

(viii)  the entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. When an item of property, plant and
equipment is classified as held for sale, it is not depreciated
and in accordance with IFRS 5, as further explained in the
accounting policy for “Non-current assets held for sale”. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the
asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition
criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is
capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement.
Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises
such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciates them accordingly.
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2.4
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation (Continued)

Depreciation of items of property, plant and equipment, other
than mining infrastructure, is calculated on the straight-line
basis to write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The
estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment are as

follows:

Buildings 5-20 years
Plant and machinery 5-20 years
Office equipment 3-10 years
Motor vehicles 5-10 years

Depreciation of mining infrastructure is calculated using the
units-of-production (“UOP”) method to depreciate the cost of
the assets in proportion to the extraction of the proved and
probable mineral reserves. The remaining estimated useful life
of the mining infrastructure at the end of the reporting period
ranging with 14 years are determined in accordance with the
production plans of the entities concerned and the proved and
probable reserves of mines using the UOP method.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal
or when no future economic benefits are expected from its
use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised
is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation (Continued)

Construction in progress represents items of property, plant
and equipment under construction, which is stated at cost less
any impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises
the direct costs of construction and capitalised borrowing costs
on related borrowing funds during the period of construction.
Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when completed and
ready for use.

Non-current assets and disposal groups held
for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held
for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally
through a sales transaction rather than through continuing use.
For this to be the case, the asset or disposal group must be
available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only
to terms that are usual and customary for the sale of such assets
or disposal groups and its sale must be highly probable. All
assets and liabilities of a subsidiary classified as a disposal group
are reclassified as held for sale regardless of whether the Group
retains a non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary after
the sale.

Non-current assets and disposal groups (other than financial
assets) classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of
their carrying amounts and fair values less costs to sell. Property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets classified as held for
sale are not depreciated or amortised.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
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POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to
be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives
are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and
the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite
useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Brand name

Brand name is stated at cost less any impairment losses and is
amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated useful life
of 10 years.

Mining rights

Mining rights are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation
and any impairment losses. Mining rights include the cost
of acquiring mining licences, exploration and evaluation
costs transferred from exploration rights and assets upon
determination that an exploration property is capable of
commercial production, and the cost of acquiring interests in the
mining reserves of existing mining properties. The mining rights
are amortised over the estimated useful lives of the mines, in
accordance with the production plans of the entities concerned
and the proved and probable reserves of the mines using the
UOP method. Mining rights are written off to profit or loss if the
mining property is abandoned.

Exploration rights and assets

Exploration rights are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any impairment losses, and exploration assets
are stated at cost less any impairment losses. Exploration rights
and assets include the cost of acquiring exploration rights,
topographical and geological surveys, exploratory drilling,
sampling and trenching and activities in relation to commercial
and technical feasibility studies, and deferred amortisation and
depreciation charges in respect of assets consumed during the
exploration activities.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwiill)
(Continued)

Exploration rights and assets (Continued)

Exploration rights are amortised over the term of rights.
Equipment used in exploration is depreciated over its useful life,
or, if dedicated to a particular exploration project, over the life
of the project on the straight-line basis, whichever is shorter.
Amortisation and depreciation are included, in the first instance,
in exploration rights and assets and are transferred to mining
rights when it can be reasonably ascertained that an exploration
property is capable of commercial production.

Exploration and evaluation costs include expenditure incurred
to secure further mineralisation in existing ore bodies as well as
in new areas of interest. Expenditure incurred prior to acquiring
legal rights to explore an area is written off as incurred.

Exploration rights and assets shall be assessed for impairment
when facts and circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may exceed its recoverable amount. An impairment test is
performed if any of the following indicators are present:

(a) the period for which the entity has the right to explore
in the specific area has expired during the period or
will expire in the near future, and is not expected to be
renewed;

(b) substantial expenditure on further exploration for and
evaluation of mineral resources in the specific area is
neither budgeted nor planned;

(o) exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources
in the specific area have not led to the discovery of
commercially viable quantities of mineral resources and
the entity has decided to discontinue such activities in
the specific area; or

(d) sufficient data exist to indicate that, although a
development in the specific area is likely to proceed,
the carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation
asset is unlikely to be recovered in full from successful
development or by sale.

Notes to the Financial Statements

BT 15 R R M 5%
Year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F 128318 IEEE

24 FEZHHENE &

BREE (BERMN @

BiREREE (B)

Hy SR IR A B R 4 8H - BV ERFRE A 5%
BUBRERERERFHFEINE
HEBERFECHHRBEENFTEREG A
RZEBERPAERE UBREES
) BRI E AT AN REREE
R ERGERERYETETH
EEER BERER-

MR R AR A B EEERAER UK
EHEmENE-—SRIEAMELENR
X MESEERNNE —EREET
B B $R T 2 2E YR SR S EE AR B A8 o

HREREERBERIRE S E A B
HAl e EMEE RFEREIRFRET
B AT A B E R EUR B 3R T SR
PR R HETT

(@) EBENRFEESNERENEA[
ERNR R EHE R WRAT

-
BEH

(b) HE—FHRKT G EREE
EERNAERAXBERE 75

mRE

(0 REEEHHERKFGEEEER
WEmEREBHELAMNEEER
BE HERDAERLEREE
BENZFEH; X

(d) ZREHEEXR BERFEERH
WRETETEEET BER
REHEEENRBEZEERATER
FRIhRA 3 S iE & R 2 EULE] -

2021 FiR | RENKEEREFRAS 137



Notes to the Financial Statements
B TR ¥R FR T 5

Year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12831HIEEE

2.4

138

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
(Continued)

Exploration rights and assets (Continued)

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the
exploration rights and assets’ carrying amount exceeds their
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of
the exploration rights and assets’ fair value less costs of disposal
and their VIU. For the purpose of assessing impairment, the
exploration rights and assets subject to testing are grouped
with existing cash-generating units of production fields that are
located in the same geographical region.

When it can be reasonably ascertained that an exploration
property is capable of commercial production, exploration and
evaluation costs capitalised are transferred to either mining
infrastructure or mining rights and depreciated/amortised using
the UOP method based on the proved and probable mineral
reserves. Exploration rights and assets are written off to profit or
loss if the exploration property is abandoned.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to
make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset
is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct
costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-
line basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Office premises
Plant and machinery

1 to 2 years
1 to 2 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group
by the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the
exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated
using the estimated useful life of the asset.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease payments
to be made over the lease term. The lease payments
include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate,
and amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise
price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be
exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for
termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the
Group exercising the option to terminate the lease. The
variable lease payments that do not depend on an index
or a rate are recognised as an expense in the period in
which the event or condition that triggers the payment
occurs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

140

(b)

(c)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its IBR at the lease commencement date
because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not
readily determinable. After the commencement date,
the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the
accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities
is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the
lease term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change
to future lease payments resulting from a change in an
index or rate) or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease term
of 12 months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the
recognition exemption for leases of low-value assets to
leases of office equipment and laptop computers that are
considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost and fair value through
profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the
case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price determined under IFRS 15 in accordance with the policies
set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are
not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit
or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group's business model for managing financial assets refers
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate
cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows
will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the
financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured
at amortised cost are held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows, while financial assets classified and measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income are held within
a business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are not
held within the aforementioned business models are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income (debt instruments)

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and
impairment losses or reversals are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss and computed in the same manner as for financial
assets measured at amortised cost. The remaining fair value
changes are recognised in other comprehensive income. Upon
derecognition, the cumulative fair value change recognised in
other comprehensive income is recycled to the statement of
profit or loss.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in
the statement of financial position at fair value with net changes
in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to
classify at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Dividends on equity investments classified as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss are also recognised as other
income in profit or loss when the right of payment has been
established, it is probable that the economic benefits associated
with the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably.

2.4

$t = D-I-IE&EE*EEE (#)
KREREMEMEE @

MR Rt & (8)
THMEENAMEESREENRRZH
B FrERAEBRENLEZEENH

) R - BREBEANRTIHHRAISIEG
LERIINABNERNEENSRE
EEE-

Higste
SHEENEEHBIARENTH
5

A ENZHEE (BFETLR)

REHENAFENESHREEERIAE
BRAMEZFE WEEHRE BSEER
ARIEFRER fP‘ESZ‘JZijE/WEH# W58 R 65
BEEniEmED

BAFEFEMREZEFARMEEH
Wat i 2 MEE (BFTR)
MBRATESEMEEH St AZEMER
WM EHBREMS > FBWA B
BEBURRERENELENER
SR UIRERBHEAASAENETHE
EERNAEAGHE HFQAFEEHN
Hih 2 BN ESE o IAR IERESTR N HE
ﬂﬂiﬁ”ﬁl 5 HE SR B R et A T B &R B
EliEm &

BATEH BTREHHARBNE R
Bz

PN U L DEDN - EL
BERHBRAREATEIE T2
TR FENIEERE

Z AR BB 4 A £E 0 A R T AN ot R 4
DrFEstEMEZFst AR MER
BENARDENTETARRER
ﬁ°%&%%ﬁ4ﬁ§ﬁ%@%mﬁﬁﬂ
mARERATEERRESEED
st 26 ﬁ@%ﬁ@$@ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ
A ARTNEREENREARENR
BIFR B A EH AU A ©

CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED | 2021 ANNUAL REPORT



2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primary
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or
o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows

from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a
third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and
either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of
the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk
and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group
continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of
the Group's continuing involvement in the asset. In that case,
the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that
reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to
the contractual terms.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that
result from default events that are possible within the next
12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for
which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since
initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain
cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in
default when internal or external information indicates that the
Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts
in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held
by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether a financial
asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is credit-impaired
when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the
following observable events:

(i) significant financial difficulties of the debtor;
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

(i) a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments; or

(iii) likelihood that the borrower will enter into bankruptcy or
other financial reorganization emerges.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade
receivables which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.

Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an

Stage 1 -

amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for

Stage 2 -

which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs
Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a
significant financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group applies the simplified approach
in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on
its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

146

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Simplified approach (Continued)

For trade receivables and contract assets that contain a
significant financing component and lease receivables, the
Group chooses as its accounting policy to adopt the simplified
approach in calculating ECLs with policies as described above.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans
and borrowings and payables.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade payables, other
payables, amounts due to related parties and interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of loans and borrowings and
payables is as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
After initial recognition,
payables are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the

loans and borrowings and other

effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective

interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in finance costs in profit or loss.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse
the holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor
fails to make a payment when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract is
recognised initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issuance
of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group
measures the financial guarantee contracts at the higher of: (i)
the ECL allowance determined in accordance with the policy as
set out in “Impairment of financial assets”; and (ii) the amount
initially recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative
amount of income recognised.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference
between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit
or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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POLICIES (Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average basis and,
in the case of finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct
labour and an appropriate proportion of fixed and variable
overhead costs, including depreciation and amortisation incurred
in converting materials into finished goods, based on the
normal production capacity. Net realisable value is based on
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred
to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short-term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when acquired.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
at banks, including term deposits, which are not restricted as to
use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in statement of profit or loss.

2.4

FEGSTEREE &

=8
FEEMARPTEIRBENE THEE
BIER o AR INIE T A& BER A
o RIS EERYE R A ERFHRA
REERTEEERETNEEELD
BEBYRES N R EENITERE
HERESEESNS - J2RFES
Rt EBHMRTEA R HERAREL
B AEE -

RERAEEED
REAREABEMS ReRBSE
AMEEFERS ERERR IR
WHRACNUERS HELH ARG
R — MR BB AR =185 P B B RY R E
BRBIRE

MEEMBRREMS  RERRES
BYEERRTZRFINFRRESHSZ
BERITIRE (BEARER °

B

ERBEEHERREES CEEHE
) RBRAIEFTEFERALUER
B AEBGREDEAE  BLRED
SAFAREH SR

EMBENTEEAR  AEETHEDYN
BEZEATERTRFEEEFHRRK
STHR R ERVIRE - A ERAM
EENRLRRERER JIFEMBR A
ABmEe

CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED | 2021 ANNUAL REPORT



2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Provisions (Continued)

Provisions for the Group's obligations for rehabilitation are
based on estimates of required expenditure at the mines in
accordance with the rules and regulations of the PRC. The
obligation generally arises when the asset is installed or the
ground environment is disturbed at the production location.
The Group estimates its liabilities for final rehabilitation and
mine closure based upon detailed calculations of the amount
and timing of the future cash expenditure to perform the
required work. Spending estimates are escalated for inflation,
then discounted at a discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the liability such that the amount of provision reflects the
present value of the expenditures expected to be required to
settle the obligation. When the liability is initially recognised, the
present value of the estimated cost is capitalised by increasing
the carrying amount of the related mining infrastructure.

Over time, the discounted liability is increased for the change in
the present value based on the appropriate discount rate. The
periodic unwinding of the discount is recognised within finance
costs in profit or loss. The asset is depreciated using the UOP
method over its expected life and the liability is accreted to the
projected expenditure date. Additional disturbances or changes
in estimates (such as mine plan revisions, changes in estimated
costs, or changes in timing of the performance of reclamation
activities) will be recognised as additions or charges to the
corresponding assets and rehabilitation liabilities when they
occur at the appropriate discount rate.

Notes to the Financial Statements

2.4

BT 15 R R M 5%
Year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F 128318 IEEE

B BHEHNE @

BiE @
FERRBETERSEFHNEEE
1S ¥ 22 AR R B A AR B e AR 1 B AR 7E B9 B
GHRXMEHNMGS EE—RREE
1S 2 B I 4 A B 0 4 A st RE A 35 3
RERITERELE AERMGSHER
BERABEGRBANEENDIKESET
METIFNRREEHASINEREEE
At E A G EBERRME
TR ABRUMRXER LRREE
e B EERERNEENRRINIRE
mHeT o U ERESERREBHAR
BTEANAXEE BEXEERDEA
B SR B - (& BT A A RYIR B2 B 18 B R e
ERNRETRLEABTESR

MREETHERBMREEENBEMER
RS FHMIL M- EMEORIRP BT
B A —ETED - EENBLEE
BAZENREFRMERTE LHAAS
BEERAHABH - ZMEFEEEMNT
BB NIRRT BEST » (E5t AR
B ETEREEMNEBEE) K&
SRR TERNEARGRBEERR
XEIR/HEREERERSERNEM
SRR ©

2021 £ | PENKEBBEBESRAS 149



Notes to the Financial Statements
B TR ¥R FR T 5

Year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12831HIEEE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

150

POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries when the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, and the
carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the
end of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent
that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and
only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax
assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity
or different taxable entities which intend either to settle current
tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on
a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to
a deferred income account and is deducted from the carrying
amount of the asset and released to profit or loss by way of a
reduced depreciation charge.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which the
Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or
services to the customer. The variable consideration is estimated
at contract inception and constrained until it is highly probable
that a significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative
revenue recognised will not occur when the associated
uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently
resolved.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than one
year, revenue is measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group
and the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the Group with
a significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue
recognised under the contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest
method. For a contract where the period between the payment
by the customer and the transfer of the promised goods or
services is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted
for the effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in IFRS 15.

Sale of industrial products

Revenue from the sale of industrial products is recognised at
the point in time when control of the asset is transferred to the
customer, generally on delivery of the goods.

Rendering of services

Revenue from the rendering of specialised mining services
is recognised over time, using an input method to measure
progress towards complete satisfaction of the service, because
the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced. The
input method recognises revenue based on the proportion of
the actual costs incurred relative to the estimated total costs for
satisfaction of the of specialised mining services. Revenue from
the rendering of consultancy management service is recognised
over the scheduled period on a straight-line basis because the
customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group.
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POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Contract assets

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for
goods or services transferred to the customer. If the Group
performs by transferring goods or services to a customer before
the customer pays consideration or before payment is due,
a contract asset is recognised for the earned consideration
that is conditional. Contract assets are subject to impairment
assessment, details of which are included in the accounting
policies for impairment of financial assets.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services
to the customer).
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases
when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All
other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they
are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs
that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed
final dividends are disclosed in note 11 to the financial
statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’'s memorandum and articles of association
grant the Directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including Directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the
form of share-based payments, whereby employees render
services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees
is measured by reference to the fair value of the equity
instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value
is determined by an external valuer using a binomial model,
further details of which are given in note 28 to the financial
statements.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-
settled transactions at the end of each reporting period until
the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period
has expired and the Group's best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit
to profit or loss for a period represents the movement in the
cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of
that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken
into account when determining the grant date fair value of
awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is
assessed as part of the Group's best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance
conditions are reflected within the grant date fair value.
Any other conditions attached to an award, but without an
associated service requirement, are considered to be non-vesting
conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value
of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an award
unless there are also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition
is satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of
modification.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if
it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award,
and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it
is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they
were a modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.

Other employee benefits

Pension schemes

The employees of the subsidiaries in Mainland China are
required to participate in a defined central pension scheme
managed by the local municipal government of the areas in
Mainland China in which they operate. These subsidiaries are
required to contribute a certain percentage of the relevant part
of the payroll of these employees to the central pension scheme.
The Group has no obligation for the payment of retirement
benefits beyond the annual contributions. The contributions are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the central pension scheme.

In addition to the above, the Group also participates in a
defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement
benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the MPF Scheme for
its employee in Hong Kong. Contributions are made based on
a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged
to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund.

The subsidiary that was incorporated and operates in Singapore
is obligated to contribute to an independently administered fund
(such as the Central Provident Fund in Singapore, a government
managed defined contribution retirement benefit plan).
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158

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Other employee benefits (Continued)

Pension schemes (Continued)

The subsidiaries that were incorporated and operate in Australia
pay fixed contributions in relation to several state plans and
insurances for individual employees on a mandatory and
contractual basis.

Save as disclosed, the Group has no legal or constructive
obligations to pay contributions in addition to its fixed
contributions, which are recognised as an expense in the period
that related employee services are received.

Housing fund

Contributions to a defined contribution housing fund
administered by the Public Accumulation Funds Administration
Centre in Mainland China are charged to profit or loss as
incurred.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB, which is the
functional currency of the Company. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items included in
the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded
by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-
monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the
recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the
item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value
gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income
or profit or loss, respectively).
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date on which
the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-
monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If
there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of
the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are
currencies other than RMB. As at the end of the reporting
period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated
into RMB at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their profit or loss are translated into RMB
at the exchange rates that approximate to those prevailing at
the dates of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Judgement

(a)

Revenue recognition

The Group applies judgements in determining whether
it is principally involved in the trading of steels. The
Group concludes that it acts as a principal and recognises
revenue in the gross amount as the Group is able to
control steels before transferring to the customers and
has discretion in establishing the price for steels.

Estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key

sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting

period, that have a significant risk of causing a material

adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities

within the next financial year, are described below:

(a)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade
receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
trade receivables. The provision rates are based on days
past due for groupings of various customer segments
that have similar loss patterns (i.e., by customer type and
rating).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group's
historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate
the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience
with forward-looking information. For instance, if
forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic
product) are expected to deteriorate over the next year
which can lead to an increased number of defaults, the
historical default rates are adjusted. At each reporting
date, the historical observed default rates are updated
and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (cContinued)
Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade
receivables (Continued)

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs
is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may
also not be representative of a customer’s actual default
in the future. The information about the ECLs on the
Group's trade receivables is disclosed in note 19 to the
financial statements.

PRC corporate income tax (“PRC CIT")

The Group's operating subsidiaries in Mainland China are
subject to PRC CIT. As a result of the fact that certain
matters relating to PRC CIT have not been confirmed
by the relevant local tax authorities, objective estimates
based on currently enacted tax laws, regulations and
other related policies are required in determining the
provision for PRC CIT to be made. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts
originally recorded, the differences will impact the
income tax expense and tax provision in the period
in which the differences realise. The carrying amount
of PRC CIT payable as at 31 December 2021 was
RMB9,052,000 (31 December 2020: RMB11,266,000).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)
Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

The Group estimates useful lives and related depreciation
charges for its items of property, plant and equipment,
other than mining infrastructure for which the
depreciation is calculated on the UOP method. This
estimate is based on the historical experience of the
actual useful lives of items of property, plant and
equipment of similar nature and functions. It could
change significantly as a result of technical innovations
and actions of its competitors. Management will increase
the depreciation charge where useful lives are less than
previously estimated, or it will record an impairment
provision for technically obsolete assets that have been
abandoned.

Mine reserves

Engineering estimates of the Group’s mine reserves are
inherently imprecise and represent only approximate
amounts because of the significant judgements involved
in developing such information. There are authoritative
guidelines regarding the engineering criteria that
have to be met before estimated mine reserves can be
designated as “proved” and “probable”. Proved and
probable mine reserve estimates are updated at regular
intervals taking into account recent production and
technical information about each mine. In addition,
as prices and cost levels change from year to year, the
estimate of proved and probable mine reserves also
changes. This change is considered a change in estimates
for accounting purposes and is reflected on a prospective
basis in both depreciation and amortisation rates
calculated on the UOP method and the time period for
discounting the rehabilitation provision. Changes in the
estimate of mine reserves are also taken into account in
impairment assessments of non-current assets.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 3. FJAGHIETRMGE @
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued) GEt AR E @
(e) Exploration rights and assets (e) BiEEREE

The application of the Group's accounting policy for RHEEEEREEERAERN
exploration rights and assets requires estimation in BEHERE SEHRKRBARR
determining whether it is likely that future economic i & B 5 7J A A5 2k R 2R KO F)
benefits will result either from future exploitation or WO NEEEEERESEUSH
sale or whether activities have not reached a stage EEEEREFHSGIETGERE
which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence B EBN AT EHES - EBE
of reserves. The determination of mine reserves is BHEEASRIRMGER &
itself an estimation process with varying degrees of TR R A REREENFR
uncertainty depending on sub-classification. Estimates AEBEZ - HESHER > BIFR
and assumptions made may change if new information E BV 18 51 B R 3% AJ BE BN & o i
becomes available. If, after expenditure is capitalised, RHEZEREABERERET
information becomes available suggesting that the RS A ARIAEWRE] > B R E A
recovery of expenditure is unlikely, the amount HNEERESHENARANER
capitalised is written off in profit or loss in the period FRfEE 0 522021512 831H 0 &)
when the new information becomes available. The RENEENRESEAARE
carrying amount of exploration rights and assets as at 65,991,0007¢ (20205F12831H :
31 December 2021 was RMB65,991,000 (31 December AE%65,991,0007T) °#—F %
2020: RMB65,991,000). Further details are given in note BEN MR RW T 140

14 to the financial statements.

(f) Net realisable value of inventories f FENTEREE

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling FENITERFENNHEHEER
price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated mEPNMGEEE MR 5T
cost to be incurred to completion and disposal. These B A R HE A o ZEMEETTD
estimates are based on the current market condition ERRETmAKBEEREEEE
and the historical experience of selling products of a mEE KR ABEIEET WO
similar nature. It could change significantly as a result RERAAEEERN N FITEE
of changes in downstream industries that consume HMEASENE - BEEENERS
the Group's products. Management reassesses these AR EMTE AR ET 722021
estimates at the end of each reporting period. The F12A31H ZFENRE S
carrying amount of inventories as at 31 December AE®11,900,0007% (2020412
2021 was RMB11,900,000 (31 December 2020: A318 : AR"5,814,0007T) © #
RMB5,814,000). Further details are given in note 18 to — T BH N BRRMEE180

the financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)
Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(9)

Provision for rehabilitation

Provision for rehabilitation is based on estimates
of future expenditures incurred by management to
undertake rehabilitation and restoration work which
were discounted at a rate of 6.27% as at 31 December
2021 (31 December 2020: 6.27%) reflecting the term
and nature of the obligations to their present values.
Significant estimates and assumptions are made in
determining the provision for rehabilitation as there are
numerous factors that will affect the ultimate liability
payable. These factors include estimates of the extent
and costs of rehabilitation activities, technological
changes, regulatory changes, cost increases and
changes in the discount rate. Those uncertainties may
result in future actual expenditure differing from the
amounts currently provided. The provision at the end
of the reporting period represents management’s best
estimate of the present value of the future rehabilitation
costs required. Changes to estimated future costs are
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position by adjusting the rehabilitation asset and liability.
The carrying amount of provision for rehabilitation as at
31 December 2021 was RMB14,523,000 (31 December
2020: RMB13,654,000). Further details are contained in
note 26 to the financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (cContinued)
Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(h)

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences and unused tax losses to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary
differences and the tax losses can be utilised. Estimates
of future taxable income are based on forecast cash
flows from operations and the application of existing
tax laws in each jurisdiction. To the extent that future
cash flows and taxable income differ significantly from
estimates, the ability of the Group to realise the deferred
tax assets recorded at the end of the reporting period
could be impacted. The gross amount of deferred
tax assets recognised as at 31 December 2021 was
RMB12,208,000 (31 December 2020: RMB14,824,000).
The amounts of unrecognised tax losses and
unrecognised deductible temporary differences as at 31
December 2021 were RMB408,363,000 (31 December
2020: RMB1,051,268,000) and RMB115,431,000
(31 December 2020: RMB119,234,000), respectively.
Further details are contained in note 17 to the financial
statements.

Additionally, future changes in tax laws and regulations
in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates could
limit the ability of the Group to obtain tax deductions on
taxable income in future periods.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)
Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

()

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets (including
the right-of-use assets) at the end of each reporting
period. Definite life non-financial assets are tested
for impairment when there are indicators that the
carrying amounts may not be recoverable. Based on the
existing market conditions, impairment indicators were
identified for the Group’s main mining cash-generating
units, other pre-development stage mining rights, and
exploration rights and assets. An impairment exists when
the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit
exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of
its fair value less costs to sell and its VIU. The calculation
of the fair value less costs to sell is based on available
data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length
transaction of similar assets or observable market prices
less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When
VIU calculations are undertaken, management must
estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset
or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash
flows.

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 3. FJAGHIETRMGE @
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued) GEt AR E @
) Leases — Estimating the IBR i) HE-GHRIEEERNX

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate REBAEIRZMETHERNS
implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an IBR to ) Z > R I f5F IR I 8 B A &5t
measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest EHEAGFE RIEEEMNEXTLR
that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a EEREESCEIRET  AEE
similar term, and with a similar security, the funds BEAREEEBERAENEE
necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the BREEKRIAREREAREE
right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. TR AAMNF = F L EIEE
The IBR therefore reflects what the Group “would have BRERMAERTESZTI R
to pay”, which requires estimation when no observable A B HEBREAFE (FI
rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not AT ULMER SN FABM
enter into financing transactions) or when it needs to be SR HAEEEARMEERR
adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease BAEGmMELAERE (FlusEii
(for example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s Bl ERFATINIEEE K E
functional currency). The Group estimates the IBR using BF) > BFH et e REEMBAT
observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when Bz AE (HlumEH=E) (W
available and is required to make certain entity-specific B) mEHEGEERNZE > WA
estimates (such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit HTEREEME (BlmFas
rating). BB E:F4R) ©
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Year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12831HIEEE

168

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on their services and products and has three (2020:
three) reportable operating segments as follows:

(a) the high-Fe mining operation segment comprises the
operation of sale of self-produced high-grade iron
concentrates within the range of 65% TFe to 72%
TFe and the provision of consultancy and management
services;

(b) the trading segment comprises the operation of sale of
traded products;

(0) the corporate and others segment comprises the
provision of facilities management services for the
mining operations and the non-operating activities
supporting the Group which include the central functions
such as the functional costs that have not been allocated
to the other segments.

The Directors monitor the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/
loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/loss before tax from
continuing operations. The adjusted profit/loss before tax is
measured consistently with the Group's profit/loss before tax
except that other income and gain, other expenses, non-lease-
related finance costs and fair value losses on financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss are excluded from such
measurement.

Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets, pledged deposits
and cash and cash equivalents as these assets are managed on a
group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings and tax payable as these liabilities are managed on a
group basis.

REDEER
AEEEREBEANBBERERD D
BEEEMETEE =18 (2020F : =
8) A 2REEHBMT :

(a) EERUREEE S SCEHE
TFeEENF65%E72%MNHEE
0 o 17 8 45 1% 25 75 DA R 3 L R 1
REERY ;

BENMOEHEEZEMRE

)

(b)

§

(0 ©EREMOBEERREES
X EAERNIFEEEBRE M
RIEEERE > EIER AL (W0
RADEEH A BRI DI AEME AL
7)o

EFORERAEERKEEDENE
B UL E RN IR RIS FHRER
DERRENR DT 2|MDBAE B8T
o MBI 28RDMFE BB ER
BREEBNERERAFAE,EEN
B2 o BR1C 5T 8 B Bl BRE A WA R Wi
HMf  JFEERBEMBAEREA
TEFEMEEZFFARTNEREE
MR TEBIEN  KBERAAE &
BRstEARANEREERAAE, B8
RstERH—e

HIMEERBEE  EEREMUKLER
ERBREFEYREREETE 8D
BEETQIEZFEE-

MRt BRIRITREMEEUREBIIRR
REFEAEEE HOHEETEEZ

HFaEe
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2021

Segment revenue
Sales to external customers
Intersegment sales

Reconciliation:
Elimination of
intersegment sales

Revenue from
continuing operations

Segment results

Reconciliation:

Other income and gain

Other expense

Finance costs (other than
interest on lease liabilities)

Profit before tax from
continuing operations

Segment assets

Reconciliation:

Elimination of
intersegment receivables

Deferred tax assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Pledged deposits

Total assets

FEUA
BB EAEHRHE
DEREHE

AR
RH D BEHEE

FEREEBIWA

DEEER

R

HAh WA B i

HhFEs2

BHRE (FEEEE
SEHNFE)

RS EBRA
FH

DEEE
E0 I
EEH 9 B 8 PR WK IE

BEIETRIAE &=

RERREEEY
EEREM

BEME

Notes to the Financial Statements
B 75w ZR b 5

Year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F 128318 IEEE

4, RBEQEEF @)

#ZE2021F12831BLLEE
High-Fe
mining Corporate
operation Trading and others Total
= 8 111
2 E BE ¥R EAM =k
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBT T ARBFT ARBT T
56,776 657,984 - 714,760
- - 512 512
56,776 657,984 512 715,272
(512)
714,760
6,584 11,376 (8,742) 9,218
3,888
(2,288)
(5,195)
5,623
369,412 204,263 735,289 1,308,964
(176,020)
12,208
6,436
10,026
1,161,614
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Year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12831HIEEE

REFEEF @)

HZE2021F128318 1L EE (B)

Corporate

Trading and others Total

BE =3 K HAth =
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT ARETT
170,387 68,153 306,253
(176,020)
92,192
9,052
231,477
(3.,803) = (4,130)
6 499 9,236
- 109 18,266

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2021 (Continued)
High-Fe
mining
operation
= 8% m i
HIEER
RMB’000
ARBTT
Segment liabilities SFEEE 67,713
Elimination of 8 3 &I [ FE A FRIB

intersegment payables
Interest-bearing bank and FFEBITREMEES

other borrowings
Tax payable FES IR AR
Total liabilities BEELE
Other segment information H{th S HEER
Reversal of impairment losses & U BR 7l (& 5 18

on trade receivables, net BEELFEE (M5E7)

(note 7) (327)
Depreciation and amortisation 78 K # 84 8,731
Capital expenditure*(note 13) EZFIx* (fi5£13) 18,157
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and

equipment.

BEARAXBERBEYE BERR
o
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2020

Segment revenue
Sales to external customers

Revenue from
continuing operations

Segment results

Reconciliation:

Other income

Other expense

Finance costs (other than
interest on lease liabilities)

Profit before tax from
continuing operations

Segment assets

Reconciliation:

Elimination of
intersegment receivables

Deferred tax assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Pledged deposits

Assets related to the Disposal

Group

Total assets

D EBA
mINBE A RYH

DEBEE

#ER -

HAA

Hhfsz

MHERE (FEEEE
BENFS)

B EEBRA
AR

DEEE
R
L EH 9 B 8 PR W R IE

BIEIRIAEE
RERRTEEY
BEEMRER

BB EEENEE

BEME

Notes to the Financial Statements
B 75w ZR b 5

Year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F 128318 IEEE

4, RBEQEEF @)

HE2020F12HB318BEEE

High-Fe

mining Corporate

operation Trading and others Total
&8

PRUEZETS BE bR EHAM &5t
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®FT AR#EFT AREFT AREFT
87,079 401,056 - 488,135
488,135
17,454 8,750 (13,555) 12,649
3,864
(3,212)
(5,268)
8,033
342,802 169,684 723,016 1,235,502
(135,397)
14,824
32,645
328
77,730
1,225,632
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Year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12831HIEEE

REFEEF @)

B E2020F12B31HIEEE
Corporate
Trading and others

5H 13 R EAh
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARBTIT
143,161 59,875
(1,649) -

- 753

- 2,206

Total

&t
RMB'000
AREF T
264,586

(135,397)

84,735
11,266

84,990

310,180

(1,479)
13,310
14,700

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2020
High-Fe
mining
operation
5 8 m il
RIS
RMB’000
AR#FTT
Segment liabilities SFEEE 61,550
Elimination of 58 > &I 6 FE A TR 1B
intersegment payables
Interest-bearing bank and FREIBTRAEMES
other borrowings
Tax payable FE(TTRR
Liabilities related to the BRHEERNER
Disposal Group
Total liabilities BEEEE
Other segment information H 3 EE
Provision for/(reversal of) FEW AR FUR B RS 18
impairment losses on trade BE (BR) FEE
receivables, net (note 7) (F5E7) 170
Depreciation and amortisation T &5 Kz 1 i 12,557
Capital expenditure*(note 13) & ZAFIZ* (F5E13) 12,494
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and
equipment.

* EARAZBEREVE BERR

e
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

Notes to the Financial Statements

BT 15 R R M 5%
Year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F 128318 IEEE

(Continued)
Entity-wide disclosures
Geographical information

REDBEHN @

HREEREIKE
HILEH

(a)

(b)

Revenue from external customers

The following table sets out information about the
geographical locations of the Group's revenue from
external customers during the year. The geographical
locations of customers are determined based on the
locations designated by the customers at which the
goods were delivered or services were rendered.

Mainland China R Ay 3t
Non-current assets

Mainland China R Ay 3t
Singapore Hrhnig
Hong Kong b

The non-current asset information of continuing
operations above is based on the locations of the assets
and excludes prepayments, other receivables and other
assets and deferred tax assets.

(a)

REIEEERBUA

TREIERNFEBRBIIDE
FURABI#IE R - ZT R BIPRTE
wLEREREEXMNERIE

AR5 B9 3 B 7 7E ©
2021 2020
20214 20204F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETF T AR¥ETF T
714,760 488,135

(b) FEFRBEE

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETF T AR®EF T
901,979 897,183
363 587
= 173
902,342 897,943
PR EREXENIERBEE

BERUBENFREMASER B
T EERMNRIE S HthEWRIE
REAMEEURIEIERBEE o
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Year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12831HIEEE

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4,

(Continued)

Entity-wide disclosures (Continued)

Information about major customers

Revenue from each of the major customers, which amounted to

REDEEF 7

EREERE@®@
EEEFEN

REMGBEAI0%IULENETERF

10% or more of the total revenue, is set out below: B A ST -
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT AREBFT
Customer A EEH 657,984 400,777
Customer B BEZ —* 72,907
* Less than 10% * D 10%
5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAIN 5. WA-~EBHtUgABRWE
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WADFWMT :
2021 2020
20215 20204
RMB’000 % RMB'000 %
AR®T T ARETFT
Revenue from contracts % /5 & 494 A
with customers
Sale of industrial HETEESR:
products:
High-grade iron = o i1 3501 T
concentrates 56,776 7.9 78,966 16.2
Steels fiiik=] 657,984 92.1 401,056 82.2
Rendering of consultancy 12{{tEaRG & SIERTE
and management
services - - 8,113 1.6
714,760 100.0 488,135 100.0
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAIN
(Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers

(a)

Disaggregated revenue information
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Segments

Types of goods or
services

High-grade iron
concentrates

Trading of steels

Geographical
market
Mainland China

Time of revenue
recognition

Goods transferred at
a point in time

Notes to the Financial Statements
B 75w ZR b 5

Year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F 128318 IEEE

5. WA~-HMEAKRKE=E @
EREHNKRA
(@) EBERZSEBAEH
HZE2021F 128318 LFE
High-Fe
mining Corporate
operation Trading and others Total
= 8 11
PaR: RS BE EEREM A
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBT T AR®TT AR®TT
SmERFEER
= oo i A5 TR
56,776 - - 56,776
b= = 657,984 - 657,984
56,776 657,984 - 714,760
35 7 35
AR Py 3t 56,776 657,984 - 714,760
LT A T 58 ¥ P
NE— B R EEN
Em 56,776 657,984 - 714,760
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Year ended 31 December 2021
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAIN

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

(Continued)
Disaggregated revenue information (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2020

(a)

Segments

Types of goods or
services

High-grade iron
concentrates

Trading of steels

Rendering of
consultancy and
management
services

Geographical
market
Mainland China

Time of revenue
recognition

Goods transferred at
a point in time

Services transferred
over time

D
ok
el

BB RFBER
= m L EEE

i E 5
RMER R EERE

3% T 45
REIR

L ON £
MNE—EEEEEN

1 O
=Rsla]

B8 B e B 2 B IR 75

WA~ Efthi A B = @)
EREHNWA #@)

(@) BHRIVAER (B

HZE2020E128318IEEE

High-Fe
mining Corporate

operation Trading and others Total

=i m U
PRUR 275 BE ERREAM a5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFTT AREFT AR#EFT
78,966 - - 78,966
- 401,056 - 401,056
8,113 - - 8,113
87,079 401,056 — 488,135
87,079 401,056 — 488,135
78,966 401,056 - 480,022
8,113 - - 8,113
87,079 401,056 - 488,135
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAIN

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

(Continued)
Disaggregated revenue information (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

(a)

Segments

Revenue from
contracts with
customers

External customers

Intersegment sales

Intersegment
adjustments and
eliminations

Total revenue from
contracts with
external customers

EREHEA

SERE P
DESEHE

AR kg

SNERE R AU
#azE

Notes to the Financial Statements
B 75w ZR b 5

Year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F 128318 IEEE

5. WA~EHEMIARKE @)

EREHNBRA @

(@) BiRIVAER (B

HE2021F12A310 L FE
High-Fe
mining Corporate
operation Trading and others Total
= 8 11
BRURFETS BEE EERELM =k
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBF T ARBT T ARBT T
56,776 657,984 - 714,760
- - 512 512
56,776 657,984 512 715,272
- - (512) (512)
56,776 657,984 - 714,760
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178

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAIN
(Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

(a) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

We A~ EAth i A Be ik s 42

ERGHWA @)

(a) EBRIKAER B
HZE2020E128318IEEE

High-Fe
mining Corporate
operation Trading and others Total
= 8 5L
Segments IEB RIBETS == EREM =11
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREBTFT AREBTT AREBTT ARBTT
Revenue from SEBEREHWA
contracts
with external
customers 87,079 401,056 - 488,135
(b)  Performance obligations (b) RBHEE

Information about the Group's performance obligations
is summarised below:

Sale of industrial products

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery
of the industrial products and payment is generally due
within 120 days from delivery. There were no remaining
performance obligations unsatisfied or partially satisfied
as at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2021.

Consultancy and management services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered. Consultancy and management
service contracts are for periods of one year or more,
and are billed based on the time incurred. There were
no remaining performance obligations unsatisfied or
partially satisfied as at 31 December 2020 and 31
December 2021.
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Year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F 128318 IEEE

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAIN 5. WA~HMKARKE @
(Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers ERESHIWA @
(Continued)
An analysis of other income and gain is as follows: HMWA K EDTWMT -
2021 2020
20214 20204
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5 AR®ETT AE®BFT
Other income Htgg A
Bank interest income IRITFI B U A 16 8
Government grants B D (a) 173 967
Sale of raw materials R E 2,505 2,002
Miscellaneous Hih 1,177 887
3,871 3,864
Gain I &=
Gain on disposal of items of HEME BB KHEE
property, plant and equipment 5B B = 17 -
Total other income and gain HMWA K w48 %E 3,888 3,864
Note: Mk -
(a) There were no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to (a) 18 4 75 A 5% 55 ERURT 48 BH A9 SR 2 RIS 4
these government grants. EEISEEEESSE
FINANCE COSTS 6. BB
An analysis of finance costs from continuing operations is as HEKESEEMBER AW T -
follows:
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥FT AR¥ET T
Interest on bank and other borrowings  RTT R EfEERIFI B 4,326 4,461
Interest on lease liabilities (note 15(c)) HEaENFE (MsE15() 198 330
Unwinding of discount on provision BEIRERE (st26)
(note 26) 869 807
5,393 5,598
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Year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12831HIEEE

180

PROFIT BEFORE TAX FROM CONTINUING

OPERATIONS

The Group’s profit before tax from continuing operations was

arrived at after charging/(crediting):

Cost of inventories sold

Employee benefit expenses
(including Directors” and chief
executive’s remuneration
(note 8)):

Wages and salaries

Welfare and other benefits

Pension scheme contributions
— Defined contribution fund

Housing fund
— Defined contribution fund

Total employee benefit expenses

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Amortisation of intangible assets

Depreciation and amortisation expenses

Reversal of impairment losses on
trade receivables, net

Lease payments not included in the
measurement of lease liabilities

Auditor’s remuneration
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CEHEFERE

EERAMAXZ (B
EFERESITHRAE
#EN (95E8)) ¢

TER#HE

B R EthF) &=

BARE ST B
—AEHREE

EEARE
—REHMEE

EEBMRAXEER

ME- -BERRBITE

EREEERE
B E E S

rE R

FEWR TR B R385 (B
PER

TEFABERESE
BIAE™M

Z BN =

7.

Notes

By 5E

13

15(a)

14

19

15(c)

EERBRAARE

AEBNFBEEEZRAMN LR
bR/ (Gt A) THISEBER :

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETF T AR¥TF T
690,098 441,548
11,830 12,594
1,122 957
1,177 735

286 308
14,415 14,594
7,151 9,748
1,503 2,499

582 1,063

9,236 13,310
(4,130) (1,479)

99 614

2,130 1,980




DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES

Directors’ and chief executive’'s remuneration for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
("HKSE"), section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure
of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as

follows:
Fees B
Other emoluments: Hidl < -

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥ & 2B EREYF &

Pension scheme contributions
— Defined contribution fund

Notes:

(a)

BRIRE FTEIHR
—REHMEE

Independent non-executive directors
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during the
year were as follows:

Mr. Yu Haizong REREE
Mr. Liu Vi ZRFKE
Mr. Wu Wen BxiEt

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent
non-executive directors during the year (2020: nil).

Notes to the Financial Statements

BT 15 R R M 5%
Year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F 128318 IEEE

EERESITHRASHMN
Ukza#HMakES

REEERESRZMARRE (MR
Pry) 8855 EHARBFEBRBKEE
383(1)(a)~ (b)~ (B (NFRLL R A B (I ER
EFENmER) ROE M RBERFES
ERESITHRASNHFMOT

2021 2020
20214 20204F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR¥ETF T
2,091 2,223

347 427

45 45

392 472

2,483 2,695

P EE

(a) BIJFRITES
FRENBIFATEENRSN

T
2021 2020

20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ART T
150 150

150 150

150 150

450 450

ERITEECBIIFRITESNEM
B (20204 : £8) o
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Year ended 31 December 2021
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182

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID

EERESTHRASHM
UkzE#HMakES

EMPLOYEES (continued) (42)
Notes: (Continued) (E=RE =7
(b) Executive directors, non-executive director and the chief (b) HITEE - FRTEERESITH
executive ABE
Salaries,
allowances
and Pension
benefits scheme
Fees in kind contributions Total
He RME BihE
ik B S sTRIHR =
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
2021 20215
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping* & FRF4ciE~ 75 86 15 176
Mr. Hao Xiemin iE s e 150 136 15 301
Mr. Wang Hu FREE 150 125 15 290
375 347 45 767
Non-executive director JEHITEE
Mr. Teh Wing Kwan BBk R S A 1,266 - - 1,266
1,641 347 45 2,033
Salaries,
allowances
and Pension
benefits scheme
Fees in kind contributions Total
e RN BAE
ik BEYHa SHEIHERR A%
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARYTT AR¥TT ARMTT
2020 20204
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping* A4~ 150 125 15 290
Mr. Hao Xiemin ML E 150 152 15 317
Mr. Wang Hu TREE 150 150 15 315
450 427 45 922
Non-executive director ~ JEHITEE
Mr. Teh Wing Kwan Bk HEALE 1,323 - - 1,323
1,773 427 45 2,245
* Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping was re-designated from the * B FEER2017FE10812
chairman of the board of the Company and the acting HHARBEEGEEFERR
chief executive officer to executive director and the chief BEEERTERTIHNTES
executive officer on 12 October 2017. REFBHITE -
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

Notes to the Financial Statements

REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES (continued)

Notes:

(c)

(Continued)

Five highest paid employees

The five highest paid employees during the year include four
directors (2020: one). Details of directors’ remuneration are
set out above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the
remaining one (2020: four) highest paid employee who is neither
a director nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

Salaries, allowances and e R REYA TS
benefits in kind

Pension scheme contributions BAREFTEIMHR
— Defined contribution fund —RAEHMER

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest
paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following
bands is as follows:

Nil to HKD1,000,000
HKD1,000,001 to HKD 1,500,000
HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000

0% 1,000,000 7T
1,000,001/ 5% 1,500,000 7T
1,500,001/ 5 %E2,000,0005 7T

BT 15 R R M 5%
Year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F 128318 IEEE

SERRSITEHA S
URknEiHMNAERES
(&

WisE : ()

(c) BESHMNERES
FANRBHFINALEESENS
(20205 : — ) EF - ERNH
Mt EEINN EX - AREEHT—%
(20204 : M%) BEIFEBTHIFEEAR
ARBTHRABNESHMEES N

BizIBEWT -
2021 2020
20215 20204
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT AR®T T
509 3,458
44 302
553 3,760

HINEUATHERANRSHNES
CFEERIFERBITHRAR W#E
wr

Number of employees

EE#E
2021 2020
20214 20204
1 2
Nil & 1
Nil & 1
1 4
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Year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12831HIEEE

INCOME TAX

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and the BVI, the Group was not subject to any income tax in
the Cayman Islands and the BVI during the two years ended 31
December 2021 and 2020.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the
Group had no assessable profits derived from or earned in Hong
Kong during the two years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

The provision for the PRC CIT is based on the respective PRC CIT
rates applicable to the subsidiaries located in Mainland China as
determined in accordance with the relevant income tax rules and
regulations of Mainland China for the year.

All subsidiaries domiciled in the PRC (the “PRC subsidiaries”)
were subject to the PRC CIT rate of 25% during the year
ended 31 December 2021. Pursuant to the income tax rules
and regulations in Australia, the companies located in Australia
which were the Group's subsidiaries before the Disposal are
liable to Australia corporate income tax at a rate of 30% on the
assessable profits generated for the year. Pursuant to the income
tax rules and regulations in Singapore, the Group's subsidiary
located in Singapore is liable to Singapore corporate income tax
at a rate of 17% on the assessable profits generated for the
year.

The major components of income tax charge/(credit) are as
follows:

FRigi
RIEHEHENEBELEENRIK
RO REBEBMEE20215F 52020
FNAHIEREFESMNBESHEE R
HBRUBEEMBER

AR AERPEE20214F K2020F128
BMELERBEEETERNEBANES
BHMESRAE  SRAEMEANE
FRPEL 3 o

PP EEEMMSREHBNERTZRA
FETEAMBERAASRER &R
EERBERRPEAMF RS ER
PRIBERGRINKEE -

FrETEEMTAR (MHREFAE) R
HE2021F 12831 HIEEERNEE25%
B A E 1 PR S IR IR AR o 1R 358 M
BFF BRI REAF  NHEEFIEET
FIARERFRABNEMNABBERENRN
EERERRFIEIR30%09HR X E 4R
W ZERER - RBIMKE W ERR
B R 86) REB MR MFENF AT
BRENELENERBAEIZ17%091
KNI 2 FREH o

PRSI W,/ (E%) WEEMAME DU
T

Current — Singapore
Charge for the year

Current — Mainland China
Charge for the year

Deferred (note 17)

Total tax charge/(credit) for the year
from continuing operations

Total tax charge for the year from
discontinued operations (note 10)

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT AR¥TF T
BOHE — N 3R
FRAZH 5 3
BIHA— AR Py ith
FAZH 2,020 1,788
IRIE (M95E17) 2,616 (2,041)
FELEERERNRELH
(&%) 4228 4,641 (250)
EARIECEEBEERRELH
#az8 (M9sE10) - -
4,641 (250)
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INCOME TAX (Continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements
B 75w ZR b 5

Year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F 128318 IEEE

9. FFR @&

A reconciliation of the tax charge/(credit) applicable to profit/
(loss) before tax at the applicable tax rate for the companies
within the Group to the tax charge/(credit) at the effective tax

rate is as follows:

Profit before tax from
continuing operations
Profit/(loss) before tax from
discontinued operations

Tax at the respective statutory tax
rates:
— Mainland China subsidiaries, at
25%

— Australia subsidiaries, at 30%

— the Company and its Hong Kong
subsidiaries, at 16.5%

— Singapore subsidiary, at 17%
Expenses not deductible for tax
Tax effect of tax losses not

recognised
Reversal of deferred tax assets

recognised in the prior years
Tax effect of deductible temporary

differences not recognised
Income not subject to tax
Tax losses utilised from the

prior year

Tax charge/(credit) at the Group's
effective tax rate

Tax charge/(credit) from continuing
operations at the effective
tax rate

Tax charge from discontinued
operations at the effective
tax rate

BREARAEBRETRABAMNRKRATFE,
(B8R WERAREXFENRESRE
(%) BRBERREXAHENNESZH

SRESEERIRATA

ERILEEXBRA
FE, (E518)

RREAEREFEN
R
—hERHT A

25%
—BNF AT 30%
—RNBEREESR

FAT16.5%
=N F AT 17%

ENGIEaE

RAEDBRIBEEN
M

BORBEFEERBN
B IEE &

KRB IR G R =20
mMBEwE

EARRUBA

BABTFEENRIESIE

BRAEEERREAERN
MIASZ (%)

REEREABENRE
REEHMEZH
(&%)

REEREXFAENERL
MEEBRAIR

(%) HERIMT :

2021 2020

20214 20204

Note RMB’000 RMB’000
iz ARBTT AB®FT
5,623 8,033

6,616 (32,675)

12,239 (24,642)

2,699 4,048

(1,232) (9,802)

924 (1,359)

(8) 13

(a) 3,619 2,237
1,312 10,308

2,051 -

(951) (412)

(1,769) -

(2,004) (5,283)

4,641 (250)

4,641 (250)
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Year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12831HIEEE

10.

186

INCOME TAX (Continued)

Note:

(a) Expenses not deductible for tax for the years ended 31
December 2021 and 2020 mainly consist of administrative
expenses incurred by offshore companies. These expenses are
not expected to be deductible for tax.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

The Disposal Group is mainly engaged in specialised mining
services in Australia. As mentioned in note 1(c) to the financial
statements, the Disposal Group was disposed of on 31 July
2021. With the completion of the Disposal, the gain on disposal
of the discontinued operations and the related income tax are
presented in the profit or loss from the discontinued operations.

As a result of loss of management control upon completion of
the Disposal on 31 July 2021, the Group could no longer govern
and/or exercise control over the Disposal Group's financial and
operating policies. Accordingly, the unaudited management
accounts of the Disposal Group for the period from 1 January
2021 to the date of the Disposal on 31 July 2021 were used to
prepare the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

The results of the discontinued operations for the period from 1
January 2021 to the date of the Disposal and the year ended 31
December 2020 are presented below:

10.

FRiGIE &

P 5E

(a) HE20219F %2020 128318 14
ENAOREZTECEREAD
EEXENTHERZ tEMEZEHRA
nie

BARIEREERE

HEEERFTZERNEMNLESEXLRHER
Homi A BImRRME (O HEE
EER2021FE7B31THHE BBELES
Bl HEERELEERENRE R
HEEFERIRER EREX£HFNIER

EIIE

HRE2021E7B31BHESZESNE
KETEESE WAEBRBELIRE
B/SZEGSEEERMEREER
oA NRBEAEENREMBRE
B BEfFAHEEERR2021F181HE
2021 7R3 1HEESIERABNR
KEZEEBIRB-

BRIMEEEBER2021E1A1BEHE
EIEHHAR RE E2020F12831H 1k
FENEELZHWT :
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REVENUE
Cost of sales

Gross profit
Other income and gain
Administrative expenses
Other expenses
Impairment losses on property,
plant and equipment
Impairment losses on
other intangible assets
Impairment losses on
right-of-use assets
Impairment losses on assets
classified as held for sale
Finance costs

Loss before tax from the
discontinued operations

Gain on disposal of the
discontinued operations

Profit/(loss) before tax from
discontinued operations
Income tax expense

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE PERIOD

FROM THE DISCONTINUED
OPERATIONS

10. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued)

WA
HE A

EH)

H AR A R Wi
THHAX
HithFisz

YR ER=ERE

518

Hih\ELEERERER

EREEERERE

DEA/FFHENEE

MERR
M

BERIEEXBRA
&5 18

HESREEEESRR

Wz

BRI EXEBRA
FIE 7 (B548)
PRSI A s

BRIEEEEBHNAR
FIE 7 (B548)

Notes to the Financial Statements
B 75w ZR b 5

Year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F 128318 IEEE

10. BRUIEREET &

Period from Year ended

1 January 2021 31 December

to 31 July 2021 2020
2021F1B1BE

2021%7H31H EZE20204F

HIf  12B31HLEFE

Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

M EE ARBTT AE®BFT
(unaudited)
(REEZ)

41,465 92,568

(34,600) (77,556)

6,865 15,012

1,596 3,700

(12,693) (21,600)

561 -

- (17,209)

- (120)

- (452)

- (11,584)

(436) (422)

(4,107) (32,675)

31 10,723 -

6,616 (32,675)

9 _ —

6.616 ____ (32679
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Year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12831HIEEE

10. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued) 10.

188

The major classes of assets and liabilities of the Disposal Group
as at 31 July 2021 and 31 December 2020 are as follows:

ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment

Right-of-use assets

Inventories

Trade receivables

Prepayments, other receivables and
other assets

Contract assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Assets classified as held for sale

Assets of the Disposal Group
classified as held for sale

LIABILITIES

Trade payables

Other payables and accruals

Interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings

Due to related parties

Lease liability

Liabilities directly associated with the
assets classified as held for sale

Net liabilities directly associated
with the Disposal Group

BE

ME BB RRE
EREEE

=8

FE R AR X
FAfTRRIE  HAth AR URIE R
Hih&E

BHNEE
RENFEEEEY
DEBFHELHENEE

DEAFFHENHEEERN
BE

=R

FEASBRAX

EL A FE o RRIE K FE 5T RRIE
STRIRTREMEE

P& BB 75 =R
HE&RE

HENEARFHENEEER
R EE

SHEEEEREMNTFAR

BARIEREETE =
HEE®EMN202157531H K2020FE12
B3 HNEZEEEREEENTNT :

31 July 31 December
2021 2020
202157H31H 2020F12831H
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT AREBTT
(unaudited)
(RESEZ)
21,824 20,819
1,078 547
11,639 12,704
5,113 796
3,611 5,290
1,911 5,260
3,598 14,528
16,415 17,786
65,189 77,730
13,871 22,544
36,067 32,358
15,663 17,660
8,991 11,772
858 656
75,450 84,990
(10,261) (7,260)
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10.

Notes to the Financial Statements

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued) 10.

The net cash flows incurred by the Disposal Group for the period

from 1 January 2021 to the date of the Disposal and the year
ended 31 December 2020 are as follows:

Operating activities
Investing activities
Financing activities

Net cash inflow/(outflow)

Earnings/(loss) per share:
Basic and diluted, from the
discontinued operations

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share
from the discontinued operations are based on:

Profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent from the
discontinued operations

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares used in the
basic and diluted earnings/(loss)
per share calculation (note 27)

Year

B 75 R R Y 5E

ended 31 December 2021

HE2021FE12B31HLEEE

ERIEEEXE @
HEEER202161 51 B EHEEED

EMIRERE PN

Period from
1 January 2021

R R B E2020F 12831 HIEFEE

T

Year ended
31 December

to 31 July 2021 2020
20211818 E HE2020F
2021%7H31H 1283181
HARE EE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ETT AR¥F T
(unaudited)
(REEEZ)
KEEE) (7,715) 13,811
KREEE (1,228) (1,376)
MEEH (1,987) (40)
WERA OfH) S8 (10,930) 12,395
GE=F (B538) -
EAREE REERILERE
o RMBA K #0.0037 RMBAE(0.012)7t
AHEREREXERSREAREER
M (B518) B THIER AER
2021 2020
202145 20204
(unaudited)
(REEZ)
BN ATSZERRKREREAN
BERIEEEEHIE (BE) RMBA R RMBA R #&
7,397,0007T (26,467,000)7C
BRstEEREARBERH
(B518) S ERINEFI9#
(Ft5E27)
2,249,015,410 2,249,015,410
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Year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12831HIEEE

11.

12.

190

DIVIDEND

At a meeting of the Directors held on 29 March 2022, the
Directors did not recommend a final dividend for the year ended
31 December 2021 (2020: nil).

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the
profit/(loss) for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders
of the Company, and the weighted average number of ordinary
shares of 2,249,015,410 (2020: 2,249,015,410) in issue during
the year ended 31 December 2021.

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings/(loss) per
share amounts presented for the years ended 31 December
2021 and 2020 in respect of a dilution as the exercise prices
of the Company’s outstanding share options were higher than
the average market prices for the Company’s shares during the
current and prior years.

11.

12.

g2
R2022F3829BRITHNEST &= L
EETEZRNAEZE2021F12831H 1k
FERKRIARE (2020%F : E) o

wmERAAEEERRE
FEANSRET  (FH)

EREXABANEREBRAADZE
RREFEANERFE (BB R&
Z2021FENAZTBLEEERBH TS
BREINEF9802,249,015,4108% (2020
£ 12,249,015,4108%) 5t &

HRTEEE2021F K%2020F12831H 1k
FE>ARBEERTENRMPENT
FEERARABRMIFHEHEE I
ERNAFERBTFFEZINESRRKHG
BEARRF] (5518) SEEFEHEAEER

?:éo
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13.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

31 December 2021

Cost:
At 1 January 2021

Additions from continuing operations

(note 4)
Transferred from CIP
Disposals

At 31 December 2021

Accumulated depreciation
and impairment:

At 1 January 2021

Provided for the year from
continuing operations (note 7)

Disposals

At 31 December 2021

Net carrying amount:
At 1 January 2021

At 31 December 2021

2021512A831H

A
R2021%1818
BEREXHAE

(GED)
ERHRIR
HE

R2021€128318

RHRERARE:

#2021E1818

FRHENFECELE
e (WE7)

HE

20215128310

REFE .
202151818

R2021%12A8318

Notes to the Financial Statements

B 75 R R Y 5E

Year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F 128318 IEEE

g =
13. ME-BERRE

Construction

Plant and Office Motor Mining in progress
Buildings machinery equipment vehicles infrastructure (“CIP”) Total
i £ BEREE HAZRE RBEH RREE TEIR &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB’000 RMB’000
IN: S AEBFT AEBTT AEBTT AEBTT AEBTT IN:L S
40,439 31,184 613 2,403 139,871 42,958 257,468
339 581 21 345 15 16,965 18,266
634 3,112 = = = (3,746) -
- (1,774) - (1,202) - - (2,976)
41,412 33,103 634 1,546 139,886 56,177 272,758
22,376 19,728 427 2,196 55,822 1,488 102,037
1,583 1,413 55 97 4,003 - 7151
- (1,583) = (1,136) = = (2,719
23,959 19,558 482 1,157 59,825 1,488 106,469
18,063 11,456 186 207 84,049 41,470 155,431
17,453 13,545 152 389 80,061 54,689 166,289
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Year ended 31 December 2021

HZE2021F12831HIEEE
o =8 =
13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. ME-BERHE @
(Continued)
Construction
Plant and Office Motor Mining in progress
Buildings machinery equipment vehicles infrastructure ("CIP") Total
¥ BERES WAERE BEER FRER TRIR Eh
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR ARETR ARETR AREFR AEBTR ARBTR
31 December 2020 20205128318
Cost: BE:
At 1 January 2020 202051818 40,352 70,243 1,327 2,663 135,454 38,578 288,617
Additions from continuing operations ~ FELEEKRE (Hxk4)

(note 4) - 851 16 - 4,417 9,416 14,700
Additions from discontinued operations B IHEEEBRE - 339 R 700 - 3,989 5,060
Transferred from CIP BERRIR 87 4913 - 90 - (5,090) -
Disposals in discontinued operations BRIESEERHE - (3,627) - - - - (3,627)
Transferred from assets held for sale BERELEEE - 9,322 - - - - 9,322
Cost included in discontinued operations  5F A B4 LS & £ A A A - (51,936) (781) (1,057) - (4,069) (57,843)
Exchange realignment BERHER - 1,079 19 7 - 134 1,239
At31 December 2020 120205128318 40,439 31,184 613 2,403 139,871 42,958 257,468
Accumulated depreciation RHERAME:

and impairment:

At 1 January 2020 #2020E1818 20,838 21,714 735 2,193 49,745 2,543 97,768
Provided for the year from FRGRENFELELE

continuing operations (note 7) A (5E7) 1,538 2,01 45 77 6,077 - 9,748
Provided for the year from FRFHENBRILEE

discontinued operations 330 - 10,401 87 140 - - 10,628
Impairment recognised during the year ~ EREDMHERIEEE

from discontinued operations £%AE (155106)

(note 10(a)) - 17,209 - - - - 17,209
Disposals HE - (3,543) - - - - (3,543)
Transferred from assets held for sale HEREHERE - 6,915 - - - - 6,915
Depreciation and impairment included 5t A A LT E 25549

in discontinued operations TERAE - (35,271) (451) (218) - (1,084) (37,024)
Exchange realignment ERBE - 292 11 4 - 29 336
At31 December 2020 #20206128318 2,376 19,728 07 2,1% 55,822 1,488 102,037
Net carrying amount: REFHR:

At 1 January 2020 20201818 19,514 48,529 592 470 85,709 36,035 190,849
At 31 December 2020 20205128318 18,063 11,456 186 207 84,049 41,470 155,431

192

In accordance with the Group’s accounting policies, each asset
or CGU is evaluated annually at 31 December or biannually
at 30 June to determine whether there are any indications of
impairment. If any such indications of impairment exist, a formal

estimate of the recoverable amount is made.

AERRBHEHBEREER12H31H
HEFERAIHTEEEENR:
EEEM UEERSEEMREDNR
i BIREFRBRRETR BERER
Al El R (b 5t o
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS

31 December 2021

Cost:
At 1 January and
31 December 2021

Accumulated amortisation
and impairment:

At 1 January 2021

Amortisation provided
during the year (note 7)

At 31 December 2021

Net carrying amount:
At 1 January 2021

At 31 December 2021

2021%12H31H

B

2021 E1B1HKR12831H

REtBH KRR (E -

®2021F181H

FAEHRREERRE (F57)

72021FE12831H

BRTEFEE -
20211818

720215128318

Notes to the Financial Statements
B 75w ZR b 5

Year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F 128318 IEEE

14. BEEE

Exploration

Mining rights and
rights assets Total

RiEE BREEREBEE a5

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR®TRT ARETRT
800,295 65,991 866,286
130,683 - 130,683
582 - 582
131,265 - 131,265
669,612 65,991 735,603
669,030 65,991 735,021
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Year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12831HIEEE

14.

194

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

31 December 2020

Cost:
At 1 January and
31 December 2020

Accumulated amortisation
and impairment:

At 1 January 2020

Amortisation provided
during the year (note 7)

At 31 December 2020

Net carrying amount:
At 1 January 2020

At 31 December 2020

2020%12H31H

(0% 3

H2020FE181HK%12831H

REtBHRIRME ¢

120201 81H

FRsHERNEBHRE (F537)

2020 12831H

BREREE -
20201818

72020128318

As at 31 December 2021, the mining rights of Maoling Mine
with a net carrying amount of RMB19,321,000 (31 December
2020: RMB19,903,000) were pledged to secure the Group's

bank loans (note 25(a)).

14. BEEE #®)

Exploration

Mining rights and
rights assets Total
KRR REEREE a5t
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFTT ARBTTT AREFT
800,295 65,991 866,286
129,620 - 129,620
1,063 - 1,063
130,683 - 130,683
670,675 65,991 736,666
669,612 65,991 735,603

R2021F12A31H EREFEAARE
19,321,0007% (2020 12831H : AR
#%19,903,0007T) WEEEBIKIERCE
B (FARERIRTERNER (M
25(a)) °
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15.

LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for office premises and various
items of plant and machinery used in its operations. During the
reporting period, the Group entered into certain long-term lease
contracts for items of plant and machinery. Lump sum payments
were made upfront to acquire the leased office premises with
lease periods of 3 years, and no ongoing payments will be
made under the terms of these leases. Leases of office premises
have lease term between 1 and 2 years. Leases of plant and
machinery generally have lease term between 1 and 2 years.
Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing
the leased assets outside the Group.

(a) Right-of-use assets
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets
and the movements during the year are as follows:

As at 1 January 2021 1220211818
Lease modification HEEX

Lease termination BEAILE
Exchange realignment ERAE
Depreciation charged in BHIRMNFELE

EHIE (HW:27)

continuing operations (note 7)

As at 31 December 2021 R2021FE12831H

Notes to the Financial Statements

15.

premises
MAEYE
RMB’000
ARBFT

BT 15 R R M 5%
Year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F 128318 IEEE

HE

FEBFEAEBA
FEEBREBRAZEARLEDEUR
FTRABEREBEEIEESH 1
BREMRN AEELEE KB ERF
TETRIBEEGN AEEEMER
HIAIENHERAENESIN—F
BAARE BREZFHENERT
ERBEIR-MRAEYEHEENBBAN
F1E2F B E RS HERER—&
PMIE2FEo—fRM = FEEAAFEE
BEEEERDBEFRERLSN AL

(a) FERAEEE
AEREAREENKRESEK
FRESHWT :

Office Plant and

machinery Total

PR B Bt 23 =E

RMB'000 RMB’000

ARETT AREFT

572 6,337
- (4,196) (4,196)
(153) - (153)
(25) - (25)

6,909

(380) (1,123) (1,503)

14 1,018 1,032
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BT 155 S R M &F
Year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12831HIEEE
15. LEASES (continued) 15. A& &=
The Group as a lessee (Continued) EREREEAN @
(a)  Right-of-use assets (Continued) (a) HERARZEE )
Office Plant and
premises machinery Total
i YNELY S TR 55 e 1 23 =
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBFT ARBFIT AREBFT
As at 1 January 2020 1120201 81H 2,725 453 3,178
Additions from continuing BERESEBANE
operations - 8,066 8,066
COVID-19-related rent concessions A A& FiHELE
from lessors in continuing RIEICOVID-19
operations Elh e (232) - (232)
COVID-19-related rent concessions HIAAEFER IFRE
from lessors in discontinued #32B9COVID-19
operations e (22) - (22)
Depreciation charged in continuing B 3R AY 48 48 & 55
operations (note 7) e (Mf7) (769) (1,730) (2,499)
Depreciation charged in ENBRHNERIERS
discontinued operations et (583) - (583)
Impairment recognised in EHERHNER LEEER
discontinued operations BE (MEE10)
(note 10) - (452) (452)
Assets included in discontinued AR IEEE TN
operations (note 10) B (f3E10) (547) - (547)
As at 31 December 2020 7£2020612A831H 572 6,337 6,909

196 CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED | 2021 ANNUAL REPORT



15.

LEASES (continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the

Notes to the Financial Statements
B 75w ZR b 5

Year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F 128318 IEEE

15. A& &
FEBEAEAEAN @
(b) HEEME
AEaENEESERENEE

movements during the year are as follows: wr
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%TT AREFTT
Carrying amount at 1 January 11BN RE S 7,263 2,629
New leases from continuing operations fFELEEKHEE
(note 32(b)) (FFEE32(b)) - 8,066
Accretion of interest recognised during FRREBIFELE X
the year from continuing operations FEsFIE (Hfsk6)
(note 6) 198 330

Accretion of interest recognised during
the year from discontinued operations

COVID-19-related rent concessions from
lessors of continuing operations

COVID-19-related rent concessions from
lessors of discontinued operations

Lease modification
Lease termination

Payments from continuing operations

Payments from discontinued operations

Liabilities directly associated with assets
included in discontinued operations

(note 10)

Carrying amount at 31 December

Analysed into:
Current portion
Non-current portion

FERBERNER IS

FESTF) B - 23
HHAARTRFESE

EFEBICOVID-19

EREEE R - (232)
HEARFEL LK

HFEMICOVID-19

BRI TR - (22)
EEy (4,196) -
MERIE (137) -
FEREEBEIR (423) (2,313)
BRIERE XTI - (562)
B ABKRIEEEERD

BEAZERNEE

(fF5E10) - (656)
P12B31HNRE %8 2,705 7,263
SakiiT=

RENE D 2,305 3,945

FERENEB D 400 3,318
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15.

198

LEASES (continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Lease liabilities (Continued) (b)
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed

in note 38 to the financial statements. The Group

has applied the practical expedient to all eligible rent

concessions granted by the lessors for leases of certain

plant and equipment during the year.

The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to (c)
leases are as follows:

Interest on lease liabilities HEaENHE
— from continuing operations —FFEREER (MEt6)
(note 6)
— from discontinued operations —BRIEKEER
Depreciation charge of right-of-use FREEENTESZEH
assets
— from continuing operations —HEREER
(note 15(a)) (fFEE15(a))
— from discontinued operations BARIEKEER
Losses relating to lease termination FE&IEWEIE
Expense relating to short-term leases B HATE S AR X

GrAITEAS) (MisE7)

(included in administrative expenses)

(note?)
Total amount recognised in profit or loss 8% MDAV 48 2B
The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note (d)

32(c) to the financial statements.
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15. HE @&
EBEAEREAN @

HEaE @)
HE&SENEIR R DTN
WMARMEBWE -AEBMENE
WT&%HAW“?J*%&%Q%%E
EFfETHMAECERIESRER

BRI TTRE AL

MEEREBREINSENT
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETF T AR¥ETF T
198 330
= 23
1,503 2,499
= 583
16 -
99 614
1,816 4,049

HEMNIRESRH FEBRUHER
R E32()IREE ©



16.

PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

OTHER ASSETS

Current portion:

Prepayments consisting of:
Purchase of raw materials
Utilities
Prepayment for the maintenance

of a road
Other prepayments

Other receivables consisting of:
Deductible value added tax input
Other receivables

Impairment allowance

Non-current portion:

Prepayment for the maintenance
of a road

Long-term deposit

TRENEF 7 -
FEFIEEE ¢
BERME
NAR
B ETRBN B

HihA N RIA
HEWRIREE :

FIRETRIE ETR
HAh Y RRIA

RERIE

FEREEE S -
BRREETAN R

RHRE

Notes to the Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 December 2021
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16.

Note
M 5E

FA{T TR IE ~ H fth UK
Hth&EE

A R

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ETT AE®FT
120 705

191 220

47 47
1,254 1,208
1,122 1,708
2,303 1,409
5,037 5,297
(604) (604)
4,433 4,693
484 538

402 428

886 966
5,319 5,659
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16. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
OTHER ASSETS (continued)

Note:

(a) The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of financial
assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other
assets are as follows:

At beginning of year PR EA]
Amount written off as uncollectible  #fi#4 R Uk Bl & %A

At end of year REHL

Where applicable, impairment analysis is performed at each
reporting date by considering expected credit losses, which are
estimated by applying a loss rate approach with reference to the
historical loss record of the Group. The loss rate is adjusted to
reflect the current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions, as appropriate. The loss rate applied as at 31
December 2021 ranged 0.0% to 100.0% (31 December 2020:
0.0% to 100.0%).

16.

FE(ITRIE - EfthEUWFRIE K
HthEE @

M -

(a) st ATRIYRIE ~ Hth B R IR K EL
EENTREENREGRFEIRZD

mE
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREEFT
604 606
- (2)
604 604

EFEABRT AEETNESREH
HEBERBHRERBRETRED
Mo mEAERBERAT2RAERN
SRR EREIEE S A Gt
AEEBEREHIBX URBER
AT R 5 2R AR AS T AR R B9 FE R (W08
F) 122021128318 FiEARE
BENF0.0%ZE100.0% (2020512
H318 : 0.0%%100.0%) °
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17. DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax assets during the year are as

follows:

At 1 January 2020 20201818
Deferred tax credited/ (charged) to ~ FREBEALR/
profit or loss during the year from (1B B FELE
continuing operations (note 9) EBIRERIE (11:29)
Deferred tax assets 2202051283188
at 31 December 2020 EEREEE
At 1 January 2021 1®2021E1R18
Deferred tax credited/ (charged) EREBHEAR/
to profit or loss during the year (%) MIFELE
from continuing operations EBHIRER A (H59)
(note 9)
Deferred tax assets 20211283181
at 31 December 2021 BEREEE

Notes to the Financial Statements

BT 15 R R M 5%
Year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F 128318 IEEE

EIERIA
BIERAEERERBEDMT :

Losses
available Excess tax
for  depreciation
offsetting over book
against value of Provision Provision
taxable fixed for for
profits assets  rehabilitation impairment Others Total
EEEEN
AL RIERE
FERHR A BiHEREE
B HESE EREE AERE Hith At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR#ETT ARETT NS AEBFT AR#ETT AR#ETT
3,799 5,640 331 2,275 738 12,783
1,981 (339) 348 (40) 91 2,041
5,780 5,301 679 2,235 829 14,824
5,780 5,301 679 2,235 829 14,824
(2,491) (430) 352 (33) (14) (2,616)
3,289 4,871 1,031 2,202 815 12,208

As at 31 December 2021, the Group has tax losses arising
from Mainland China of RMB408,363,000 (31 December 2020:
RMB1,051,268,000) that would expire in one to five years and
other deductible temporary differences of RMB115,431,000
(31 December 2020: RMB119,234,000) that were available for
offsetting against future taxable profits. Deferred tax assets have
not been recognised in respect of these losses and deductible
temporary differences as it is not considered probable that
taxable profits will be available against which they can be

utilised.

R2021%F12831H  AEBEREEYHEH
A BN —ERFERINPNRIBEEIE
AR "408,363,0007T (2020124831
B : AR#%1,051,268,00070) K EM B0
HE R =R AR #115,431,0007T (2020
F£128318 : AE#119,234,0007T) * 7]
LI RRERRFE c AR AEE
RATKAEBERRAE A B LUK
MEBEEBEERTINREREEE WLE
Lt EE 18 R B 0 R B = R R SRR IE R
HEE-
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17.

18.

202

DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

Deferred tax assets related to the PRC subsidiaries have been
provided at the enacted corporate income tax rate of 25%.

Pursuant to the income tax rules and regulations of the PRC, a
10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in Mainland China. The requirement has been effective from
1 January 2008 and applied to earnings after 31 December
2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is
a tax treaty between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of
the foreign investors. The withholding tax rate for the Group is
10%.

As at 31 December 2021, no deferred tax liability has been
recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable on
the unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding taxes
of the Group’s subsidiaries established in Mainland China.
In the opinion of the Directors, it is not probable that these
subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable
future.

INVENTORIES

Raw materials [RAF

Spare parts and consumables BEBERHHFER
Finished goods ¥ ah

Provision for inventories FEEE

17.

18.

IRIETRIE (@)
HOEFAREMNEEREEEDR
25% B4 B 4B > TSI 12 o

RIEREIA RAPTSIRBY AR R ARG - B
EIRFEFREAMMIZAIERERA
SNEIREE B B EU10%RITEIIR ©
ZHE B H2008F 1 B1HBERN 1B
2007 F 12831 BENET] - fHEH
B Pt B SN B 4% B B PR 1L B A EE 2
FEMBHBE AT ERRETED
ME-HWAEEMES > AHAMNERH10% o

R2021F12831H  AERKLFHEA
1A 3L B9 TN Bl BB AN TR AR Y R BERR
BAmMs MEEIRAZSEMCENR
BREMNELERBEG EERE ZE
FRABAARAENRTRBRDRZER
Ho

578

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AREFT
5,569 3,549
2,447 2,236
3,911 56
11,927 5,841
(27) (27)

11,900 5,814
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19.

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables FE W AR =R

Impairment A

Trade receivables, net of impairment FEWER TR > BN EIE
Bills receivable FEU =48

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on
credit. During the year, the Group granted credit terms ranging
from two months to six months to its customers for the sale of
self-produced products and a credit term of six months to its
trading customers. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing
and unsecured.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of each
reporting period, based on the date of revenue recognised and
net of loss allowance, is as follows:

Within 3 months 3BBEA
3 to 6 months 3E6@EA

Notes to the Financial Statements
B 75w ZR b 5

Year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F 128318 IEEE

=+

19. BUWERMKRER
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB"000 RMB'000
AREBTT AREFT
208,279 187,702
(7,204) (11,334)
201,075 176,368
2,580 5,392
203,655 181,760

FEEAZRHNEZRREZRRIRT
X-AEEFRNOTEEERPBENT
FRMEANEANGERE THTEER
FREBRNERR - BURRBTTR
R AR R o

RERESHFR > BERNWRAED B B
R (BHRBERAHE BRE DTN T

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥F T ARM¥TF T
137,059 176,368
64,016 -
201,075 176,368
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19. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:
At beginning of year REH]
Reversal of impairment losses, net BEEIEEEIFEE (HE7)
(note 7)
At end of year REA

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings
of various customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e.,
by customer type and rating). The calculation reflects the
probability-weighted outcome and reasonable and supportable
information that is available at the reporting date about past
events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions. Generally, trade receivables are written off if past
due and are not subject to enforcement activity.

19.

EUWERR KRR & @
U AR B SR R BV B I

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AEREFT
11,334 12,813
(4,130) (1,479)
7,204 11,334

REBRESHH &R BEFHERES
EEMERER DUETRED T - &
BEDENRZEAEFHALUGIEREANE
FoEbER (RNieE P B RTEE D)
BB R B E o st E 5 A RBREER
BERRRBEEHAESERBES
fF~ BRI R R BE AR R BV TR R
WEEMAEBRXRERN - —RME >
P ST BR R 4 28 A e A 2 98 Rl A AT OB D T
MR RIS s o
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19.

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure
on the Group's trade receivables using a provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2021

Expected credit loss rate TEHAE B L=

Gross carrying amount IRE4E%ER
(RMB'000) ANRET)

Expected credit losses TEHAERAER
(RMB'000) OUNES-S o)

As at 31 December 2020

Expected credit loss rate FEHAE 1B A =

Gross carrying amount IREAEER
(RMB'000) AR

Expected credit losses SEEENEEEE =S
(RMB'000) ANREFT)

Notes to the Financial Statements

19.

Current

BPEA

201,075

Current

BN A

2.3%

180,498

4,130

BT 15 R R M 5%
Year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F 128318 IEEE

FEWR TR R R 15 (4
B 51 B AR A A S B B
BREHNESARNER

2021%F12831H
Past due Total
BiHA 4@t
100% 3.5%
7,204 208,279
7,204 7,204

20206 12831H

Past due Total
360 HA st
100% 6%
7,204 187,702
7,204 11,334
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19.

206

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)
Transferred financial assets that are
derecognised in their entirety

As at 31 December 2021,
receivable accepted by banks in the PRC to certain of its
suppliers in order to settle the trade payables to these suppliers
with a carrying amount in aggregate of RMB44,440,000
(31 December 2020: RMB178,896,316) (referred to as the
“Derecognised Bills”). The Derecognised Bills have a maturity

the Group endorsed certain bills

term from one to seven months at the end of the reporting
period. In accordance with the Law of Negotiable Instruments
in the PRC, the holders of the Derecognised Bills have a right
of recourse against the Group if the PRC banks default (the
“Continuing Involvement”). In the opinion of the Directors, the
Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards relating
to the Derecognised Bills. Accordingly, it has derecognised
the full carrying amounts of the Derecognised Bills and the
associated advances on discounting and trade payables. The
maximum exposure to loss from the Group’s Continuing
Involvement in the Derecognised Bills and the undiscounted cash
flows to repurchase these Derecognised Bills is equal to their
face amounts. In the opinion of the Directors, the fair values of
the Group’s Continuing Involvement in the Derecognised Bills
are not significant.

No gains or losses were recognised from the Continuing
Involvement, both during the year and cumulatively. The
endorsement of bills receivable has been made evenly
throughout the year.

19.

FEWERFA R E i )
MIE%%&EEUUWJEED%%”E
BE

R2021F12831H > AEBEBE T H#
FEEMESPENBRTEANE T
FEWRZEE UEERTEHEBEAARKE
44,440,0007T (2020128310 1 AR
#178,896,3167T) BN E X S HIEMER
(MR ISR ER)) - RIREHAR » &1k
EREEAB—E=LER 0&,5”\‘4:‘5@
oA WP ENIRITEL BIR IERRE
BERFEAEROEAERREEN ((FE

MBH) - BEERD AEECKKILRE
REBNEAS D ARKRERER R

IEEBUHRB A LR EERAEEMER
BRRENEROEMIRA S &

ERASKIERIZENFELESERA
BholZE ?%tﬁﬁ;?f?ﬁﬁ’]ﬁkﬁﬁfﬁiﬁém

MAZERINER RSN HmER -
EERA ZK%@*LJLEEEEEP*E’\J%
BH2HENATERK

BEMFEES BEDFA KRR W
FEE - EREENHAREEFED
e -
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20.

BALANCES WITH RELATED PARTIES

Due from a related party:
Trade receivables
— Huili County Caitong Iron and
Titanium Co., Ltd
("Huili Caitong”)

Non-trade in nature
— Huili Caitong

Due to related parties:
Non-trade in nature
— Sichuan Chuanwei Group
Co., Ltd. (“Chuan Wei")
— Trisonic International

Dividend payable
— Huili Caitong

Analysed into:
Current portion
Non-current portion

Notes to the Financial Statements
B 75w ZR b 5

Year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F 128318 IEEE

20.
Notes
[
JEW—F F i 75 7 A
FE W BR R
—2IERBEERK
BREMFERAH
(TZIEBriE)) (i)
EEZHEE
—ZIEEE (ii)
FETRB 5 708 .
FEZHEE

—OENEER
BRAE (MI1E) (v)
— &G AIEE (iif)

FESRR B
—ZIBELE (iv)

PAR T I
neEEmo

JERBIED

o,

£ R Bk 75 BV 45 BR
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB"000 RMB'000
AREBTT AREFT
8,929 8,929
799 -
9,728 8,929
1,996 1,736
3,393 2,132
7,680 7,680
13,069 11,548
5,389 3,868
7,680 7,680
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20.

208

BALANCES WITH RELATED PARTIES
(Continued)

Notes:

U]

(i)

(iii)

The balance due from Huili Caitong as at 31 December 2021
and 2020 represented trade receivables on the rendering of
consultancy and management services provided by the Group.

The balance due from Huili Caitong as at 31 December 2021
represented the advances granted to Huili Caitong, which was
collectible on demand.

The balance due to Trisonic International as at 31 December
2021 and 2020 mainly represented an interest-free loan granted
by Trisonic International, which was repayable on demand.

These dividends were proposed and declared before the
completion of the disposal of Huili Caitong and were payable to
Huili Caitong.

Chuan Wei is ultimately controlled by the same beneficial
owners. The balances due to Chuan Wei as at 31 December
2021 and 2020 mainly comprised staff remuneration paid by
Chuan Wei on behalf of Sichuan Lingyu and Aba Mining.

EARR Bk A RV A4S BR (@)
M -

(i) R20215 K%2020E12831HEKR S
BB RIE N EERUEEE R EIE
PR 7% 89 FE U AR 70 ©

(ii) 2021412831 B IE R S IBR B4 iR
ERTEEMENBR BEERIK
@o

(iii) R20215 K%2020E12831HENG &
BIE AR EEIE S A EBRRHEN—
FREER ARZERER.

(iv) EHERETD Nt E R BT
HEREIK WA F IR E -

(v) NEHERNEmER ARKES -
R20215 52020512831 BEMI
BRESREEGE)IEARTIDEM
TPl HE 3 2 (9 B9 & T#r N o
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21.

Notes to the Financial Statements

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 21.

PLEDGED DEPOSITS

Notes
M 5
Cash and bank balances R& MIRTTHER
Less: pledged time deposits for: BTN IEE B
BT
Issue of bills payable BTN RE
Other payables H e IE (a)
Bank loans RITER (b)
Cash and cash equivalents RERIBEEEY

Notes:

(a) As at 31 December 2020, deposits amounting to RMB303,000
were restricted to secure the Group's other payables to a
construction supplier.

(b) As at 31 December 2021, deposits amounting to
RMB10,000,000 were restricted to secure the Group's bank loan
granted by Shanghai Pudong Development Bank.

The Group's cash and bank balances are denominated in RMB at
the end of each reporting period, except for the following:

B PSR 2R MY 5E
Year ended 31 December 2021
HE2021FE12B31HLEEE
RERREZEBMUR
EEMEM
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AE®BFT
16,462 32,973
26 25
- 303
10,000 -
10,026 328
6,436 32,645
B5E -

(a) R2020F 128318 BAH AR
303,000t ERZREIBIERER
FE(T — R RS FE R 1 H MR IBAVIR
o

(b) 2021128318 A AR
10,000,000t F R Z IRGIAIE LS
HRERRTEFAEEANRITER
B4R o

FEENRERBITEFRNSKREHR
MARsHE T IRIERI

Cash and bank balances

T EBENRER

denominated in: RITAEBR -
HKD BT
usD ESS
SGD N T

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however,
under the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.

2021 3R | PEINKEEEERRAS

2021 2020
202145 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTT AE®FT
473 614

31 36

590 101

ARBARAEHRBRAEMER 24T
RIBTBEIIEERRGREE  EER
NEEERTE AEREH EEBER
HETIHIEXEBNRTHARERIAS
HthGK o
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21.

22.

210

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
PLEDGED DEPOSITS (continued)

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. The bank balances and time deposits are
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.

TRADE PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the trade payables of the Group as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date or
issuance date, where appropriate, is as follows:

Within 180 days 180K A
181 to 365 days 181&E365K
1 to 2 years 18245

2 to 3 years 2E3F
Over 3 years HBiE3F

Trade payables of the Group are non-interest-bearing and are
normally settled within 180 days.

21.

22.

RERREEBYUR
BEEHER@
RITHRERENRESHRITERAEAHE
MZEA XA B RITEFRNRBHEMR
FRR T EEOLSEEEEEN
R1T0

FEATBR TR
REHF A EEERNERN 22
F ARt B 4 (N8 ) HOBR S 23 474
e

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTT AREBTT
23,303 24,664
2,115 1,001
3,814 766

189 203

3,656 3,859
33,077 30,493

AEBNEMERAFE  BERI80
RAKEH -
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23.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Short-term advances received
from customers
Sale of self-produced
high-grade iron concentrates
from continuing operations

Notes to the Financial Statements
B 75w ZR b 5

Year ended 31 December 2021

BlE R IZH RN

FEEEXGHEAESRU

The movement of contract liabilities in continuing operations
for the years ended on 31 December 2021 and 2020 was
mainly due to the increase in short-term advances received from
customers in relation to the sale of self-produced high-grade

iron concentrate at the end of the year.

Changes in contract liabilities during the reporting periods are as

follows:

At 1 January

Revenue recognised that was included in
the contract liabilities at the beginning
of year
— from continued operations
— from discontinued operations

Increase due to cash received, excluding
amounts recognised as revenue during
the year

At 31 December

R1B1H

AN ENERNERDIRA
—REFEEEES
—REBRIEEEXER

HEWIREMmEMN ~EEFR
DA AR IR

K12831H

2021 3R | PEINKEEEERRAS

HE2021FE12B31HLEEE

BHNEE
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%FT AR®BFT
6,166 2,277

HE2021F X2020F 12831 HIEFEHF
BREEFNENaBEFTERNE
A ERESRUBBREERERD

FEHAERRIE N

BHEERBRSHANESNT !

2021 2020
20214 20204F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETF T AR®ETF T
2,277 5,820
(2,277) -

= (5,820)

6,166 2,277
6,166 2,277
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24. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

212

Current portion:
Payables related to:
Construction in progress
Taxes other than income tax
Exploration and evaluation assets
Payroll and welfare payable
Consultancy and professional fees
Deposits received
Accrued government surcharges
Accrued interest expenses
Other payables

Non-current portion:
Other payables

BT -

RIS TS E B BB RIR
TREIR
FRPRISIRSNB9TRIA
RiERTHEE
A #HERET

BAREEE

Bl E

F& ST EURT B 0 B

FEEt R SR

HA R RIA

FERENE S -
HAE A RIA

HL th & {3 7R I8 B2 FE 5t RR IR

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTT
19,778 24,217
6,636 8,586
8,418 8,922
7,868 10,307
2,358 2,141

4 4

4,529 4,529
534 107
9,868 4,441
59,993 63,254
700 700

700 700
60,693 63,954
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INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 25. FFERRITREMES
BORROWINGS
2021 2020
20215 20204
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
M5 AR®ETT AE®FT
Bank loans — Secured RITER—BIEF (a) 79,612 79,615
Other borrowings — Secured HMEE - B iR (b) - 5,120
Other borrowings — Unsecured HEE — E g (c) 12,580 -
92,192 84,735
Analysed into: PaR =N
Bank loans repayable: JEIS T A B RTEEAY
RITEF :
Within one year or on demand —FRFEEXR 5,000 79,615
In the second year F_FE 74,612 -
79,612 79,615
Other borrowings repayable: FER T3 B RT1EE A
BEMEE
Within one year or on demand —FRFEER 12,580 5,120
Total bank and other borrowings RITRAEMEERLE 92,192 84,735
Balances classified as current DA MEE BN
liabilities (17,580) (84,735)
Balances classified as non-current DEAIEREBENGER
liabilities 74,612 -
2021 2020
20214 20204
(Effective interest rate)
(B EFZE)
Bank loans RITEMR 4.35% 4.35%
Other borrowings HthEE 6.50%-8.00% 5.51%
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25.

214

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes:

(a) As at 31 December 2021 the Group's bank loans of
RMB79,612,000 (31 December 2020: RMB79,615,000) are
secured by:

(i) Mining rights of Maoling Mine;

(i) 100% equity of Aba Mining held by Sichuan Lingyu; and

(iii) A pledged deposit of RMB10,000,000.

In addition, Akuang Trading and Sichuan Lingyu have guaranteed the
bank loans up to RMB79,612,000 (2020: RMB79,615,000) as at 31
December 2021 and 31 December 2020.

(b) The balance as at 31 December 2020 mainly represented the
short-term loan granted by a third party to Aba Mining at the
annual interest rate of 5.51%. The loan was secured by bills
receivable of RMB5,120,000 and repaid on 29 April 2021.

(c) The balance as at 31 December 2021 mainly consists of short-
term loans granted by a third party to Aba Mining at the annual
interest rates ranging from 6.50% to 8.00%. These loans were
unsecured with repayment terms ranging from five months to
twelve months.

25.

FEBRITREMEE @
M -

(a) R2021E12B3108 > AEB AR
79,612,0007C (2020128310 A
FE#79,615,00070) BERTTERMUT
HTE B EI -

(i) FEEEEOVIRERE ;

(ii) T EE PR 5 Pl B AR 2100 %
BeAEER ; &

(i)~ AEK10,000,000;THEE
RIETR

55N> 122021F12831H R2020F12 4
B1TE MBEZERN)IEHAEZ ARE
79,612,0007T (20204 : AR¥£79,615,0007T)
HIRITERIRHER

(b) R2020FE 12831 AR EE SR
—REZHaRERERHNEHE
MOEMEES51%  ZEERUA
Fe 15,120,000t I FE UL IR EIR IR
ER2021FE45290EE -

(0) R2021ENATANGEHEIERRE
H—2E=FARREXREENEH
B EFE5H6.50%%E8.00% %%
ERAERE BERUNTRERE
+Z@A -
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26.

27.

PROVISION FOR REHABILITATION

At beginning of year
Unwinding of discount (note 6)

At end of year

SHARE CAPITAL

Number of ordinary shares

Authorised ordinary shares of HKDO.1

Issued and fully paid ordinary shares of
HKDO.1

Amounts
Issued and fully paid ordinary shares of
HKDO.1

A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital is as

follows:

As at 1 January 2021 and
31 December 2021

REA)
FeIR O (5E6)

NS

Zmk#HE

Notes to the Financial Statements

26.

27.

BREECNETHNEEEBER
BREENBTNEETR

BeEER

EHR

SREENETHEETR

e EER

20211 B1H
20214F12831H

B 75 R R Y 5E

Year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F 128318 IEEE

7,
BIREE
2021 2020
20215 20204
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%FT AR®BFT
13,654 12,847
869 807
14,523 13,654
B Zs
2021 2020
20214 20204
10,000,000,000 10,000,000,000
2,249,015,410 2,249,015,410
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%FT AE®EFT
197,889 197,889
KABIRAZBBENT -

Number of Issued
shares in issue capital
ERITRMNEE BEITRA

RMB’000
AREFT
2,249,015,410 197,889
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28.

216

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

2010 Option Scheme

On 15 April 2010, the Company adopted a share option scheme
(the “2010 Option Scheme”). Eligible participants of the 2010
Option Scheme include Directors, chief executives, substantial
shareholders or employees (whether full time or part time) of
any member of the Group and any persons whom the board of
the Company considers, in its sole discretion, have contributed
or will contribute to the development and growth of the Group.

The 2010 Option Scheme will remain in force for 10 years from
that date, unless otherwise cancelled or amended.

The maximum number of the Company’s shares in respect of
which options may be granted under the 2010 Option Scheme
and any other schemes of the Company shall not, in aggregate,
exceed 207,500,000 shares, being 10% of the total number
of shares of the Company in issue on the adoption date of the
2010 Option Scheme. The maximum number of shares issued
and which may fall to be issued upon exercise of the options
granted and to be granted under the 2010 Option Scheme to
each eligible participant in the 2010 Option Scheme within any
12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company
in issue as at the date of grant. Any further grant of share
options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval
in a general meeting.

Share options granted to Directors, chief executives, substantial
shareholders or any of their respective associates are subject to
approval by the independent non-executive directors (excluding
the independent non-executive directors who are the grantees
of the options). In addition, any grant of share options to
substantial shareholders or independent non-executive directors
or to any of their respective associates, in excess of 0.1% of
the shares of the Company in issue on the date of offer with an
aggregate value (based on the closing price of the Company’s
shares quoted on the HKSE at the date of grant) in excess of
HKD5 million made within any 12-month period from the date
of grant (inclusive) would be subject to shareholders’ approval in
a general meeting.

28.

A& 17 HA % 51 2

2010F HATE T2

2010F48 158 » KA BIRM—IBRL 5
HBRESHE] (T 2010F HAMEET211) 20104
BN EERSEATBEAER
FAMREATDNES BRTHAE X
ZREXNEHIARREE  UREQF
BEEG2HNBERABLEA BT THARE
ENEEREREREMNEMAAL

FRIFFITAEHEES] > TRI2010F HI
SRR EZ AR OERN—ERN

TRIE2010F HARE ST &) e AR 2 Bl E ] H At
&> ATAEIR H BV ERRE W R A2 B] B
hEeEHE&HF1EEIE207,500,000
B% > BRAR2010FHARE ST R M H BB A
T EETRIDAEEMNI0% - RIE20106E
HEREST R IEMI12ME B R AR E2010
FHEFE TR AERZHEALIENRK
BRENEEETHEREEITRAER
FTEITHNRMESHE UGN EH B
KATBEBTRD I %AR - E—FF
HiBiEz EIRMIRM IR BFRENE
BARE EHE

BEF RSTHRAE - ETZ2REHRK
EXREEABBEARERMAER A
WEBIFATES FEEBHEXK
BANBILIFNTES) #E SN I
REHBH (BREER) B5HEMI12ME
AHBARTEIERINEIIFNITE
EYRFEEEABEANEARDH
EBARZSNBEMREAATEEHTRM
0.1% > U ME (BN BRAFAREAR
BRMIE L BIENKRHESS) BEs
BEET AERRAE LRBRR
HEo
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28.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

2010 Option Scheme (Continued)

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within
28 days from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HKD1 in total by the grantee. The exercise
period of the share options granted is determinable by the
Directors that no option may be exercised more than 10 years
from the date of grant.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the
board of Directors, but may not be less than the highest of (i)
the nominal value of shares of the Company; (ii) the average
closing price of the Company’s shares for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of grant of the share options;
and (iii) the HKSE closing price of the Company's shares on the
date of grant of the share options.

2020 Option Scheme

On 16 June 2020, the Company adopted a share option scheme
(the "2020 Option Scheme”). Eligible participants of the 2020
Option Scheme include Directors, chief executives, substantial
shareholders or employees (whether full time or part time) of
any member of the Group and any persons whom the board of
Directors considers, in its sole discretion, have contributed or
will contribute to the development and growth of the Group.
The 2020 Option Scheme will remain in force for 10 years from
that date, unless otherwise cancelled or amended.

As at 31 December 2021, no share options have been granted
to any eligible participants since the adoption of the 2020
Option Scheme.

Notes to the Financial Statements

28.

BT 15 R R M 5%
Year ended 31 December 2021
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AR AARESTEI ()
2010F HAE =t & ()

2 IR BB B BRI B A B B
528 PR A R AR B R
AL EHUBTHRM B TR
BT E T
B ERIE N BB I0ERITE-

ROMENTEEHEFEETE ED
BERTIISETINESE (KRR
PHEE (INERBROHKEEREHRNG
HEBPALERZ BN TFHWHE ;
Ra(iii) 2 A B B 40 10 % H B 10 B34 B 83 RY
AP TE -

20205 HAKE 513

2202068 16H » A B R —IERK D
HAREst &) (M 20205 H3 5T 811) 220204
HARABN S ER2EATBELAER
FTAREABDNES - BETHAE X
ERFXAEHAFREE URESET
EHENBEIAGER B THAERMAE
EREEFHEBRNEMAL BRIES
TR IERT BEI2020F HAME ST BB
P EZBR10ERTAER

7R20215F12831H » BER#M2020F FAHE
R EATANEERSE AL
BREEMARDHARE -
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28. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued) 28.
2020 Option Scheme (Continued)
The following share options were outstanding under the 2010
Option Scheme during the year:

Notes
i
As at 1 January 2021 202151818
- 2010 Option Scheme —2010F HAHE 51 & (a)
Expired during the year FREm
— 2010 Option Scheme —2010F fAtE st &I (b)
As at 31 December 2021 R2021F12831H
Notes:
(a) The share options outstanding as at 1 January 2021 represented

share options granted under the 2010 Option Scheme by the
Company on 23 May 2011 and 15 April 2014 at the exercise
prices of HKD3.60 and HKD1.00 per share, respectively.

(b) The following share options under the 2010 Option Scheme
expired upon the expiry of the exercise period:

Exercise

Number of price per
options share
sk

HEHE TEE
‘000 HKD

F15 BT

6,000 3.60

1D EAREST R (42

2020F HAHEET &I ()

FAEE PO IR 201 O HAHE 51 81 14 SR 1T 6510
BT T

Weighted

average Number
exercise price of options
HKD per share ‘000
HEFEIITEE HHE
BikET T4

2.00 15,600
3.60 (6,000)

1.00 9,600

P 5E

(a) FR202161 A1 B M R ITERI RS #iRE
IEARRER201145H823H %20144
48158 R#E2010E A EH 21 9 B3R
TEEESR3.608TK.00ETIEH
B9 B9 AR o

(b) 20105 HARE 5t 8 T I TT AR E i B &
B ) ARG T

Exercise period

171EHA

23 May 2013 to 22 May 2021
2013%F5823HZE202145822H
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28. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)
2020 Option Scheme (Continued)
The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options
outstanding as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

31 December 2021

Exercise
Number of price per
options share
sk
HAE#E TEE
‘000 HKD
T T
4,800 1.00
2,400 1.00
2,400 1.00

9,600

31 December 2020
Exercise
Number of price per
options share
gk
s E TEE
‘000 HKD
T4 BT
6,000 3.60
4,800 1.00
2,400 1.00
2,400 1.00

15,600

Notes to the Financial Statements
B 75w ZR b 5

Year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F 128318 IEEE

28. RRIDHAMESTE &
2020F HARE ST B (@)
R2021F %2020 12831 H R TERIRE
RHAERNITHEERITERNT

20215128318

Exercise period

1T1EHA

15 October 2014 to 14 April 2024
20144108150 £20245F4H14H
15 April 2015 to 14 April 2024
2015548 15H £2024%4814H
15 October 2015 to 14 April 2024
20158108158 £20245F4814H

2020E12H31H

Exercise period

THEE

23 May 2013 to 22 May 2021
201358238 E202145822H
15 October 2014 to 14 April 2024

2014108158 2024548 14H

15 April 2015 to 14 April 2024
2015F48158E2024F4814H
15 October 2015 to 14 April 2024

20155108158 2024448 14H
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28.

220

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

The Group had 9,600,000 share options exercisable as at 31
December 2021 (31 December 2020: 15,600,000) and the
weighted average exercise price was HKD1.00 per share (31
December 2020: HKD2.00).

The Group did not recognise any share option expense during
the year (2020: nil).

The fair values of equity-settled share options granted were
estimated and valued by independent professional valuers as
at the dates of grant, using the binomial model, taking into
account the terms and conditions upon which the options were
granted. The following table lists the major inputs to the model
used:

Dividend yield (%) B B E(%)

Expected volatility (%) FERR R 1R(%)
Risk-free interest rate (%) 5 3 B ) (%)

The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical
volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not
necessarily be the actual outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into
the measurement of fair value.

At 31 December 2021, the Company had 9,600,000 share
options outstanding under the 2010 Option Scheme. The
exercise in full of the outstanding share options would, under
the present capital structure of the Company, result in the issue
of 9,600,000 additional ordinary shares of the Company and
additional share capital of HKD960,000 and share premium of
HKD8,640,000 (before issue expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the
Company had 9,600,000 share options outstanding, which
represented approximately 0.43% of the Company's shares in
issue as at that date.

28.

AR HARE ST 2 @
120218128 31H > & 759,600,000
5 (20205128318 : 15,600,00019) i&
REBRER FITE > MMEFETEES
F5%1.00% 7T (2020E12831H : 2.00%
JT) °

FER - AEE N EEDE RS RS
(20204 : 4E)

RENKREEEROHBENATEER
REBHAHEBLIXGEMUZEER
et REE BT EEER LR
MRt TRIEZBEAMBANEE
BAE:

Equity-settled share options granted on

MRS EHERR H AR A E R (D HAE
15 April

2014

20144

4815H

2.17
49.47
2.270

TE HA R 08 2 PR SRR IR TS R R B B 5 1R
RE T —ERBRER-

STEATERMEREREAENE
(UESYERY

R20214E128318 > AR EIRIE201045
HA#E ST E159,600,00017 & R 17 2 BB 15
- RIBEAABIREEARZREE BH
TEBRTERO ARG EREEINET
9,600,0008% 2 /A 5] & 38 B& A K B £ 2B AN
B 7<960,00078 7T K B% 17 % 188,640,000
BT CRINEREE(TRS) o

RZEMGRE2EMEZB  AREAE
9,600,00017 i R AT MR (7 BAE - HE R
ZANKABBEETRNA0.43%
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29.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity in the financial
statements.

(a) Share premium account

The application of the share premium account is
governed by the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands.
Under the constitutional documents and the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands, the share premium is
distributable as dividend on the condition that the
Company is able to pay its debts when they fall due in
the ordinary course of business at the time the proposed
dividend is to be paid.

(b) Statutory reserve fund

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC and the
respective articles of association of the PRC subsidiaries,
each of the PRC subsidiaries other than Sichuan Lingyu
is required to allocate 10% of its profits after tax,
as determined in accordance with the PRC Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles (“PRC GAAP"), to the
statutory surplus reserve (the “SSR") until such reserve
reaches 50% of its registered capital.

As Sichuan Lingyu is a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise,
according to the Rules for the Implementation of
Foreign-funded Enterprise Law of the PRC and the
articles of association of Sichuan Lingyu, Sichuan Lingyu
is required to allocate 10% of its profit after tax in
accordance with PRC GAAP to the statutory reserve
fund (the “SRF”) until such reserve reaches 50% of its
registered capital.

The SSR and the SRF are non-distributable except in the
event of liquidation and subject to certain restrictions set
out in the relevant PRC regulations. They can be used
to offset accumulated losses or capitalised as paid-up
capital.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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B
FEBRAFERBEFENHE SR
REEFNMBERENGSREEETHR
E=I

(a) RpEEIR
B aERNERAZHEREA
BFEEE -REABEREXHK
MBS RBE Ik EIKR
B RAREEHANENB B %
BARPNEEREIBNSZNZSE
BEENBER T BROBEIES

EEDIKe

(b) ZEEES
BRABEABERTETF AR
EE@@E%E%HEW%@J%@
B (IU)IE RSN B i i
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NECEZEAMEAN
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HRmIEN S —ESEEER
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) InEEAERREARE SR
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29. RESERVES (continued)

222

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus represented the difference
between the nominal value of the Company’s shares
issued in exchange of or consideration paid for
subsidiaries acquired and the aggregate amount of
the nominal value for the paid-up capital of these
subsidiaries attributable to the owners of the Company
for business combinations under common control.

Safety fund surplus reserve

Pursuant to a Notice regarding Safety Production
Expenditure jointly issued by the Ministry of Finance
and the State Administration of Work Safety of the PRC
in February 2012, the Group is required to establish
a safety fund surplus reserve based on the volume of
mineral ore extracted. The safety fund can only be
transferred to retained earnings to offset safety related
expenses as and when they are incurred, including
expenses related to safety protection facilities and
equipment improvement and maintenance as well as
safety production inspection, appraisal, consultation and
training.

Share option reserve

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of
share options granted which are yet to be exercised,
as further explained in the accounting policy for share-
based payments in note 2.4 to the financial statements.
The amount will either be transferred to the share
premium account when the related options are exercised,
or be transferred to retained earnings should the related
options expire. As at 31 December 2021, the expired
share options due to resignation and the expiry of
the exercise period amounted to RMB5,805,000 (31
December 2020: RMB9,643,000), which was transferred
to retained profits.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve represented the Group’s capital
injection to subsidiaries by way of transfer from retained
profits in 2012.

29.

#E

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)
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PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY WITH 30.

MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Details of the Group's subsidiary that has material non-
controlling interests are set out below:

Percentage of equity interest FFERERIFRAE RN
held by non-controlling interests: Epal=
Sichuan Haoyuan miEE

Total comprehensive income/(loss) PDEEFZERERNER
for the year allocated to 2EWE, (FB18) 48%8
non-controlling interests:
Sichuan Haoyuan m)I7E=

Accumulated balances of MRS B IEERER
non-controlling interests at RETAEER -
the reporting date:
Sichuan Haoyuan )75

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial
information of the above subsidiary.

Other income and gain H U A B W e
Other expenses HipEx
Total comprehensive income/(loss) FREEmlE (G8) 4848

for the year

Current assets MENEE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Current liabilities mEAaE

Net cash flows used in operating activities &&= EEFERAMNIR SR EF4E
Net cash flows from investing activities ~ REEEFFFENIRERE 558
Net cash flows from/(used in) MEEEE (F/R) RS

financing activities MEPEE

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents IRE& RIS EBEY R/ FEE

BREEAIFERERN

EEEFRT

BEEARFEREGNAEEFLFN

SHBHIWT

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥F T AB®FT
49% 49%

68 (1,127)
294,895 294,827

TRABEULFLRANEZMBER -

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥F T ABEFT
810 -
(672) (2,300)
138 (2,300)

1,588 1,707
659,788 659,824
(59,549) (59,843)
(311) (1,129)

753 -

(444) 1,123

(2) (6)
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31. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

NET LIABILITIES DISPOSED OF:
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Inventories
Trade and bills receivables
Contract assets
Prepayments, other receivables and

other assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Assets classified as held for sale
Trade payables
Other payables and accruals
Interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings
Due to related parties
Lease liabilities

Add:
Non-controlling interests derecognised
on completion of the Disposal
Other costs attributable to the Disposal
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries

Satisfied by:
Cash

31.

FREEFEME:

EN =N

ERREE

7E

FEW R R 1B

BNEE
AR Eth B IE R EME E

RBERRTEEY
DEBFBIFHENEE
FE(JBRX

LA FE S TR IR e FE 51 FRIR
StEIRTREMBEE

P& BB 75 TR IR

HERE

o :
RHEFRFTAR R IR IFERE S
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PEFRBRW T

EfRER:
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31 July
2021
20214
7831H
RMB’000
ARETT
(unaudited)
(REEEZ)

21,824
1,078
11,639
5,113
1,911

3,611

3,598

16,415
(13.871)
(36,067)

(15,663)
(8,991)
(858)

(10,261)

6,247
591
10,723

7,300

7,300



31.

32.

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in
respect of the disposal of subsidiaries is as follows:

Cash consideration HEeRE
Cash and bank balances disposed of P EIRE R IRITLER
Other costs attributable to the Disposal — HEEIBEE(LEMAL A

Notes to the Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 December 2021
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31. HEFAT ®
BEELEEFRAENREEARBEEEEBYR
ASFEAFMT :

RMB’000
AR®TR

7,300
(3.598)
(591)

Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents HBEEEFARNRERIREEBYRAFEE

in respect of the disposal of subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(@) Major non-cash transactions
During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
had a non-cash decrease to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities of RMB4,196,000 and RMB4,196,000 in respect
of the lease modification for plant and machinery and
a non-cash decrease to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities of RMB153,000 and RMB137,000 in respect of
the lease termination for office premises.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
had a decrease of bills receivable and trade payables of
RMB5,120,000 in respect of the payment satisfied by
bills receivable.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
had a non-cash addition to right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities of RMB8,066,000 in respect of lease
modification for office premises.

3,111

32. HRERERERME

(a) FEFBREXRS
REE2021F12831HILEEE
AEEBRBE SR BEENR
NEREEERIESGBEIERE
B D R A ANR®4,196,0007T
B AR #4,196,0007T » A B
NEYERERIENEHEEESE
RESBEIIERSHL DA A
R #153,0007c &2 AR 137,000

JT ©

REZE2021F12831HILEEE
AEEERBUEBRERENSHR
TEW RN ER REMRIURLD A
R 15,120,000 °

REZE2020F12831HILEEE
NEBEEBMAEYMEREENR
NERREERIEEEIERE
REA AR 18,066,0007T ©
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32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

226

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

Changes in liabilities arising from

financing activities

Year ended 31 December 2021

At 1 January 2021

Changes from financing
cash flows

Interest expense

Payment satisfied by
bills receivable

Lease termination

Lease modifications

At 31 December 2021

®2021E1818
RERSRELH

FERX
LU W R E T BRIR

HERLE
HEEN

72021128318

32. RERERERMZE @
(b) MEFHBFIEEEMEN
28
BE2021F12831HLLFE
Bank and Amount
other Interest due to a Lease
borrowings payable related party liabilities
P&
RITR — RS
Hithfg & FE 37 8 ] HEEE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AREBTT AR¥TRT AR¥TRT AR®BTR
84,735 107 11,548 7,263
12,577 (3,899) 1,521 (423)
- 4,326 - 198
(5,120) - - -
- - - (137)
- - - (4,196)
92,192 534 13,069 2,705
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Notes to the Financial Statements

32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 32.
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

Changes in liabilities arising from

financing activities (Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2020

(b)

(c)

At 1 January 2020

Changes from financing
cash flows

New lease (note 15(b))

Derecognised as a result of
COVID-19-related rent
concessions

Interest expense

Increase from reclassification
as a result of disposal of
subsidiaries

Foreign exchange movement

Liabilities included in the
Disposal Group

At 31 December 2020

BT 15 R R M 5%
Year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F 128318 IEEE

SZERERERME @

(b) REEBIFFEERRR

25 @)
BHE2020F128318IEFE
Amount
due to a
Bank and Interest  related party Lease
other loans payable provision liabilities
e
RIT R — A
HthEm FERTF R FIEEE HEEE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ARBTRT ARBTT ARETR
20201818 99,247 111 40,638 2,629
MERERELH
3,174 (4,864) (127) (2,875)
#EE (HEE15(0)) - - - 8,066
FCovID-1948RAM &
B RIMAR IEFERR
- - - (254)
FEMX - 4,860 - 353
RHEFABDEREN
DA
- - (17,201) -
SNEEEE) (26) - 10 -
SFIALEERNER
(17,660) - (11,772) (656)
1120205 12831H 84,735 107 11,548 7,263

Total cash outflow for leases
The total cash outflow for leases included in the

statement of cash flows is as follows:

Within operating activities
Within financing activities

RIEEEFA
SREEEN

2021 £ | PENKEBIEEERAT

() HEMNRZRHUEER

AR REBRMNEERE MY

MEEEONT ¢
2021 2020
20214 20204F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR¥F T
99 614
695 2,875
794 3,489
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33.

228

FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACT

As mentioned in the Company’s annual financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company entered
into a sales and purchase agreement with Chengyu Vanadium
Titano Technology Ltd. (“Chengyu Vanadium Titano”) on 29
January 2019 in respect of the disposal of Huili Caitong and its
subsidiaries (the "Huili Caitong Group") with the consideration
of RMB550,000,000. Upon the completion of the disposal on
30 July 2019, the Huili Caitong Group (i) has ceased to be the
subsidiaries of the Company and (ii) has become subsidiaries of
Chengyu Vanadium Titano.

As at 31 December 2021, the maximum amount of the
guarantees given by the Company in favour of the Huili
Caitong Group, was RMB730,000,000 (31 December 2020:
RMB730,000,000) (the "CVT Guarantees”). The CVT Guarantees
were provided by the Company prior to the disposal of the
Huili Caitong Group to guarantee the indebtedness of the Huili
Caitong Group owed to certain banks and an asset management
and financial services institution in the PRC. The indebtedness
has not been repaid and the CVT Guarantees continued as
at 31 December 2021. The Company's obligations under the
CVT Guarantees have been counter-indemnified by Chengyu
Vanadium Titano. Details about the CVT Guarantees and the
counter-indemnity are included in notes 35(b)(i) and (ii) to the
financial statements.

The CVT Guarantees are measured at the higher of the
ECL allowance and the amount initially recognised less the
cumulative amount of income recognised. The ECL allowance
is measured by estimating the cash shortfalls, which are based
on the expected payments to reimburse certain banks and an
asset management and financial services institution for a credit
loss that it incurs less any amounts that the Group expects
to receive from Huili Caitong Group. The amount initially
recognised representing the fair value at initial recognition of
CVT Guarantees was not significant. During the year ended 31
December 2021, no ECL allowance should be recognised as a
provision during the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: nil).

The credit exposure of CVT Guarantees is classified as stage 1.
During the year, there were no transfers between stages (2020:
nil).

33.

MBIEREN

UM A AT EE2019F12831BLEEE
HE2FFBRERMIM KAQBH20195F
1TA29HE AR EAERAT (M5
BEE)) S — D BEEWE NAER
HESERBERETFAD ((FEMEE
E)) R EAAR550,000,0007T ° i
2019F7B30BHETEME > IEMBESE
E ()~ EBABERBNF R B KA K
AN F AT e

R2021F12831H AR BN GIEH B
ERAZTE A FHNERNESSES
AE#730,000,0007t (2020512831
H : AR 730,000,0007t) (MHhER#sk
R c PEEHKIERBALQBNHE
SR EEEREMS WERSEME
ERAERATHETRTE—HNEESTE
KRR B ER 1020219128
3B ZEEBMAEE MP K
R IARB K o AR B K A B 88 $R 4 1R
THEBEABRANKERBERE B
fA P 88 SR IR R e R B R B MIEEIB &L
7 B 75 3R 3= 3 55 35(b) () Ba (i)

FhE SRR T TEHAE BB BT
VAR EBIEIARAREEEN
ENEBESEFE - BHRERBLEIRD
BN RSITEZHEFE mMEstRE
REZHDBDERBNESETRITUR—
HEEEEREMRBEEEEENER
BRBIRASOINFERAEEBHRLS
15 57 4 55 [ IR B A9 {E fr < 28 o #0 1R R AR
B & %8 (1 & 740 A B 50 B 88 SR 9 R
B A FE) I AE K REZE2021F12
B31BIEFE wEEBERBREILR
FERESD 2 5 t5 (20204 @ ) o

TREEKERNEERDODEREER
1o R FEER =~ FE AV SR EE (20204 ©

) o
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34.

35.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of
the reporting period:

Contracted, but not provided for: B4 [BRERH
— Acquisition of mining rights — N BB R B A

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in
these financial statements, the Group had the following
transactions with related parties during the year:

Revenue generated from EE R ARG
the rendering of consultancy B~ EERE
and management services to P E A BIUE A
Huili Caitong

Note:

(i) Huili Caitong and Trisonic International are ultimately

controlled by the same beneficial owners. The
Group has entered into a three-year consultancy and
management service contract with Huili Caitong from
1 January 2018 to 31 December 2020 at a yearly fixed
fee of RMB8,600,000. In arriving at the above service
fee, the Group has considered a third party quotation
for providing similar services and negotiated on an arm's
length basis.

Notes to the Financial Statements

B 75 R R Y 5E

Year ended 31 Dec

ember 2021

HE2021FE12B31HLEEE

34. BAKIE
AEBRREPFRBEUTERKIE !
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ETT AE®FT
837 1,736
35. FAMARS
() BAMBRREMITOBHIN
R REBRERN AR
ETUTRS .
2021 2020
202145 20204F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
=S ARETFT AB®FT
(i) - 8,113
Mt -
(i) CEMERSAEMER —E 5

BEARKER AEEERFENE

I — 1 =ESHER &
HH FHA2018F 181

BERE
HZE2020

F1I2A3B - FEBEERABARE

8,600,0007T ° AR Ll

R &R

B AEEEEEREBERBNS
ZHWE WIRATEEER -
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 35.

(b) Other transactions with related parties

0]

Prior to the completion of the disposal of Huili

Caitong Group, the Company provided the CVT
Guarantees in favour of the Huili Caitong Group
with the aggregate maximum guaranteed amount
of RMB730,000,000. The principal terms of the
CVT Guarantees are set out as follows:

Borrower
famA

Huili Caitong

Huili Caitong

EEYE

Xiushuihe Mining

FHxAHEE

Huili Caitong

GEME

Lender and
beneficiary of
the guarantee

EMARERZHA

China Cinda Asset
Management Co., Ltd,
Sichuan Branch

HEEEEEEERD
BERATEIID AT

Industrial and Commercial
Bank of China Limited,
Liangshan Branch

FETIHBTROERAE
RU AT

Industrial and Commercial
Bank of China Limited,
Liangshan Branch

FETERTROBRAE
RU DT

China Construction Bank
Corporation, Liangshan
Branch

REEZIBITROBRAE
R DTT

RAEt A5 &
(b) ERAEANEMRKS

0]

Guarantor

#HRA

the Company

/NS

the Company

/NS

the Company

EN/NS]

the Company

EN/NS]
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REMEERERBEER

i A RBIUFIEMBE

B a2 A PR E

R REEREEAA

K #730,000,0007C © 1

BRI EEERET
wnr

Maximum

guaranteed

amount

EEiEfRE

RMB'000

AR¥F T

200,000

100,000

30,000

400,000

730,000



35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Other transactions with related parties

(Continued)

(ii) Chengyu Vanadium Titano and Trisonic
International are ultimately controlled by the
same beneficial owners. A counter-indemnity has
been entered into between Chengyu Vanadium
Titano and the Company for the respective period
from 30 July 2019 to the date of the release
of the CVT Guarantees, details of which are
specified in note 35(b)(i). Chengyu Vanadium
Titano's inventories (including, but not limited to,
structural steels and coals) with the aggregate
amount of approximately RMB1,067,000,000
have been pledged as security for such counter-
indemnity at 31 December 2021 (31 December
2020: RMB1,067,000,000).

Outstanding balances with related
parties

Details of the Group's balances with its related parties as
at the end of the reporting period are disclosed in note
20 to the financial statements.

Compensation of key management
personnel of the Group

Details of Directors’ and the chief executive's
emoluments, including compensation of key
management personnel, are set out in note 8 to the
financial statements.

Notes to the Financial Statements

35. RA

(b)

(c)

(d)

BT 15 R R M 5%
Year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F 128318 IEEE

X5 #®)

BB ANEMR S &

(i)

B A 7 8K e & Bl B PR H
FA—Em#EB ARKE
I DA T A 7 B NI/ =i
Sl RBMERE > FHA
2019 7H308EZE+
E#HS®RERBERELA
I (GEBE&E MR K5E35(b)
(i)) 520214128318
BRI RPN S
1,067,000,0007% (2020
F£128318: AR
1,067,000,0007%) &
(BIEERRNEERMN
MERER) EEHRIESRZ
KBERENIKIR

fe) 5K Ui (o] £42 R Bk 75 RO 45 B

PR E MR A EE B E RS 4
BRI BERN M BRERME20H

To

FEBTEEEAESN

fafE

EREFEkESTHAEMNME
(BETEEEABNBE W
SHBEEN M BRRWEES
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36.

232

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 36.

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Financial assets

Financial assets at amortised cost
Trade receivables

Financial assets included in prepayments,

deposits and other receivables
Due from related parties
Pledged deposits
Cash and cash equivalents

Financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income
Bills receivable

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Trade payables

Other payables and accruals

Due to related parties

Interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings

Lease liabilities

R KT BN EE
FE U BR X
StATRMRE BERK

Ht WA ERMEE
& WK e Bk 75 RR0R
BHERER
REKRREEEY

AT EHETRED
FAMBHEHEE
PR i

BB KT BN T HE R
FEASBR X
ELAFE 1 RRIE K FE 5T RRIE
FE 1 RR Bk 75 7R IR
STRIRTTREMEE

HE&RE

BRENISNEMIA
EESMTARRSHRYRALEN

T

ETRMEE

2021 2020

20214 20204

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥F AREFT

201,075 176,368

2,101 1,233

9,728 8,929

10,026 328

6,436 32,645

229,366 219,503

2,580 5,392

231,946 224,895
ERaE

2021 2020

20215 20204

RMB’000 RMB'000

AREF T N

33,077 30,493

41,660 40,532

13,069 11,548

92,192 84,735

2,705 7,263

182,703 174,571
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37.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments
reasonably approximate to fair values are as explained below:

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, pledged deposits, trade and bills receivables,
financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables and
other assets, amounts due from related parties, trade payables,
financial liabilities included in other payables, interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings and amounts due to related parties
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the short-
term maturities of these instruments.

The Group’s corporate finance team headed by the group
finance manager is responsible for determining the policies
and procedures for the fair value measurement of financial
instruments. The corporate finance team reports directly to the
financial controller and the audit committee. At each reporting
date, the corporate finance team analyses the movements in the
values of financial instruments and determines the major inputs
applied in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved
by the financial controller. The valuation process and results are
discussed with the audit committee twice a year for interim and
annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged
in a current transaction between willing parties, other than
in a forced or liquidation sale. The following methods and
assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:

The fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss is based on valuation techniques. The model incorporates
unobservable inputs of the recovery rate. The carrying amount
of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is the same
as its fair value.

The fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss measured at fair
value required significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) as at
31 December 2021 and 2020. An increase in the recovery rate
would result in the increase in the fair value of exchangeable
notes. The fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group's
assets held for sale measured at fair value was derived from
quoted prices in markets that were not active (Level 2) as at 31
December 2021 and 2020.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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TMITAAFERATFE
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BB RN T
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REBRERVHTBEENADYH
EEEEfEERTARATEFENK
REREF - REAMBEZREER YA
EREREZEGER  ARMBEBKRN
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REMGEFMERNEZRABE  HEL
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BEREZEENTHAFENHREEF
MR REEBRERER

THMEEMEBRNATERIANRBME
XHRELFNRTRS (MIFREBHBER
HE) PP TR A 5t AT E
REEAUTHERRR

BATEFAEMELH T ABRDNTR
BENRTVTEENRGERMAE - RE
BEWEIXRNATHEERRAEBB - HAT
B EMEEZPFABENEREEN
SREERREATEER-

20214 %2020 128310 » ZEE R
NFEAENRAFEFEMEEE T
ABRNEHREEN A TENE2REE
EHEAFAEERBEAME (F3E) - WEI=E
THAEERAEIARENAFE Lo
2021 %2020 128310 » KEE R
NFEHENFELEEEEN QA FES
EXRRBREIFETRHTHENRE (B28) 17
Ho
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37.

38.
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FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The financial assets of the Group mainly include cash and bank
balances, pledged deposits, trade and bills receivables, financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, financial assets
included in prepayments, other receivables and other assets
and amounts due from related parties, which arise directly from
its operations. Financial liabilities of the Group mainly include
financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals, trade
payables, amounts due to related parties and interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

Risk management is carried out by the finance department
which is led by the Group's executive directors. The Group's
finance department identifies and evaluates financial risks in
close co-operation with the Group’s operating units. The main
risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are liquidity
risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and foreign currency risk.

The Group’s financial risk management policy is to ensure that
adequate resources are available to manage the above risks
and to create value for its shareholders. The Directors regularly
review these risks and they are summarised below.

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its exposure to a shortage of funds by
considering the maturity of both its financial liabilities and
financial assets and projected cash flows from operations.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had net current assets of
RMB112,616,000 (31 December 2020: RMB27,071,000).

Regarding 2021 and thereafter, the liquidity of the Group is
primarily dependent on its ability to maintain adequate cash
flows from operations and successfully renew its interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings to meet its debt obligations as they
fall due.

37.

38.

ERMTAEXAFERATE
248 @)
AEENEHEEFEEELCEERE
BEENREAIRITEG EEREDR
EWERT REE B AFET2MmMHEE
et ABTENEREE st ATEIE
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38.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at the end
of the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted
payments, is as follows:

Interest-bearing bank

and other borrowings

Trade payables

Other payables and
accruals

Lease liabilities

Due to related parties

Interest-bearing bank

and other borrowings

Trade payables

Other payables and
accruals

Lease liabilities

Due to related parties

SRBTREMES

FETER
HEANRIER
FEEt B

HERE
eI RRRE 7R

SHERITREMBEE

& £ BR R
HE B R
st RR

HE&E
FE (T RAME 75 7R
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38. MBRMEEBRKRERE
(%)
SR En 14 = bR (48)
RESHFx AERTREEENREGA
FRAGRARNOEAROT ¢
2021
20214
Less than 3to 1to5
On demand 3 months 12 months years Total
HEXK D3EAR 3E12188 1E55 A%
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTFT AERETR ARBTT AER¥TRT ARETR®
5,534 5,006 11,111 74,835 96,486
33,077 - - - 33,077
34,683 - 6,277 700 41,660
- 54 2,390 406 2,850
5,389 - - 7,680 13,069
78,683 5060 19,778 83,621 187,142
2020
20204
Less than 3to 1t05
On demand 3 months 12 months years Total
BEX DR3MEA 3Z12[8A 1258 =k
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T ARET T ARET T ARET T
- 854 99,002 - 99,856
30,493 - - - 30,493
39,832 - - 700 40,532
- 929 2,619 4,163 7,711
3,868 - - 7,680 11,548
74,193 1,783 101,621 12,543 190,140

2021 FiR | RENKEEREFRAS 235



Notes to the Financial Statements
B TR ¥R FR T 5

Year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12831HIEEE

38.

236

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (cContinued)
Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk relates primarily to
the Group's bank deposits, interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings and exchangeable notes (which are subject to
fair value interest rate risk). The interest rates and terms of
repayment of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings are
disclosed in note 25 to the financial statements.

The Group manages its cash flow interest rate risk exposure
arising from all of its interest-bearing loans through the use of
fixed rates. In addition, the Group has not used any interest rate
swaps to hedge against interest rate risk.

Credit risk

Substantial amounts of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents
and pledged deposits are held in major reputable financial
institutions located in Mainland China, Hong Kong and
Australia, which management believes are of high credit quality.
The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which
comprise trade and bills receivables, other receivables and
amounts due from related parties, arises from default of the
counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying
amounts of these instruments. The Group has no other financial
assets which carry significant exposure to credit risk.

As disclosed in note 4 to the financial statements, the Group
sells most of the products to a small number of customers. As
a result, it faces a high level of concentration of credit risk.
The Group manages this risk by offering a six-month credit
term to its customers for the sale of self-produced products
and its trading customers because market conditions remained
weak. The Group maintains strict control over its outstanding
receivables and senior management regularly reviews the
overdue balances. In addition, the Group’s exposure to credit
risk is also influenced by the individual characteristics of each
customer and default risk of the industry in which customers
operate. During the year, the Group generated its revenue
mainly from the sale of iron products and the trading of steels to
the steel producers and distributors that purchase the Group's
products and resell them to steel producers. In addition, the
Group also generated revenue from the rendering of specialised
mining services and consultancy and management service to
other customers. In this regard, the Group is exposed to the
concentration of credit risk in the steel and iron industries.
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R H 1 oK U [B] B8 WO TR B9 BR AR AR Y 0 30
Mo EEEERHER BRI
AEBRBAZNEERBRTZELER
RERNFERE R EETENENRR
PREE - R AEENBATEREM
MEBEERUKBEFAERERTEE
TiMEEERNIEBHEEERUR
EITIEE 5 - I 5h > REREBIRATRR
BREME R HEEERRRS U KE
BIREERD -f ~EEEENEE
JEV B & R R R AT 2 o
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38.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and year-
end staging classification as at 31 December. The amounts
presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets.

Notes to the Financial Statements

38.

BT 15 R R M 5%
Year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F 128318 IEEE

BHERREREEERBE
(#8)

EERE @)

B RS R EERE
TERBRERAEREERENEEYE
SRESEEAK TEERABER
(REEMENTERBLEBERE
A HRE R TS > LRR128318
MERBRNE -2 SEASRE
EIREMEE

As at 31 December 2021 20215128318
12-month
ECLs Life time ECLs
12f8 A 78
(5iEEES ZHTERRE AKX
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
B R 1 B ER2 B ER3 fa1EA & st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT AR%TT
Trade and bills TR R R i+
receivables* - - - 210,859 210,859
Financial assets STATAEMTRIE
included in Hh g ax
prepayments, HMEEN
other receivables THEE
and other assets
— Normal** —EE** 2,101 - - - 2,101
— Doubtful** — Pl EE* - - 604 - 604
Cash and cash RERREEEY
equivalents
— Not yet past due —XRmH 6,436 - - - 6,436
Pledged deposits BEERER 10,026 - - - 10,026
18,563 - 604 210,859 230,026

**

For trade and bill receivables to which the Group applies the
simplified approach for impairment, information based on
the provision matrix is disclosed in note 19 to the financial
statements.

The credit quality of the financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables and other assets is considered
to be “normal” when they are not past due and there is no
information indicating that the financial assets had a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise,
the credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be
“doubtful”.

* PLAEE H g AR EB L AR EUR
MERBHEMES  BERNEREMRNER
IR R AR TR 19388

*x Bt ARMNMIE HttEKRRELRA
MEENEREERAT BUESE
HBTnEMEENEERRBYIGBHE
BURKEIGME > TREENEES
HEWRATER ; SHEREAEDN
EEERWRAIMEE
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Year ended 31 December 2021

HZE2021%F12831HILEEE
38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 38. MFEEEEEHIERKER
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued) 45)

EERK @
BREREERELERE (8B)
#2020E12H831H

Credit risk (Continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)
As at 31 December 2020

238

12-month
ECLs Life time ECLs
1218 A 78 HA
ER1EX 2HFEREREX
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
P ES 1 P EG2 P ER3 1A% “Et
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT
Trade and bills FE U AR TR R SRR+
receivables* - - - 193,094 193,094
Financial assets STATREMRIE
included in H AT
prepayments, HMEEN
other receivables THEBEE
and other assets
- Normal** —IEE** 1,233 - - - 1,233
— Doubtful** — B RE** - - 604 - 604
Cash and cash REMREEEY
equivalents
— Not yet past due — XK 32,645 - - - 32,645
Pledged deposits BERER 328 - - - 328
34,206 - 604 193,094 227,904
* For trade and bill receivables to which the Group applies the * AL ERRAERLAANEWER

* %

simplified approach for impairment, information based on
the provision matrix is disclosed in note 19 to the financial
statements.

The credit quality of the financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables and other assets is considered
to be “normal” when they are not past due and there is no
information indicating that the financial assets had a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise,
the credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be
“doubtful”.

* %
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38.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures
arise from sales or purchases by operating units in currencies
other than the units’ functional currencies. Approximately
5% (2020: 16%) of the Group's sales were denominated in
currencies other than the functional currencies of the operating
units making the sale, whilst approximately 5% (2020: 15%)
of costs were denominated in the units’ functional currencies,
mainly from the discontinued operations.

The Group’s foreign currency exposures arise primarily from the
exchange rate movement of foreign currencies, namely HKD,
USD and SGD, against the RMB, HKD, USD and SGD are the
functional currencies of the respective entities within the Group.

The Group does not enter into any hedging transactions
to manage the potential fluctuation in foreign currencies.
Management monitors the Group’s foreign currency exposure
and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure
when the needs arise.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a 5.0%
change in RMB against HKD, USD and SGD, respectively. The
5.0% is the rate used when reporting currency risk internally
to key management personnel and represents management'’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in the foreign
currency rates. The sensitivity analyses of the Group’s exposure
to foreign currency risk at the end of each reporting period
have been determined based on the adjustment of translation
of the monetary assets and liabilities at the end of each
reporting period for a 5.0% change in RMB against HKD, USD
and SGD, respectively, with all other variables held constant, of
the Group’s profit before tax for the year ended 31 December
2021 (due to changes in the fair value of cash and cash
equivalents and financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss denominated in HKD, USD and SGD):

Notes to the Financial Statements

38.

BT 15 R R M 5%
Year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F 128318 IEEE

MERGEEERZEREBUER
(#)

S5 R B
FEEEHXZEERAR HREEKE
BUMHEINEEBUINEEETNE
o AREREAS5% (20204 1 16% ) HISHE
BB LUAS = BB I 1T EH & MU Th RE B HE LLSH
EIEEHE > T4I5% (20204 : 15%) BIARL
AUBAMINEEEE TEFREE

FEEEHNIINERREZREINEG
(BRI T Eo R MK T AR
FEREFH BT R AMMRTAEE
EE TR BRENNEESE-

FEBTEETEANYARZUAEERE
NN RS  BIEEERARERNI
KRR LRNERERKEBHPEN
BYSN B R B o

TRRABEAREDR BT ETK
N T IR5.0% S EHEEE ©5.0%
DAREEEFTEABERE SR RE
R = T ABEBBHIINEERS
BN TH - HAERNZRS
HASR B ON IS BB OB REEE o 4 > TH B D
AFBEEMEBHEFIET RN EIEK
EHRFMEBEEREEREE HAEH
HE2021F12831HIEFEENRATHE
ER AR5 BB 7T ~ 5T R N
TTHIR5.0% BRI (RN BT =
TTRMIMETHHENRERIBSEEY
UREBEBATFEFEMEEEFAEBGN
TREBEENRFEEE) S .
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currency risk (Continued)

Increase/(decrease) in profit before tax #ATF)EEM,~ GEL)

If RMB strengthens against HMARBRBT ExTK
HKD, USD and SGD NI TR

If RMB weakens against HMARERAETETK
HKD, USD and SGD Nk oTiEss

The Group does not consider that it has any significant exposure
to the risk of fluctuation in the exchange rates between HKD/
USD/SGD and RMB as a reasonable possible change of 5% in
RMB against HKD/USD/SGD would have no significant financial
impact on the Group’s profit or loss.

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its
business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend
payment to shareholders or raise new capital from its investors.
No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes
for managing financial risk during the year.

The Group will minimise the capital expenditure and renew
or extend its short-term loans as part of capital management.
The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net
debt divided by total equity plus net debt. The Group’s policy
is to keep the gearing ratio between 20% and 40% over the
long term. Net debt is defined as interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings and lease liabilities, net of cash and cash
equivalents and it excludes liabilities incurred for working capital
purposes. Equity includes equity attributable to the owners of
the Company and non-controlling interest. As at 31 December
2021, the gearing ratio was 8.7% (2020: 6.1%).

38.

MR EEBRREER

()
ShEE RS (@)
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETF T AR¥TF T
(55) (764)
55 764

B ARERBITET/ MK TH
GEAUEEFHNRKIEHAERNE
DEEREAVYBELE BEAEEIR
HYmmEeBrx,/ Ex/ MK Te A
RENEREZ R ER -

BEAEE

FEREAEENTEZENR/RERE
ERBEENENIREFRRENESRL
UK EEFRBERSRREE-

AEEERHEXRER LEBLENR
MELTRABEZRB REFIRABES
R 2EERNTAEQRRKNHK
BEREEREEEENER - FRLE
HEEWHERNER BERNEFF
R

AEBMBEERVEAMET W EENIL
EHEHEREFABAEE D oK
EEUEBLEERETHEER ZLXA
B FEMUERBERNER FE-
REBMPIBEABEEELERBH#IZFR
20%FE40% 2B o BEHFBEHEAEA
EROTKREMEEUREES®E Nk
HeERBE£EEY BT rAEEREE
EcHAMESANEBE HEOEHEB
RAABHEE ANWHEED R IEERER -
R2021512831H  BEELEA8.7%
(2020%F : 6.1%) ©
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39.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Office equipment
Right-of-use assets
Investments in subsidiaries

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS
Dividend receivable
Due from subsidiaries

Prepayments, other receivables and

other assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Due to subsidiaries

Due to the holding company
Lease liability

Other payables and accruals

Total current liabilities

NET CURRENT ASSETS

Net assets

EQUITY
Issued capital
Reserves (note)

Total equity

FERBEE
MAERE
EREEE
RFABNEKE

FRBEEME

RBEE

FEW AR 2

L GRYNSIE/ S|

TR MRIE ~ H UG IR R
Hih&EE
REKRREEEY

MBEERE

mEaRE
S F RBERIE

FE R A BRRIA
HE&RE

HAth A RRIBE R R 5T RUA

MENBREER

RBEEFE

BEEFE

e 3 g

s
BETRA
& (HsE)

R ABER

Notes to the Financial Statements

BT 15 R R M 5%
Year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F 128318 IEEE

39. FAFHIMBIRAR

RIRERET QBB RRZBOERN

T
2021 2020
202145 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AB®FT
= 6

= 167
549,216 539,130
549,216 539,303
17,156 17,157
138,522 140,618
214 75

491 540
156,383 158,390
58,262 60,391
3,393 2,132

= 178

8,704 8,741
70,359 71,442
86,024 86,948
635,240 626,251
197,889 197,889
437,351 428,362
635,240 626,251
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Year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12831HIEEE

39.

40.

41.

242

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (continued)

39. KAATMBMBRAR @

Note: M -
The movements of the Company'’s reserves are as follows: RABMEENEBWNT
Share Share
premium option Accumulated
account reserve losses Total
P17 HA 1
%17 5 (8 AR {E ] 40 o] At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AREBFT AREFT ARBFT AREFT
At 1 January 2020 2020 181H 1,877,488 24,569 (1,455,206) 446,851
Transfer of share option R AR BARE B R B e %
reserve upon the gtk =i
expiry of share options - (9,643) 9,643 -
Total comprehensive loss for FER 2 EEBLEEE
the year - - (18,489) (18,489)
At 31 December 2020 and 1 720205128318 K&
January 2021 2021F181H 1,877,488 14,926 (1,464,052) 428,362
Transfer of share option T RR AR HAHE [ o B 5 43
reserve upon the BAD HARE A 1
expiry of share options - (5,805) 5,805 -
Total comprehensive income 4 9 % [H UK & 48 28
for the year - - 8,989 8,989
At 31 December 2021 720215F12831H 1,877,488 9,121 (1,449,258) 437,351

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share
options granted which are yet to be exercised, as further
explained in the accounting policy for share-based payments
in note 2.4 to the financial statements. The amount will either
be transferred to the share premium account when the related
options are exercised, or be transferred to retained profits
should the related options expire.

COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

Certain comparative amounts in the preceding year’s
consolidated financial statements have been re-presented to
conform with current year's presentation.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue
by the board of directors on 29 March 2022.

40.

41.

e AR A BB R B R RITER
RN A TE E—F ML EMH
WARMEE2 48 MU A BB AT
T ET R o AR 1Y 1A R AR R AT
REREROSER NEEEHER
MRBERTEEELRENE-

EEEREER
A —FEEAMBREANNE THERY
FEEY UNEERFENZT S

HEE R B R

EEEN2022F3H298 L E KR ET
BMBHREK-
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Five-Year Financial Summary

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results, assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests
of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
published audited financial statements, is set out below.

hEMBREE

MBERRE
TXHIIFEEBE R BN REENES &
B afREERRBHEE HEREE AN
SERHBRE -

Results E |
For the year ended 31 December
HE1A3MBALEE
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
20215 20205 20195 20185 20175
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTRT AEBFT ARETT ARETT ARETT
(Re-presented) (Re-presented)
(=5 (&5
CONTINUING OPERATIONS REREES
REVENUE WA 714,760 488,135 517,637 684,750 877,183
Cost of sales HEMA (690,098) (441,548) (477,107) (634,210) (861,611)
Gross profit E£7 24,662 46,587 40,530 50,540 15,572
Other income and gains HBA R &S 3,888 3,864 409 602 1,353
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEZ (373) (4,572) (9,194) (11,284) (15,123)
Administrative expenses THEX (19,033) (30,515) (22,034) (34,746) (15,931)
Other expenses Hihpgx (2,288) (3,212) (417) (2,256) (8,123)
Impairment losses on goodwill BEAESE - - - - -
Impairment losses on property, ME-BERZEREBE

plant and equipment - - - (1,071) -
Impairment losses on ERVERABSE

intangible assets - - - - (64,884)
Impairment losses on other HittEF EERESE

intangible asset - - - - -
Reversal of/(provision for) impairment PR TR B RS 1B

losses on trade receivables, net BE/ (BE) P8 4,130 1,479 8,844 9,898 (10,521)
Impairment losses on financial assets SRR HAREL

included in prepayments, FEREMEEN

other receivables and other assets SREEAERE - - (604) (23) -
Impairment losses on assets held for sale  F{EHEEERERE - - - (1,469) (4,525)
Fair value losses on BRATEHEMEES

financial assets at fair value through SABENEHEEN

profit or loss NTEBR - - - - (109,617)
Finance costs MEME (5,393) (5,598) (3,139) (8,343) (5,282)
Share of losses of an associate ME—EHEARNEE - - - - (9,458)
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX FROM HECEEBERNTE/

CONTINUING OPERATIONS (&548) 5,623 8,033 14,395 1,848 (226,539)
Income tax credit/(expense) FiishiEsR,/ (%) (4,641) 250 (6,091) 2,808 4,076
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR FROM  #EZEEBERTE/

CONTINUING OPERATIONS (#548) 982 8,283 8,304 4,656 (222,463)
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS BRIEEEER
Loss for the year from BRIECEEBENGE

discontinued operations (4,107) (32,675) (100,914) (453,907) (167,158)
Gain on disposal of HEBR ELEEEFNRE

discontinued operations 10,723 - 152,997 - -
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR ERTIE/ (58) 7,598 (24,392) 60,387 (449,251) (389,621)
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Five-Year Financial Summary

LEMBRE

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME/(LOSS):

Other comprehensive income/(loss)
that may be reclassified to profit or loss

in subsequent periods:

Exchange differences on translation of

foreign operations

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE PROFIT/(LOSS)

FOR THE YEAR

Profit/(Loss) attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive income/(loss)

attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Basic and diluted earnings/(loss)

per Share attributable to
ordinary equity holders
of the Company: (RMB)
- continuing operations
- discontinued operations

Total

# Less than RMB0.01

Hith2EKE/ ()

AREERBEERNEE
HafEMEERE
(B%)
MEBIEBELN
EREH

FR2EFE/ (515 28

B/ (B8 BER:
KRABERA
Fl32d g 3

2ENG/ (B8 BE
BER

NCIE ZUN
JFERR D

BERARDEERRE
REANEBRROELR
BHERN/ (B8
AR#7)
~REREEY
—BRIEGEXH

@it

For the year ended 31 December

HENAHLEE
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
20215 20205 20194 20184 20174
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETR ARETx ARETR NS
(Re-presented) (Re-presented)
(&5 (&5
840 (1,770 743 989 (140)
8,438 (26,162) 61,130 (448,262) (389,761)
8,311 (17,054) 69,199 (443,969) (349,490)
(713) (7,338) (8,812) (5,282) (40,131)
7,598 (24,392) 60,387 (449,251) (389,621)
8,989 (18,489) 69,800 (443,161) (349,603)
(551) (7,673) (8,670) (5,101) (40,158)
8,438 (26,162) 61,130 (448,262) (389,761)
_# _# _# _# (0.08)
- (0.01) 0.03 (0.20) (0.08)
- (0.01) 0.03 (0.20) (0.16)

DR ARY0.017T
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Five-Year Financial Summary

LEMBRE

e g epeas . - - ae s
Assets, Liabilities and Non-controlling Interests BEE -BERIEERER
As at 31 December
128318
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
20215 20205 20195 20185 20175
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Non-current assets FERBEE 915,436 913,733 944,738 923,027 2,100,096
Current assets RBEE 246,178 311,899 325,194 1,522,820 935,779
Non-current liabilities E¥Eul=K (97,915) (25,352) (15,071) (19,133) (347,513)
Current liabilities it i= (133,562) (284,828) (313,247) (1,533,018) (1,343,257)
Total equity BRI 930,137 915,452 941,614 893,696 1,345,105
Non-controlling interests FERER (294,897) (289,201) (296,874) (318,959) (324,198)
Equity attributable to owners of BERAREEE ANER

the Company 635,240 626,251 644,740 574,737 1,020,907
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Glossary
iy
oA 2

“2019 Completion”
20195 52 Ak

“2019 Disposal”
M2019F HESIE)
“2019 Disposal Group”

2019 HEEHE]

“2021 AGM”
M021ERFBEKRE]

2022 AGM”
F2022F RRBEKRG

“Aba Mining”
Moy g A 2

"Aba Prefecture”
bR

“Akuang Trading”
M bE 8 5 )

“Anhydrite”
MEKEE]

"Articles”

4R BN

Completion of the 2019 Disposal on 30 July 2019
72201978308 5T A2019F HEHIA

the sale transaction of the Caitong Group from Sichuan Lingyu to Chengyu
Vanadium Titano which was entered into on 29 January 2019 and completed on
30 July 2019

F2201951 H29H 5T 1L M 522019497 530 H SE AL B3 PO 1 12 15 14 A% 74 871 8 tH & B 48
E@ENZH

refers to the Caitong Group
HiBEE

the Shareholders’ annual general meeting held on 29 June 2021
R20215F6B29B BTHRRBERE

the Shareholders’ annual general meeting to be held on 29 June 2022
20226 B29B8 BITHRRBFERE

Aba Mining Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company established in the PRC on
27 February 2004 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
FIBEEBRAR > —HR2004F2827BEFEMIINEREETLAR AER
BNEZEEEFAH

Aba Tibetan and Qiang Autonomous Prefecture

[ 355 1 1k 5 1k B8 N

Huili County Akuang Trading Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company established
in the PRC on 13 June 2012 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company

2REMEESAERAR —ER2012F6B13HEFEAKR LN EREERE
RAEAANBINERLEEF AT

an anhydrous sulfate mineral with the chemical formula CaSOa

—REE KRR EEIEY)  {C2 T Cas0s

the articles of association of the Company, adopted on 4 September 2009 and as
amended from time to time
RATIR2009F9 A4 HERAN I K& RS ET AR B E= 12 4R B

246 CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED | 2021 ANNUAL REPORT



" AUD"
DRIt

“Board”

=0

“BVI”
MRBRLEE]

"Caitong Group”

M mEmE

"CG Code”

ME TR

“Chengyu Vanadium Titano”

Ik a0 S 840

“China”, "Mainland China” or
“PRC”
AR [ 3% TP E P

“China VTM Mining”, “Company”,

" 7

our”, "us” or “we"”

FehE s Ea) ~ TR R B IR

“Chuan Wei"”

A

“close associates”
38PN

Glossary

ke

the lawful currency of the Commonwealth of Australia

MAM I EE S

the board of Directors

B9

The British Virgin Islands
RERLEES

refers to Huili Caitong and its subsidiaries, namely Xiushuihe Mining and
Panzhihua Yixingda, which engage in sale of self-produced low-grade iron
concentrates within the range of 53% TFe to 55% TFe and has been disposed on
30 July 2019

SEMBEREFAS AMFKIBERBKRIESEE) HEHETFez 2N T
53%E55%H B ERRUBIBENES > 2R2019F 78300 HE

in the context of this annual report, refers to the Corporate Governance Code
set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules that is applicable to the Corporate
Governance Report for the Reporting Period, unless otherwise specified

PRIEBFERR SRIMAFERME A L HRANE+OrrSERNIRS AR

EARARENEEERTA

Chengyu Vanadium Titano Technology Ltd.*, formerly known as Weiyuan Steel
Co., Ltd.*, a sino-foreign equity joint venture established in the PRC on 3 April
2001 and a connected person to the Group

RN BB R AR RIS ARAR) > —E12001F48338 T FERK
TR EERERE  BAEBMBEAL

the People’s Republic of China excluding, for the purpose of this annual report,
Hong Kong, the Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC and Taiwan
PEARLNE RAFRMNES  FOESE FERMFHTHERSS

China Vanadium Titano-Magnetite Mining Company Limited, a limited liability
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 28 April 2008

FE S EEEARAT ) —BR2008F4828H EHEHEEMA LA R
NS

Sichuan Chuanwei Group Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company established in the
PRC on 29 March 1998 and a connected person to the Group
mINBNEREBRBRAB > —HIR1998F3829H A HRBIMRIINEREERE)
RHEEENRABAL

has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Listing Rules

B ERRAME TR E

2021 8 | PENHKEBEESRAT 247



Glossary

ke

“Companies Law”
A BE]

"

"connected person(s)
MRAZE A L]

“Continuing Operations”
SRS ER

“Controlling Shareholder(s)”

MERIR )

"CVT Guarantees”

Mo () 884 $A 42 1R )

“Director(s)”
==y

"Discontinued Operations”
MEARIFEEER

“Disposal”

"Disposal Group” or

“Mancala Australia Group”
THEEE I RENE RAER)

the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman Islands
HEHEAAE2E AT E (19615563 Bix & KIER])

has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Listing Rules

B EHRAPTI TR

operations of the Remaining Group

REBEBMAES

has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Listing Rules and in the context of this
annual report, refers to Trisonic International, Kingston Grand, Messrs. Wang Jin,
Shi Yinjun, Yang Xianlu, Wu Wendong, Zhang Yuangui and Li Hesheng
B FRAATIE TR i AT S > #6558 EPR ~ Kingston Grand~ E$h4t
F RIRBERE - BABEE BRXRELE -REERERFNBITE

guarantees given by the Company in favour of the Caitong Group guaranteeing,
inter alia, the indebtedness owing by any company(ies) in the Caitong Group to
certain banks and an asset management and financial services institution in the
PRC with maximum guaranteed amount of RMB730.0 million
RRBIUMBER AT HE AFHNER BR (EPEE WBERRNEAASLE
RPEEFTRITUR—EEEEERESMRBRBNES EeERTSEMAR
#730.0B & T

director(s) of the Company or any one of them
KARMEM—RREHESR

operations of the Mancala Australia Group, which has been disposed on 31 July
2021
N2 FREENES EN2021E7831HEHE

the sale transaction of the Mancala Australia Group through the disposal of 81%
equity interest in Mancala Holdings from the Company to PT. Hay Wei, which was
entered into on 30 June 2021 and completed on 31 July 2021
BIBAREMPT. Hay WeilEf 2 2 RIS 1 %R AR T ETRMNE RIUER
BISHERR S » 75202156 8308 5T 1L 1070202167831 H 5EAL

refers to the Mancala Holdings and its subsidiaries, which was disposed and
deconsolidated as at 31 July 2021, upon completion of the Disposal
HMEESFRUAETAR R2021F7A3HHESETRAREL T A ILFE AR

248 CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED | 2021 ANNUAL REPORT



"

"Exploration Result(s)

MENEER)

u "

Fe
TFe |

“FY2020"
F2020 BUF )

“FY2021"
F20218f B E ]

"Group”
IAREE)

“gypsum”
AE]

“High Fe Mines”
& m &S]

“High-Fe Mining Operation”

&8 (IR 5 275

“Hong Kong”
&4

"HKD"
=5

“Hong Kong Stock Exchange”
TS B AZFR

“Huili Caitong”

Glossary

ke

exploration results(s) include(s) data and information generated by mineral
exploration programmes that might be of use to investors but which do not form
part of a declaration of mineral resources or ore reserves
BEEROEDRIFREEN - PIHEEECRET FRBEEE REBEAH
BEXRESHBONEBENEER

chemical symbol of iron element

BT RRCERTR

financial year ended and/or as at 31 December 2020, as applicable
BE2020F 12831 H LM B EE K /305020206 128318 (&)

financial year ended and/or as at 31 December 2021, as applicable

HZE2021F 12831 HIEHBEE R,/ 52021E128318 (@EA)

the Company and its subsidiaries
KRB REFRE

a soft hydrous sulfate mineral with the chemical formula CaSO4 ¢ 2H.0
—EME ZKIREEETEY) > 55830 3CasS0s » 2H:0

Maoling-Yanglongshan Mines and Maoling Processing Plant

EE-FRUBBRERRER

refers to operation of sale of self-produced high-grade iron concentrates within
the range of 65% TFe to 72% TFe
HETFeZEN FS5%E2%MNEES R BEENER

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
REEBAFITHRR

the lawful currency of Hong Kong
BEEEGH

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
EBHMAERBFAAERAE

Huili County Caitong Iron and Titanium Co., Ltd.*, established in the PRC on
7 July 1998 and has been a foreign equity joint venture in the PRC since 29
December 2010, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company till 30 July
2019

SEBRYBHRBREERT 1998 FE7A7HEHREILIL > H2010612829H
ERATHENIIEEELELE BEE2019578308ALLARABINEZEE
FAF
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Glossary

ke

“IFRSs”

e F5 3k & 2 Ay 5

“Indicated”

T2l 15

“Inferred”

Ei:3-if 5

“iron”

E=7 15

“iron concentrate(s)”

M 15 BE 5

International Financial Reporting Standards, which comprise standards and
interpretations approved by the International Accounting Standards Board and
the International Accounting Standards and Standing Interpretations Committee
interpretations approved by the International Accounting Standards Committee
that remain in effect

BERMBREERN GENAENEBEE St E RS FHIERNER KZE Y
REEREHEZE S ENBRGFHEAREBREZESRE

part of a mineral resource for which quantity, grade (or quality), densities, shape
and physical characteristics are estimated with sufficient confidence to allow the
application of modifying factors in sufficient detail to support mine planning and
evaluation of the economic viability of the deposit

BEERTERMNE mi (NE2) BE -WRALKERIFUHOEERGENE
D UBEREREFBENESTRAER IHBSNEERS RETEREEDIT
TG

part of a mineral resource for which quantity and grade (or quality) are estimated
on the basis of limited geological evidence and sampling. Geological evidence
is sufficient to imply but not verify geological and grade (or quality) continuity.
It is based on exploration, sampling and testing information gathered through
appropriate techniques from locations such as outcrops, trenches, pits, workings
and drill holes

BEERTERMNERRMU (RNES) IRBEERENMEFRMNIELEEHE
Dot EEBEBEEURRE (BIFZRE) B kM (NES) NEEM -ZhERRE
TREBR BN BANEE KRB S MR LUB 2 ST R E BN R ~ SRR ORI
=B IEH

a silvery-white, lustrous, malleable, ductile, magnetic or magnetisable, metallic
element occurring abundantly in combined forms, notably in hematite, limonite,
magnetite, and taconite, and used in alloyed in a wide range of important
structural materials

—RBIRABN X2 - FEN - AJER - AHUEHIRBENEB LR LUES
WRAREFT TEAAERE -BERE HEBERAS THAZEEELEEMY
FRAREEH

concentrate(s) whose main mineral content (by value) is iron

EREY AN (ZEE) RBOBEE
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"

“iron ore(s)

Mg pE A 5

“iron pellet(s)”

MK 5E 5

“JORC Code (2012 Edition)”

e RHEELZETRE 5
(20124FERR) |

“Kingston Grand”

I'Kingston Grand | 15
"

NEEY =
gy

I | i
"Ktpa”

FFmg, &) =
“Listing Rules”

M EmRA s

“Mancala Holdings”

AEE+~h 5

Glossary

ke

compounds of iron and oxygen (iron oxides) mixed with impurities (gangue); it is a
mineral which when heated in the presence of a reductant will yield metallic iron
BEME (k) NEREESY (EHE) ; B—BRERE —EMARENAS
[& AV IEY)

a round hardened clump of iron-rich material suitable for application in blast
furnaces

BRARBENERRELCHE SHES

the Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and
Ore Reserves, prepared by the Joint Ore Reserves Committee of the Australasian
Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, Australian Institute of Geoscientists and
Minerals Council of Australia in 1989 and revised and updated in 1992, 1996,
1999, 2004 and 2012, that sets out minimum standards, recommendations and
guidelines for public reporting
HRAMADEASE RN EERIGE EMNEYZE GRS
HELZEGR1989F AR > WH 19924 ~ 199645 ~ 19994 ~ 2004F K201 25 & 5]
REHHREAFNADSBEHRER BEEREMAITRFEENREHA HI
MAREFRT S N RERE S ERERIES

Kingston Grand Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
on 20 February 2007, holder of 40% of the issued share capital of Trisonic
International

Kingston Grand Limited > —fi2007F 2820 EBRE L BESFMM I A
B A SAIER40% N B EITRA

kilometre(s), a metric unit measure of distance
NE EEBERNTEFIEMQ

thousand tonnes

F g

thousand tonnes per annum

SETH

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange

BRMFIES EHRAY

Mancala Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands which
was directly owned as to 81% by the Company immediately before the Disposal
Mancala Holdings Limited> —fEIINHEHEFMM LN AR BEHESIEET
AIAARAREEERS % m
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Glossary

ke

“Maoling Extended Exploration
Area”

e e BRI

“Maoling Mine”

ME 25808

“Maoling Processing Plant”
&5 B

“Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine”

e —FRElEE)

“Measured”

TR BE

“mining right(s)”
TR 1

“Model Code”
MEZE<PAI

Mt
=

formerly an independent exploration region with an area of 2.83 sq.km. covered
under the extended exploration permit of the Maoling Mine (covering 1.9 sq.km.
of the mining area of the Maoling Mine), and has been consolidated with the
Yanglongshan Mine since September 2012 to form the Maoling-Yanglongshan
Mine

RAEASECHRYMEHIEMBEEEDRA283TARE (BE19FARENE
FEEERETDR NBIHE&E 82012098 B FRLUEESHAAEE -
FHELEE

an ordinary magnetite mine located in Wenchuan County, Sichuan, with a mining
area of 1.9 sg.km.
— BRI )N FR B B B e SRR E R A9 AR E

the ore processing plant located near the Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine and
operated by Aba Mining
UM ESE—FRWSENIIMNIEARER B REELE

an exploration region with a total area of 11.6 sg.km. covered under the
exploration permit of the Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine (the mining area covered
is owned by the Maoling Mine), formed from the combination of the Maoling
Extended Exploration Area and the Yanglongshan Mine since September 2012 and
operated by Aba Mining
MES-—FRLUSEDSFIZEMESEAEBANTARENGERE  BE
EEEMETEREFELMEE2012F9O8 MM FTESNRESESRE
SEEEER > THMIGEELE

part of a mineral resource for which quantity, grade (or quality), densities, shape,
and physical characteristics are estimated with confidence sufficient to allow
the application of modifying factors to support detailed mine planning and final
evaluation of the economic viability of the deposit

BEGRFEBRGOE R (NE2) BE -EARERFEIGEERGEHE
Do UBEREITIRR SRBESNARRRRIRETRERRAKETHT
&

the right(s) to mine mineral resources and obtain mineral products in areas where
mining activities are licensed

REZRRETHREDHENFAREEE RIS IEE R ER

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
EHRAIMESR PSRN EHETAESETRES X NRESTE]

million tonnes

BB

252 CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED | 2021 ANNUAL REPORT



NIV
MEEE

“N/A"
=zl

“ore processing”
M A sEEE
“Panxi Region”
MR2FEE

"

“Panzhihua Yixingda

M7 BiE )

“PT. Hay Wei"”

I'PT. Hay Wei

“Registration Completion Date”

MEsC5e R B EA

“Relevant Substantial Shareholders”
MERIEERE]

“Remaining Group”

MREEE]

“RMB"
NELT

Glossary

ke

not meaningful. For the purpose of this annual report, the Board has taken the
view that percentage change of more than 1,000% is not meaningful

BEE -NAFRMS  EFTITARBE1,000NE LSBT EEE

not applicable
NiHE A

the process which in general refers to the extraction of usable portions of ores by
using physical and chemical extraction methods

FAMERCESIREATERSBONER LY

a region in Sichuan located at southwest of Chengdu reaching from Panzhihua to
Xichang
M — @& R R E T R 5 ARRIEERE 2 Mt & AN

Panzhihua Yixingda Industrail Trading Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company
established in the PRC on 9 July 2009 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company till 30 July 2019

BRIESEHETBAREE LD —ENR2009F7A9HARBEMIINEREME
AB EE2019F7H30HB A AR ABNBEEEF AT

PT. Hay Wei Feng Yuan Mining, a company incorporated in Indonesia and the
purchaser of the Mancala Australia Group under the Disposal

PT. Hay Wei Feng Yuan Mining> —BRENE MBI AT » & HE =B AR
EFRNEERNER

date of completion of requisite change of registration at the local Administration
for Industry & Commerce in relation to the transfer of the entire interest in Huili
Caitong upon completion of the 2019 Disposal and the date of issue of the
updated business licence of Huili Caitong

R2019F L ESETMENEESEN BT TN S THITHEIEBMHIE
NEEREFFENTHNHAAEL B ARNEXNRBNEE

Mr. Wang Jin, Mr. Shi Yinjun, Mr. Zhang Yuangui, Mr. Li Hesheng and Mr. Wu
Wendong, parties acting in concert and some of the substantial Shareholders
FEHERE-RRERE RESRE - FTNBAERENRLL B —RITHHOA
TREDFERE

the Company and its subsidiaries as at the date of this annual report
RAFRAPHRARTREFAF

the lawful currency of the PRC
REDEE G
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Glossary

ke

“Reporting Period”
MR 553

“SFO”"
MBS RS R

"SGX-ST”
T 22 T

“Share(s)”
FRR 17

“Shareholder(s)”
MR% =R

“Shigou Gypsum Mine”
FraERERE

“Sichuan”

)iy

“Sichuan Haoyuan”
Mm)EE)
“Sichuan Lingwei”
o) 102 Bl

“Sichuan Lingyu”

e 1)

the year ended 31 December 2021
HE2021F12831HLEFE

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
BEBERESTER S RAGHRA EEREHET ~ B E M A ERD

Singapore Exchange and Securities Trading Limited

MRS ZAARAT

ordinary share(s) in the share capital of the Company, with a nominal value of
HKDO.1 each
RABIRARNE B > SREE.1ETT

holder(s) of the Share(s)
EAEST=DN

Shigou gypsum mine located at Hanyuan County, Ya'an City, Sichuan, with a
mining area of 0.1228 sg.km.
U ELEmERFNABAERE RIBARR0.1228F/F R E

the Sichuan province of the PRC
FREIE) &

Sichuan Haoyuan New Materials Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company established
in the PRC on 18 July 2011 and a subsidiary of the Company, in which the
Company indirectly owns 51% equity interest

mIEEEMMEERAS —ER2011FE7818HEFERINBREEA
B BERBNFAE AAABEEERS1 R AER

Sichuan Lingwei Property Service Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company established
in the PRC on 7 July 2021 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company

MINEBEREMERBERAT —BR2021F7A7HEHREBLNEREEA
B AERENEEEEFAT

Sichuan Lingyu Investment Group Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company
established in the PRC on 9 June 2010 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company

MINEEHEEEEGRAT —BR2010F6 A9 ETHEMUNEREEA
B AERENEEEEFAT
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“Sichuan Xinglian”

Moa) 1| EE e

“SGD"

T N3 7Tl

“sg.km.”

ERRE

“TEa”

[TFe

“Trisonic International”

M5 RIEIRR)

“Type 331"

[7&E48331)
“Type 333"

[fE48333

"USD"
&7t

“Weixi Guangfa”

PR 3%

“Wenchuan County”

318

“Xinjin Mining”

MEdiEx)

Glossary

ke

Sichuan Xinglian Mining and Technology Construction Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability
company established in the PRC on 23 June 2011 and an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company

I8 e R E R T TR AR AR —E2011E6B23ATERBIM N BIRE
ERE BRERTNEEEEF AT

the lawful currency of the Republic of Singapore

RN BEDEE G

square kilometres
18
s l/N =2

the symbol for denoting total iron
RTAEHIFTR

Trisonic International Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong on 19 July
2006 and a Controlling Shareholder
GRIERARATE > —BR2006F78 198 EE BFMMIIN AR AERKE

measured intrinsic economic resources (Type 331) as defined in the Classification
for Resources/Reserves of Solid Fuels and Mineral Commodities
(EREEER/HESE)MRATNFHENRNALEERE (B1E331)

inferred intrinsic economic resources (Type 333) as defined in the Classification for
Resources/Reserves of Solid Fuels and Mineral Commodities

(EREEER HEDE)MAENRENNALEERE (B1H333)

the lawful currency of the United States of America
ENRBREREEEET

Weixi Guangfa Iron Ore Development Company Limited*, a limited liability
company established in the PRC on 10 June 2005
TR RS AERAR  —ER2005F6 8 10HEFREMIINEREE AT

Wenchuan County, Aba Prefecture, Sichuan Province

7)1 2 FAT 388 Y1 53 1 B

Hanyuan County Xinjin Mining Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company established
in the PRC on 29 September 2010 and a subsidiary of the Company, in which the
Company indirectly owns 51% equity interest

ERHRBEEEERRAT —HER2010F98 298 EFEMIIMNEREEAF
RANBINFRE AARAFIBERERS1 %A ER
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Glossary

ke

“Xiushuihe Mining”

ISR

“Yanglongshan Mine”

M3 BE L S5 B

“Yanyuan Xigang”
688 ) 79 4]
“Yanyuan Xiwei"

&8 5 78 gl

*  For identification purpose only

Huili County Xiushuihe Mining Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company established
in the PRC on 26 June 2007, an indirect subsidiary of the Company that owned
95.0% equity interest through Huili Caitong till 30 July 2019
BIEBRFACTBERRLAR —HR2007F6 826 BEFEKRINEREER
B HE2019F7A30A A LR AR RD BB GIEYNEERIS.0%RAEEABE
FARF

an ordinary magnetite mine located in Wenchuan County, Sichuan, formerly an
independent exploration region with an area of 8.79 sq.km. covered under the
exploration permit of the Yanglongshan Mine, and has been consolidated as the
Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine with the original Maoling Extended Exploration Area
since September 2012

— AR N NFN SRS RARFRE USRS EH I BMEEEER
BIIFAHAEMBIHMERE > B2012F98 REFRNERILEFRHE &G
mEE-FRELENE

Yanyuan Xigang Clean Coal Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company established in
the PRC
HRAIBESREEAR —HRPERINEREEAF

Yanyuan County Xiwei Mining Company Limited*, a limited liability company
established in the PRC on 7 December 2007
BRHARBERERETAS > —ER2007F12878EFEMRIINEREEA
=

* EEE
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